

Investigation of Gallium Nitride Bidirectional Power Semiconductor Devices with Polarization Super Junction Technology

Department of Electronic and Electrical Engineering

Thesis submitted to the University of Sheffield

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

By

Xiao Tan

March 2023

Acknowledgements

Prior to anything else, I want to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Prof. Shankar Ekkanath Madathil, for his unwavering support of my PhD study and research, as well as for his patience, motivation, enthusiasm, and vast knowledge. Throughout the entire study and thesis writing process, his advice was extremely valuable to me.

I want to express my appreciation to my Power Microelectronics Team colleagues. Many thanks to Dr. Yang Ming Du, Peng Luo, and Hong Yang Yan for their technological advice and practical support. I also wish to acknowledge each of my colleagues at the power microelectronics team, including Dr. Zhongying Wang, Mr. Alireza Sheikhan, Dr. Qiuyang Tan, and Mrs. Gopika Narayanankutty.

Finally, I would like to express my appreciation and affection to my parents for their unrelenting devotion and encouragement. I also want to thank Hong Yang Yan, my lover who journeyed with me when I completed my PhD.

Abstract

Due to its superphysical features, Gallium-Nitride, one of the wide band-gap materials, has been a favoured option for the next generation of power devices in recent years. The pervasive applications of GaN in the photoelectric field have accelerated the development of GaN technologies for power electronic applications. GaN-based devices have low on-state resistance, high switching speed and high voltage blocking capability for high-frequency/temperature operation. In particular, the development and commercialization of GaN epitaxial growth technology with large diameter substrates make GaN power devices have a lower cost. As a result, research on GaN power semiconductors is a hot topic in the world.

The aims of work in this thesis focus on investigating new compact monolithic bidirectional switches using Polarization Super Junction concept (Bi PSJ HFETs), one of the most compact bidirectional switches reported to date. Under different bias conditions, Bi PSJ HFETs can be operated as Bidirectional devices, unidirectional HFETs with/without Hybrid Drain-embedded Gate Injection Transistor (HD-GIT) mode and diodes in both directions. Large-area Bi PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate and Ohmic Gate are fabricated on 6' Sapphire wafer, as well as test structure. Numerical simulations and electrical characterisation prove that Bi PSJ HFETs can realize the function of bidirectional switches. Detailed analysis of the on-state behaviour of the fabricated Bi PSJ HFETs is presented.

Next, temperature-dependent on-state characteristics of PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier Diode (PSJ MSBD) and PSJ HFETs are presented and discussed. The trends of specific onstate resistance with increasing temperature are calculated and shown, which are critical for thermal analytical models of Ron.A and further improvement of on-state performance for PSJ devices.

Finally, Current large-area PSJ devices are mainly based on multi-finger layout designs, strongly dependent on the metallization flatness and the insulator layer quality in designing large-area devices. Finger parasitic impedance e is essential to the manufactured performance of devices. In this work, it introduces five layout schemes, including Multi-finger Drain-Source(D-S) Layout, Multi-finger Drain-Source-Drain(D-S-D) Layout, Multi-finger Source-Drain-Source Layout (S-D-S), Checkerboard layout and Hexagonal-shaped layout. It compares the simulated parasitic impedance of metalization layouts for 1A PSJ HFETs. The area of the active region for each layout is also calculated for a 10A current rating with various

PSJ lengths. The advantages and disadvantages of layouts are discussed based on the simulation results.

Publication

 X. Tan and E. M. S. Narayanan, "Compact GaN-based Bidirectional Polarization Super Junction HFETs with Schottky Gate on Sapphire," 2023. doi: 10.14311/isps.2023.022.

Contents

Abstract		ii
List of Figu	res	ix
List of Table	es	xviii
Chapter 1:	Introduction	1
1.1	Overview	1
1.2	Need for wide band-gap semiconductors	3
1.3	GaN Market and the commercial Gallium Nitride devices	5
1.4	Bidirectional GaN switches and applications	7
1.5	Objectives of this Research Work	
1.6	Thesis Organization	12
Chapter 2:	GaN-Base Polarisation Super-Junction Technologies	14
2.1	Fundamentals of Gallium Nitride Technology	14
2.1.1	Crystal structure of Gallium Nitride	14
2.1.2	Polarization effect	15
2.1.3	The formation of 2DEG and 2DHG	18
2.1.4	2DEG properties in AlGaN /GaN Heterostructures	19
2.2	AlGaN/GaN-based High Electron Mobility Transistor	25
2.2.1	The structure of conventional AlGaN/GaN-based HEMTs	25
2.2.2	Si, SiC and Sapphire substrates for AlGaN/GaN HEMT	27
2.2.3	Operating principles and characteristics parameters	
2.2.4	Electric field management issues	34
2.2.5	Field plate technologies	
2.2.6	Gate Injection Transistor Structure	
2.3	Polarisation Super junction technologies	40
2.3.1	Induction of the PSJ concept	40
2.3.2	PSJ Field Effect Transistors	41
2.4	Bidirectional switch configurations	47
2.4.1	Bidirectional switch configurations using MOSFETs	47
2.4.2	Bidirectional switch configurations using IGBTs	48
2.4.3	Bidirectional switch configurations using normally-off GaN HEMTs	51

2.4.4	Bidirectional switch configurations using normally-on GaN HEMTs	57
2.5	Transfer Length Method (TLM)	61
2.6	Summary	63
Chapter 3:	Compact Monolithic Bidirectional PSJ HFETs	64
3.1	Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate	64
3.1.1	Device structure	64
3.1.2	Device simulation	65
3.1.3	Input characteristics	67
3.1.4	Output I-V Characteristics	69
3.1.5	Voltage Blocking Capability	72
3.1.6	Bidirectional behaviour of Bi PSJ SG HFETs	74
3.2	Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate	75
3.2.1	Device simulation	76
3.2.2	Input characteristics	78
3.2.3	Output I-V Characteristics	78
3.2.4	Voltage Blocking Capability	
3.3	Design for Bidirectional PSJ HFETs	82
3.3.1	Design Objectives	
3.3.2	Mask design	
3.3.3	Multi-finger layouts for large-area devices	
3.3.4	Current capability	
3.3.5	Mask design for large-area devices	
3.3.6	Mask design for test structures	
3.3.7	The overall process flow	91
3.4	Summary	93
Chapter 4:	Electrical Characterisation of Fabricated Bidirectional	PSJ
HFETs	94	
4.1	Fabricated Wafers and Devices	94
4.2	Tests on GaN wafer	95
4.2.1	Buffer and Surface leakage	97
4.2.2	Evaluation of Effective Field-Effect Mobility of 2DEG	98
4.3	Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate	100

4.3.1	Electrical characterisation results	
4.3.2	Analysis in specific on-state resistance	
4.3.3	Large-area Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate	
4.4	Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate	111
4.4.1	Electrical characteristics results	112
4.4.2	Analysis in specific on-state resistance	117
4.4.3	Comparison of Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate with/with	out HD-
GIT mode	119	
4.4.4	Gate structure design	
4.4.5	Large-area Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate	
4.5	Summary	
Chapter 5:	On-state PSJ device performance as the function of	
Temperature	126	
5.1	Ohmic contact property	
5.1.1	Theory of Ohmic contact property	
5.1.2	Contact properties for a PSJ HFETs	
5.2	PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier Diode as the function of Temperatur	e 130
5.2.1	Forward IV characteristics	
5.2.2	Knee voltage	
5.2.3	The specific on-state resistance	136
5.3	PSJ HFETs as the function of Temperature	
5.4	Summary	139
Chapter 6:	Metalization interconnect Layouts for large-area PSJ	device
	139	
6.1	Effects of the interconnect parasitic impedance	140
6.1.1	Effects of gate parasitic resistance on static IV curves	142
6.2	Layout design rules	
6.3	Simulation settings	146
6.4	Layout schemes	147
6.4.1	Multi-finger Drain-Source Layout	147
6.4.2	Multi-finger Source-Drain-Source Layout	
6.4.3	Multi-finger Drain-Source-Drain Layout	

6.4.4	Checkerboard layout	
6.4.5	Hexagonal-Shaped Layout	156
6.5	Active area calculation	
6.6	Summary	161
Chapter 7:	Conclusions and Future work	
7.1	Conclusions	163
7.1.1	Compact Monolithic Bidirectional PSJ HFETs	
7.1.2	On-state PSJ device performance as the function of Temperature	
7.1.3	Layout designs for large-area PSJ device	
7.2	Future work	164
Reference		166
Appendix-1		178

List of Figures

Figure 1.1.1:Power semiconductor devices and applications with respect to operating power
and switching frequency2
Figure 1.2.1 : Comparison of material properties for Si, 4H-SiC, and GaN [11]4
Figure 1.3.1: Application range of Si, SiC, GaN device for each power capacity and operating
frequency[15]
Figure 1.3.2: Theoretical specific on-resistance limits of Si, SiC and GaN devices vs
breakdown7
Figure 1.4.1: The typical IV characteristic of (a)monolithic GaN and (b)IGBT-based
bidirectional switches[23]8
Figure 1.4.2: The comparison of bidirectional switch configurations[24]9
Figure 1.4.3: The 3x3 matrix converter with nine bidirectional switches[25]9
Figure 1.4.4: Schematic diagram of SSCB with a bidirectional switch[26]10
Figure 2.1.1: Schematics of wurtzite Gallium-face GaN and Nitride face GaN crystal structure
with a spontaneous polarization (P) [21]14
Figure 2.1.2: The spontaneous polarization of GaN, InN and AlN[36]16
Figure 2.1.3: Theoretically calculated piezoelectric polarization charge density for Al _x Ga _{1-x} N,
$In_xGa_{1-x}N$, and $Al_xIn_{1-x}N$ over GaN substrate, as a function of the mole fraction x[31]16
Figure 2.1.4: The spontaneous, piezoelectric polarization and polarization-induced charge
density in AlGaN/GaN heterostructures[34]18
Figure 2.1.5: The energy band of an undoped AlGaN/GaN heterostructure with 2DEG19
Figure 2.1.6: The sheet carrier density of 2DEG in Al _{0.27} Ga _{0.73} N/GaN versus the AlGaN
thickness[41]20
Figure 2.1.7: The sheet carrier density of 2DEG in $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ as the function of Al mole fraction
[41]21
Figure 2.1.8: The low-temperature electron mobility of 2DEG in Al _{0.27} Ga _{0.73} N/GaN versus the
AlGaN thickness[41]
Figure 2.1.9: Low-temperature electron mobility in the 2DEG of $Al_xGa_{1-x}N/GaN$ as a function
of alloy composition x[41]22
Figure 2.1.10: The mobility of 2DEG with the carrier concentration of (a) 1×10^{12} cm ⁻² , (b) 4
x 10^{12} cm ⁻² ,(c) 7 x 10^{12} cm ⁻² and (d) 1 x 10^{13} cm ⁻² as the function of temperature. (Line 1:
acoustic deformation potential scattering; Line 2: polar acoustic phonon scattering; Line 3:
polar optical phonon scattering; Line 4: overall mobility)[43]23

Figure 2.1.11: The Band diagrams of GaN/AlGaN/GaN heterostructure[47]24
Figure 2.1.12: The influence of GaN cap layer thickness on sheet density and mobility[47].25
Figure 2.2.1 The cross-section of a general conventional AlGaN/GaN HEMT26
Figure 2.2.2: The conduction band profile of a typical AlGaN/GaN HEMT at Vg=0V30
Figure 2.2.3: Conduction energy band diagram of a typical AlGaN/GaN HEMT with varying
Gate Voltage (a) $V_g > 0$ (b) Vth $\leq Vg \leq 0$ (c) $V_g \leq V_{th}$
Figure 2.2.4: Schematic Diagrams of a conventional AlGaN/GaN HEMT during off-state33
Figure 2.2.5: Schematic electrical characteristics of an AlGaN/GaN HEMT33
Figure 2.2.6: The stress in a GaN film on a sapphire as a function of the GaN film thickness[63].
Figure 2.2.7: Current collapse for conventional AlGaN/GaN devices[69]
Figure 2.2.8: Schematic illustration of accumulated electrons trapped in the surface/bulk[70].
Figure 2.2.9: The virtual grid effect[72]
Figure 2.2.10: Schematic of electric field crowding at Gate edge with the field profile
Figure 2.2.11: Cross-section schematics and electric-field profile of AlGaN/GaN HEMT with
a source filed plate[80]
Figure 2.2.12: Schematic cross-section of conventional GIT[70]
Figure 2.2.13: (a) I-V Characteristics of Normally Off GIT GaN and Conventional Normally
On GaN [77]
Figure 2.2.14: (a)Schematic cross-section of HD-GIT and (b) Measured dynamic on-resistance
of a conventional GIT and the HD-GIT for inductive-load switching, normalized to the dc
values (R/R0)[70]
Figure 2.3.1:Schematics of (a) PSJ structure and (b) energy band diagram at thermal
equilibrium[85]41
Figure 2.3.2: The simplified cross-section of a typical GaN-based HFET and equivalent
circuit (a) with Schottky Gate and (b) with Ohmic Gate on Sapphire substrate
Figure 2.3.3: The ideal Electrical field distribution of a typical (a) PSJ SG HFET and (b) PSJ
OG HFET
Figure 2.3.4: Simulated output Id -Vd characteristics of the (a) Schottky Gate PSJ HFETs (b)
Ohmic Gate PSJ HFETs at $Vg = 0V$
Figure 2.3.5: Simulated lateral electric field distribution before the breakdown of (a) Schottky
Gate PSJ HFETs (b) Ohmic Gate PSJ HFETs at Vg = -15V44

Figure 2.3.6: The comparison in breakdown voltage of the GaN conventional HFET and PSJ
FET[90]45
Figure 2.3.7: Measured off-state Id -Vd characteristics of (a) PSJ SG HFETs and (b) PSJ OG
HFETs at $Vg = -15[91][92]$ 45
Figure 2.3.8: The trade-off relationship between Ron.A and BV with the material limit46
Figure 2.4.1: BPS configurations using N-or P-Channel MOSFET[19]47
Figure 2.4.2:Operation mode of common-source N-channel MOSFETs48
Figure 2.4.3: Topologies of Bidirectional switches in (a) CE anti-paralleled IGBT arrangement,
(b) CC anti-paralleled IGBT arrangement, (c) diode bridge with an IGBT arrangement and (d)
RB-IGBT arrangement
Figure 2.4.4: Operation principles of diode bridge embedded IGBT switch. (a) Forward off
mode (G: off, $V_{S1S2} > 0$ V), (b) forward turn-on mode (G: on, $V_{S1S2} > 0$ V), (c) reverse off mode
(G: off, $V_{S1-S2} < 0$ V), (d) reverse turn-on mode (G: on, $V_{S1-S2} < 0$ V)49
Figure 2.4.5: Operation principles of Bidirectional switches in RB-IGBT arrangement. (a) ON-
ON mode,(b)ON-OFF mode,(c) OFF-OFF mode and (d) OFF-ON mode50
Figure 2.4.6: Schematic illustration of (a) a monolithic AlGaN/GaN bidirectional switch e
and (b) the equivalent circuit[20]52
Figure 2.4.7: (a) Output characteristics and (b) Off-state characteristics for monolithic
AlGaN/GaN bidirectional switch[20]
Figure 2.4.8: The schematic diagram for the gate of Innoscience's BiGaN HEMT53
Figure 2.4.9: (a) Microscope image of fabricated diode bridge AlGaN/GaN-on-Si bi-directional
switch, cross-sectional schematics of (b) recessed MOSFET, and (c) SBD, and (d) equivalent
circuit[100]54
Figure 2.4.10: (a) The on-state and (b) (inset) off-state characteristics of the fabricated54
Figure 2.4.11: The cross-section (a) GaN-based RB-MISHEMTs and (b) GaN-based RC-
MISHEMTs55
Figure 2.4.12: The Bidirectional switch configuration using (a) RB-MISHEMTs and (b) RC-
MISHEMTs55
Figure 2.4.13: The simulated output characteristic of the Bidirectional switch using (a) RB-
MISHEMTs and (b) RC-MISHEMTs
Figure 2.4.14: The simulated off-state characteristic of the Bidirectional switch using RB-
MISHEMTs and RC-MISHEMTs

Figure 2.4.15:(a) Schematic of the cross-section (b) equivalent circuit schematic of
Transphorm's integrated GaN FQS[22]
Figure 2.4.16: Schematic cross-section of BiSHFETs with (a) MES-gate and (b) PN-gate
structures
Figure 2.4.17: (a) Measured Is-Vs1s2 characteristics and (b) measured transfer characteristics
of fabricated BiHFETs in both directions[103]60
Figure 2.4.18: Simulated contour plots of electrical potential in (a) Forward region (FR) and
(b) Reverse Region (RV)60
Figure 2.5.1: The typical arrangement for a TLM test pattern
Figure 2.5.2: The cross-section of two adjacent contacts with the effective length
Figure 2.5.3: The total resistance (Rc) vs the distance (L)[104]62
Figure 3.1.1:(a) The cross-section of Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate. (b) The
equivalent circuit of Bi PSJ SG HFETs65
Figure 3.1.2:The cross-section of simulated Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate. c
Figure 3.1.3: 'Forward region' and 'Reverse region' defined according to Vs2s1 66
Figure 3.1.4: Transfer characteristics of Bi PSLSG HEFTs with various I point (a) Forward
Region and (b) Reverse region with relative testing circuits 68
Figure 3.1.5: Simulated Is-Vs2s1 characteristic of Bi PSI SG HEETs in both conditions 69
Figure 3.1.6: Simulated Is? Ve2s1 characteristics of Bi PSI SC HEETs with various Last in
both directions when Vg1s1=0V, Vg2s2=0V
Figure 3.1.7: Simulated Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with 40um-Lpsj when
one PSJ SG HFETs turned off
Figure 3.1.8: The simulated Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with various L _{PSJ}
in both directions when one PSJ SG HFETs turned off
Figure 3.1.9: Simulated testing circuit in (a) Forward Region and (b) Reverse region during
off-state73
Figure 3.1.10: Simulated 1-D off-state electric field distribution of Bi PSJ SG HFETs at the
black dotted line (A-A') with $Vg1s1 = -15V$ in the forward region before the breakdown73
Figure 3.1.11: Simulated off-state I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics for both polarities
Figure 3.2.1: (a)The cross-section of Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate. (b) The
equivalent circuit of Bi PSJ OG HFETs
Figure 3.2.2: The cross-section of simulated Bidirectional PSJ OG HFETs. Dimension in μ m.

Figure 3.2.3: Transfer characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with various L _{PSJ} in both polar78
Figure 3.2.4: Simulated Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ HFETs with Ohmic gate working
in both the first and third quadrants79
Figure 3.2.5: The simulated on-state voltage of the Bi PSJ OG HFET with 40um-Lpsj when
$V_{g2s2} = -7 \sim -15$ V, Vg1s1=0V in the forward region
Figure 3.2.6: The I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with different PSJ lengths
from 5µm to 40µm under two bias conditions
Figure 3.2.7: Simulated forward off-state Is2 -Vs2s1 characteristics of the Bi PSJ OG HFETs
Figure 3.2.8: Simulated 1-D off-state electric field distribution of Bi PSJ OG HFETs at the black dotted line (A-A')
Figure 3.3.1: Feature size of (a) Bi PSJ SG HFETs basic cell (b) Bi PSJ OG PSJ basic cell (c)
PSJ OG HFETs basic cell (d) PSJ Diodes basic cell
Figure 3.3.2: Top view of PSJ Multi-finger Layout
Figure 3.3.3: Mask layouts (a) 1A rated Bi PSJ SG HFET (b) 1A rated Bi PSJ OG HFET (c)
1A rated PSJ HFET (d) 1A rated PSJ Diode
Figure 3.3.4: The top view of the test structure for Bi PSJ HFETs with (a)Schottky Gate and
(b) Ohmic Gate
Figure 3.3.5: The schematic of 4 gate structures of Bi PSJ OG HFETs90
Figure 3.3.6: Additional Process Test Structures for evaluating (a) mobility and capacitance (b)
surface/buffer leakage (c) contact resistance
Figure 3.3.7: Final mask layouts91
Figure 3.3.8: Schematic of the cross-section for (a)BI PSJ SG HFET and (b)BI PSJ OG HEMT
Figure 4.1.1: Pictures of 6" processed GaN-on-Sapphire wafer
Figure 4.1.2: Top view of fabricated (a)Test Element Group, (b)large-area PSJ Merged
Schottky Barrier Diode group, (c) large-area unidirection PSJ HFETs and large-area Bi PSJ
HFETs95
Figure 4.2.1: Specification of Sapphire substrate GaN PSJ wafer96
Figure 4.2.2: Measured buffer and surface leakage
Figure 4.2.3: The leakage between two electrodes on P-GaN layers
Figure 4.2.4: Schematic of N-type FAT FET
Figure 4.2.5: The measured gm and Ci of n-type FATFET

Figure 4.2.6: The calculated effective Field-Effect Mobility of 2DEG
Figure 4.3.1: Cross-section schematic of fabricated Bi PSJ SG HFETs100
Figure 4.3.2: Measured Is-Vs1s2 characteristics of fabricated Bi PSJ SG HFETs $40 \mu m$ -L _{PSJ} in
both directions with various bias conditions100
Figure 4.3.3: The Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFET in the 'Forward' Region by
changing Vg2s2 from -7V to -12V101
Figure 4.3.4: Measured temperature-dependent forward Is2s1-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ
SG HFET with 40 μ m-L _{PSJ} at Vg2s2=0, Vg1s1=0V102
Figure 4.3.5: The average Ron. A of 8 fabricated Bi PSJ SG HFETs with 40um-LPSJ at a
temperature from 300K to 400 K103
Figure 4.3.6: The measured I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics with various L_{PSJ} in the forward region at
(a) Vg2s2=0V, Vg1s1=0V and (b)Vg2s2=-9V, vg1s1=0V103
Figure 4.3.7: The average Ron. A of 8 fabricated Bi PSJ SG HFETs with different L _{PSJ} at room
temperature
Figure 4.3.8: The forward transfer characteristic of Bi PSJ HFETs with Schottky gate104
Figure 4.3.9: The leakage current of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with various L _{PSJ} 105
Figure 4.3.10: The leakage Is2, Is1 and Ig1 of Bi PSJ SG HFET with 40µm-LPSJ105
Figure 4.3.11: Cross-section of Bi PSJ SG HFET with the divided region along the current path.
Figure 4.3.12: The calculated and measured Ron.A of Bi PSJ SG HFETs and PSJ OG HFETs
with LPSJ from 5µm to 40µm at room temperature109
Figure 4.3.13: Measured I-V characteristics of large-area PSJ SG HFET with $15 \mu m$ -L _{PSJ} 111
Figure 4.3.14: Measured Input characteristics of large-area PSJ SG HFET with 15µm-L _{PSJ} 111
Figure 4.3.15: Measured off-state leakage of large-area PSJ SG HFET with 15µm-L _{PSJ} 111
Figure 4.4.1: Cross-section schematic of fabricated Bi PSJ OG HFETs112
Figure 4.4.2: The I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics of Bi OG PSJ HFETs in both polar under various bias
conditions
Figure 4.4.3: The variation of on-state voltage of the Bi PSJ OG HFET with 15μ m-Lpsj when
Vg2s2=-7V to -15V, Vg1s1=0V114
Figure 4.4.4: Temperature-dependent forward Is2s1-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ OG HFET
with 15µm at Vg2s2=0, Vg1s1=0V115
Figure 4.4.5: Calculated area-specific on-state resistance (Ron.A) of Bi PSJ OG HFETs versus
the temperature from 25°C to 125°C115
Figure 4.4.6: Transfer characteristics of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15µm115

Figure 4.4.7: The leakage current of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with various L _{PSJ} 116
Figure 4.4.8: The leakage Is2, Is1 and Ig1 of Bi PSJ OG HFET with 15µm-LPSJ117
Figure 4.4.9: Schematics of device cross-section for calculating Ron.A of Bi PSJ OG HFET
Figure 4.4.10: Calculated and measured Ron.A of Bi PSJ HFETs with SG and OG at room
Figure 4.4.11: IV characteristics comparison of Bi PSJ HFETS with /without HD-GIT mode.
Figure 4.4.12: Input characteristics comparison of Bi PSJ HFETS with /without HD-GIT mode.
Figure 4.4.13: Schematic gate structures for Bi PSJ OG HFETs121
Figure 4.4.14:Transfer characteristics comparison of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with $15 \mu m$ -L _{PSJ} in 4
gate designs
Figure 4.4.15: Output characteristics comparison of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with $15 \mu m$ -L _{PSJ} in 4
gate designs
Figure 4.4.16: Device leakage comparison of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with $15 \mu m$ -L _{PSJ} in 4 gate
designs
Figure 4.4.17: Avergae leakage Is2s1 for 8 samples of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15 μ m-L _{PSJ} 123
Figure 4.4.18: Measured (a)I-V characteristics and (b) input characteristics of large-area PSJ
OG HFET with 15µm-L _{PSJ}
Figure 4.4.19: Measured off-state leakage of large-area PSJ OG HFET with $15 \mu m$ -L _{PSJ} 125
Figure 5.1.1: Schematic diagram of PSJ_FET test chip from POWDEC KK128
Figure 5.1.2: The contact resistivity (a) and sheet resistance (b) of Structure No.1 (P-GaN/u-
GaN/AlGaN) and No.2 (AlGaN/GaN) versus the temperature
Figure 5.2.1: Cross-section of measured typical PSJ MSBD (Diode A) from POWDEC KK.
Figure 5.2.2: Schematics illustration of POWDEC PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier Diodes
(MSBD) with Sapphire substrate
Figure 5.2.3: The picture of PSJ Schottky diode under the microscope132
Figure 5.2.4: (a)Forward IV characteristic of PSJ MSBD (Diode A) with 15μ m- L_{PSJ} as well as
(b) knee voltage133
Figure 5.2.5: The knee voltage of three test structures of PSJ Schottky diodes
Figure 5.2.6: Log of Anode current versus Anode voltage of Diode A135

Figure 5.2.7: Effective Barrier Height of 3 PSJ Merged Schottky Diodes versus te	emperature.
Figure 5.2.8: The specific on-state resistance of three test PSJ Schottky diode struc	
Figure 5.3.1: The picture of the measured PSJ FET under the microscope with 1	mm width.
	136
Figure 5.3.2: Measured (a)intput Id -Vd characteristics and (b) output Id-Vg cha	aracteristics
of Ohmic Gate PSJ HFETs at V $g = 0V$	137
Figure 5.3.3: Temperature dependent Forward IV characteristics of the PSJ FET with	th 5µm L _{PSJ}
at V g =0V	
Figure 5.3.4: Specific on-state resistance of TEG FETs with L _{PSJ} =5,10,15,20 and 40	0μm versus
Temperature.	
Figure 5.3.5: Specific on-state resistance of PSJ FETs versus L_{PSJ} at 25,75,125 and	175°C.139
Figure 6.1.1: Simple RC tree for GaN devices with four paralleled cells.	140
Figure 6.1.2: The top view of 1A and 2A fabricated unidirectional PSJ HFETs	142
Figure 6.1.3: The static current-voltage characteristics of 1A PSJ HFETs with 40	µm-L _{PSJ} by
applying the voltage to one gate and two gate pads	143
Figure 6.1.4: The static current-voltage characteristics of 2A PSJ HFETs with 40	µm-L _{PSJ} by
applying the voltage to one gate and two gate pads	144
Figure 6.1.5: Ron.A versus breakdown voltage of fabricated large area and test stru	ucture PSJ-
FETs on Sapphire	145
Figure 6.2.1: (a) Top view of simply multi-finger DS layout and (b) the view of the	layout after
flipping	146
Figure 6.4.1: Schematic of D-S Layout.	147
Figure 6.4.2: Top view of simulated 3D D-S layout. Dimension in μ m. (Isolation layo	er is hidden) 148
Figure 6.4.3: Schematic of S-D-S Layout	
Figure 6.4.4: Top view of simulated 3D S-D-S layout. Dimension in μ m. (Isolati	ion layer is
hidden)	149
Figure 6.4.5: The top view of simulated 3D S-D-S Layout with one Source pad	150
Figure 6.4.6: Simulated parasitic (a) resistance and (b) inductance of each source f	inger when
employing one Source pad (Pad 1)	151
Figure 6.4.7: Schmatical of D-S-D Layout of 1A devices	151

Figure 6.4.8: Top view of simulated 3D D-S-D layout. Dimension in μ m. (Isolation layer is
hidden)152
Figure 6.4.9: Simulated parasitic (a) resistance and (b) inductance of each Drain finger when
employing the right Drain pad (Pad 1). (c)Schematic of extracted points on each drain finger.
Figure 6.4.10: Schematic of Checkerboard Layout
Figure 6.4.11:Parasitic resistance and inductance of extracted gate impedance155
Figure 6.4.12: The extracted points at the conductive gate path for the Checkerboard layout.
Dimension in µm. (Isolation layer is hidden)155
Figure 6.4.13: Schematic of Hexagonal-Shaped Layout156
Figure 6.4.14: (a)Top view and (b) the view of the simulated Hexagonal-Shaped Layout after
flipping.with Gate/Source/Drain conductive path. Dimension in μ m
Figure 6.4.15: (a) Extracted points on the gate path and (b) gate impedance distribution158
Figure 6.5.1: Schematic diagram of (a) multi-finger layout, (b)checkerboard and (c) hexagonal-
shaped layout to calculate the active area

List of Tables

Table 6.8 Parameter of Hexagonal-Shaped layout for 1A PSJ HFET	.157
Table 6.9: Extracted parasitic resistance and inductance for Hexagonal-Shaped layout	.158
Table 6.10: The active area of simulated layouts for 1A PSJ HFETs	.160
Table 6.11: A calculated active area for different layouts designed for 10A PSJ HFETs	.160
Table 6.12: Parasitic Drain/Source impedance in simulated layouts for 1A PSJ OG HF	ETS
with 10µm	.161

Page |1

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Overview

The rapidly spreading global COVID-19 pandemic has profoundly impacted the global and national environment, societies and economies since December 2019. The potential new practices and social forms facilitated by the epidemic impact energy demand and consumption. According to the released 'Energy consumption in the UK 2021', except domestic sector, the energy consumption in industry, services and transport shows a decreasing trend. The total energy consumption in the UK decreased by 12.9% of oil equivalent between 2019 and 2020. All fuels saw declines except biofuels and waste; in particular, petroleum fell by 15.9 million barrels (25%)[1].

On the other hand, net CO₂ emissions from energy use fell by 16% with lower consumption [2]. Even while economies are bent under the weight of Covid-19 lockdowns and the dropped energy demand, renewable energy sources alternatives to fossil fuels, such as wind and solar photovoltaics, continue growing rapidly [3]. In UK's energy market in 2020, For the first time, renewables made up more than 40% of the generation mix, and their proportion in the UK's primary energy mix increased to 17%. [2]. This new energy economy is emerging but the transformation still has a long way to go. Despite advances in renewable energy and electric transportation, coal and oil use will rebound sharply in 2021. Largely as a result, its carbon dioxide emissions recorded the second-largest annual increase in history[3].

To cope with the massive growth in energy demand, climate change, cost-effectiveness and achieving a sustainable society in the future, there is an increasing demand for clean and renewable electricity. The growing focus on electrification is fuelling the demand for different forms of electricity. Power electronics is a branch of electrical engineering. Power electronics uses electronic devices to control and convert electrical power, which is used in power generation, transmission, distribution and control. From home electronics to space applications, stable and reliable power electronics system are needed to power the required specifications. The main components of power electronic systems are switching power converters composed of power semiconductor devices.



Figure 1.1.1:Power semiconductor devices and applications with respect to operating power and switching frequency.

The main components of power electronic systems are switching power converters composed of power semiconductor devices. Power semiconductor devices are the heart of electrical energy conversion and power/current control in electrical circuits. In essence, it is the function of the power switch and power conversion by utilising the one-way conductivity of the semiconductor. Figure 1.1.1 shows the major power semiconductor devices and their associated applications at different operating powers and switching frequencies. The global power semiconductor market was valued at USD 40.5 billion in 2022 and is projected to be worth USD 55.8 billion by 2027, with an annual growth rate of 6.6% from 2022 to 2027[4]. The demand for power semiconductor devices has exceeded the factory capability, especially as the nationwide lockdown and closure of semiconductor plants caused by COVID-19 have further fuelled the supply shortage trend[5].

Silicon (Si) has dominated the semiconductor industry since the invention of the Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor (MOSFET) in 1959 due to its low cost, mature technologies, reliability, and facility of growing high-quality native oxides on its surface[6]. Nowadays, Siliconbased semiconductors make up about 80% of the power market, including Si MOSFETs, superjunction power MOSFETs and insulated-gate bipolar transistors (IGBTs). Unfortunately, the intrinsic material characteristics of Si fundamentally restrict the performance enhancement of the devices. Si is a narrow band-gap semiconductor (band gap energy (E_G)=1.1eV), which limits its power handling capacity. Si-based devices are reaching a stage of theoretical performance limits. As a result, As an alternative to silicon, market participants are concentrating on wide-bandgap (WBG) materials to provide more efficient power converters with less power loss. Silicon Carbide (SiC), Gallium nitride (GaN), Diamond, and other novel materials with a wide bandgap are extensively researched.

1.2 Need for wide band-gap semiconductors

There is ongoing research to develop the WBG materials' potential and harness its benefits. As technology progresses, a newer class of power device based on GaN and SiC has come onto the scene and competed against silicon IGBTs and MOSFETs in various segments.[7]. Table 1.1 presents the fundamental intrinsic material properties of Si, 4H-SiC and GaN. Figure 1.2.1 compares detailed vital parameters of WBG materials and Si. The current mainstream GaN power transistors exploit the characteristics of the two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) at the interface between GaN and AlGaN. Hence, pertinent data regarding 2DEG is presented in Table 1.2.1. It should be emphasized that in the relevant literature or for actual devices we can find the observed electron mobility of 2DEG is different, which depends on the structural quality of the layers. The interface roughness scattering and the alloy disorder scattering are factors affecting low-temperature 2DEG mobility. At room temperature or high temperature, polar optical phonon scattering is the dominant scattering mechanism. It is an effective way to enhance in the electron mobility by adjusting the nucleating layer to reduce the dislocation and scattering.

Parameters	rameters Symbol		4H-SiC	GaN
Band-gap	E_g (eV)	1.12	3.26	3.39
Critical electrical field	E_C 0.23 (MV/cm)		0.23 2.2	
Thermal conductivity	λ	150	380	130
	(W/m.k)			
Electron mobility	μ	1400	950	800(Bulk)
	$(cm^2/V.s)$			1700(2DEG)
Saturation Velocity	v_{SAT}	1	2.2	2.5
		(normalised)		

Table 1.1: Fundamental intrinsic material properties of Si, SiC, GaN and Diamond([8],[9], [10]).



Figure 1.2.1 : Comparison of material properties for Si, 4H-SiC, and GaN [11].

For a power converter, the on-state resistance, blocking capability and switching speed are significant principles to evaluate its performance. The voltage blocking capability is relative to the breakdown voltage of power devices in the off-state. When carriers obtain enough energy to overcome the band-gap to generate Electron-Hole pairs (E-H pair), generated electron-hole pairs are accelerated by the electric field and lead to further generation of electron-hole pairs. The multiplication phenomenon causing a significant current is called impact ionisation. The impact ionisation process, given by a material constant, eventually leads to the avalanche breakdown. Avalanche breakdown is a physical limitation to withstanding voltage for any material. The critical electrical field of materials refers to the maximum electrical field that accompanists the onset avalanche breakdown for an abrupt plane-parallel junction. The relationship between the theoretical breakdown voltage B_V and the critical electrical field E_C can be induced from basic electrostatics, and the Equation is shown below [10]:

$$B_V = E_C \times L \quad --- (1.1)$$

$$B_V = E_C \times \tau \times \nu_{SAT} = E_C \times \frac{1}{2\pi fc} \times \nu_{SAT} \quad ---(1.2)$$

$$B_V \times fc = \frac{E_C \times \nu_{SAT}}{2\pi} \quad ---(1.3)$$

Where *L* is the spacing of the electron path, τ is the transit lift time of the electron in the path, v_{SAT} is the saturation velocity of carriers, and fc is the cut-off frequency. From Equation (1.3), it is evident that a high critical electric field E_C and high saturation velocity (v_{SAT}) can enhance the breakdown voltage of devices operating at high-frequency switching applications. Compared with Sibased devices, WBG semiconductors have a greater voltage-blocking capability because the extreme electrical field Ec is over ten times higher than Si. The higher electron mobility of comprehensive band-gap materials promises lower electrical resistance.

For another, the higher electron mobility of wide band-gap materials promises lower electrical resistance and, thus, low conductor losses [12]. In addition, the saturation velocity over twice faster as that of Si makes carriers inject/remove faster in the depletion region, which improves the switching speed.

Another critical advantage of WBG devices is that they reduce power dissipation at highfrequency operations. The Equation of power loss in a hard-switching chopper circuit is shown below:

Loss
$$\propto \frac{\sqrt{f}}{FOM}$$
 ---(4)

"FOM" is the Figures of Merit, which is calculated from the intrinsic material properties. Table 1.2.2 lists the FOM of wide band-gap materials normalised to Si.

Figure of Merit	Si	SiC	GaN
$M_{RonA} = \varepsilon \mu E_c^{3}$	1	560	2414
$M_{Loss} = E_C \sqrt{\mu}$	1	8.2	14

Table 1.2 :FOM of wide band-gap materials normalised to that of Si [13].

In Table 1.2, M_{RonA} is the inverse of conduction loss per unit area and M_{Loss} is the inverse of total loss, including conduction losses and switching losses. It can be found that wide band-gap semiconductors with larger values can reduce power loss effectively compared to silicon power devices operating at the same frequency.

All the material properties and factors listed above indicate WBG power semiconductors break through limits in traditional silicon devices and increase the electric energy conversion efficiency. SiC devices are gaining in popularity as an alternative to silicon IGBTs in high-voltage/high-current applications such as motor drivers. Switching power supplies and other compressed applications get the potential to utilise GaN-based devices.

1.3 GaN Market and the commercial Gallium Nitride devices

The following are certain areas where GaN devices significantly outperforms Si-Based technologies:

- Lower on-state losses:
- Better voltage-blocking capability
- Higher switching speed
- Higher efficiency at higher frequency

Since the first GaN-based transistors were introduced in the early to middle of the 1990s, GaN devices have become the focus of extensive studies and development for high-voltage, high-frequency, and high-power applications[14]. In 2001, the first GaN HEMTs on 4-inch wafers were produced. Fujitsu developed the world's most efficient power-saving high GaN HEMT power amplifier in 2021 ,which achieved 82.8% power conversion efficiency at 2.45 GHz and reduce power loss by about 25%[14].



Figure 1.3.1: Application range of Si, SiC, GaN device for each power capacity and operating frequency[15].

By 2021, the market for GaN semiconductor devices would indeed be valued \$1.85 billion and be expanding quickly. From 2022 to 2031, it is anticipated to expand at an annualized rate of growth of 27.4%, reaching \$19.5 billion by the end of that period[16]. Figure 1.3.1 shows possible applications for Si, SiC and GaN power devices for each power capacity and operating frequency. As shown in Figure 1.3.1, GaN has desired properties in high-power amplification and power systems of 10kW or less[9]. The rise in the adoption of 5G Network Globally and the rise in demand for USB power delivery boosts the demand for GaN Semiconductor Devices.

Currently, 100 V and 650 V GaN devices are majorly serving the current and near-future demands in power systems. Commercial GaN-based power electronic devices are now available from

Efficient Power Conversion Corporation, Inc., Transphorm, Inc., Panasonic, InC., GaN system, Inc., Fujitsu Ltd., NXP Semiconductor, N.V., and Infineon. Considering the trade-off between the device manufacturing costs and the device estimated performance based on its intrinsic material properties, GaN has become an excellent material for fabricating power semiconductor devices over the past years. As depicted in Figure 1.3.2, GaN-based devices can achieve 10 times lower specific on-resistance compared to SiC-based devices at 600V-class.



Figure 1.3.2: Theoretical specific on-resistance limits of Si, SiC and GaN devices vs breakdown

Voltage[17].

1.4 Bidirectional GaN switches and applications

A bidirectional power switch (BPS), also namely an AC-switch or four-quadrant switch (FQS) in literature, can support bidirectional on-state current and block voltages of both polarities in the off-state[18][19]. Traditional BPS is made with two MOSFETs in series or two quadrants IGBT with didoes. The integration limitations of MOSFETs/IGBTs are mainly caused by their vertical structure, which makes it highly challenging to place two FETs on a single chip and optimise the voltage ratings of devices with cost, on-state resistance and voltage ratings of approximately 30V and above. The lateral structure of GaN HEMTs and the absence of body diodes make it relatively easy to create a monolithic bidirectional GaN switch (Bi-GaN).

In 2007, Panasonic proposed the monolithic dual-gate AlGaN/GaN bidirectional switch using normally-off Gate Injection Transistors (GIT)[20]. In 2022, Innoscience launched the 40V bidirectional GaN device platform and successfully imported the normally-off bi-directional GaN-onsilicon HEMT with a single gate into Oppo and Realme mobile phone motherboards for efficient and more compact over-voltage-protection (OVP) systems. The on-state resistance is only $4.8m\Omega$ with the 2.1mm*2.1mm package size. Compared with back-to-back connected NMOS MOSFETs, Innoscience Bi-GaN HEMTs reduce the size by 64% and the peak power heating by 85%[21]. In the following two years, the family of Innoscience Bi-GaN expanded, and new products had lower on-state resistance, higher breakdown voltage, and smaller package sizes. The low threshold voltage is one limitation of Bidirectional switch configurations based on normally-off GaN HEMT technology.In 2023, Transphorm demonstrated $60m\Omega$ GaN-based integrated BPS assembled in a TO247 package. It consists of a bi-directional normally-on back-to-back GaN die and two low-voltage Si MOSFETs to achieve the normally-off behaviour. The threshold voltage of Transphorm's Bi-GaN switch, depending on MOSFET, is up to 4V to meet the high threshold requirements of some applications. Compared with the state-of-art SiC BPS, it has excellent figures of merit and 60% lower switching loss [22].

The typical IV characteristic of monolithic dual-gate Bi-GaN and IGBT-based bidirectional switches is shown in Figure 1.4.1. The bidirectional switch is enabled by only a single GaN device with dual gates, while a total of four devices by two IGBTs and two Fast Recovery Diodes (FRDs) are required for the conventional one. It is an obvious difference in Figure 1.4.1 that there are offset voltages in on-state current in both directions for IGBT-based bidirectional switches, while monolithic Bi-GaN does not have. The offset voltage is caused by the voltage drop of FRDs, which increases the switching loss.



Figure 1.4.1: The typical IV characteristic of (a)monolithic GaN and (b)IGBT-based bidirectional switches[23]

Figure 1.4.2 compares Navitas's Bi-Directional GaNFast Power IC announced in 2024 with IGBT/MOFET-based BPS. Monolithic Bidirectional GaN switches have the smallest size, lowest switching loss, highest switching frequency, and lowest cost.

Switch Configuration	Description	Chip area / Size / Complexity	Number of Components	ON-state Voltage Drop	Switching Loss	Switching Frequency	Gate Control Complexity
	Diode bridge + asymmetric IGBT	Very high	5	3.5V [2 diodes + 1 IGBT]	High	16kHz	Low
	Asymmetric IGBT + freewheeling diodes	Very high	4	2.5V [1 diode + 1 IGBT]	High	16kHz	Low
	Back-to-back reverse-blocking IGBTs	High	2	2.0V [1 symmetric IGBT]	Very high	8kHz	Medium
	Si power MOSFETs + JBS diodes	High	4	1.25V [1 diode + 1 MOSFET]	Low	60kHz	Low
	Back-to-back SiC power MOSFETs + antiparallel and series JBS diodes	Very high	6	1.25V [1 diode + 1 MOSFET]	Low	100kHz	Medium
	Four-terminal SiC monolithic BiDFET	Medium	1	0.5V [1 BIDFET]	Low	100kHz+	Medium
	Monolithic bi-directional GaN power IC	Lowest	1	0.5V [1 Bi-directional GaN power IC]	Lowest	500kHz+	Medium

Figure 1.4.2: The comparison of bidirectional switch configurations[24]

BPS can be used in a variety of power conversion applications, such as power inverter, DC-DC/AC-DC/AC-AC converters, matrix converters, solid-state circuit breakers, Current Source Inverter Systems (CSI), Voltage Source Inverter (VSI), charge and discharge of energy storage system[20]. Among them, BPS is mainly used in matrix converters and solid-state circuit breakers as the most critical component. The matrix converter is a utility model relating to a direct conversion type AC-AC power conversion device, which can reduce operating losses in traditional two-stage AC-DC-AC conversion. The 3x3 matrix converters are used to drive three-phase motors. For 3x3 matrix converters, nine bidirectional switches are arranged in three rows and three columns, as shown in Figure 1.4.3.



Figure 1.4.3:The 3x3 matrix converter with nine bidirectional switches[25]

Solid state circuit breakers (SSCB) are mainly used in DC power distribution systems in data centres, office buildings, ships and other fields. Compared to mechanical circuit breakers, SSCB using BPS can interrupt fault currents more quickly and protect electrical equipment connected to the power system from short circuit obstacles. The BPS in SSCB is employed to interrupt the current in both directions. Small on-state resistance (Rdson) to reduce on-state loss is an essential indicator for BPS. The schematic diagram of SSCB with a bidirectional switch is shown in Figure 1.4.4.



Figure 1.4.4: Schematic diagram of SSCB with a bidirectional switch[26]

1.5 Objectives of this Research Work

In modern power applications, bidirectional power switches are significant components of matrix converters, state circuit breakers, etc. Bidirectional GaN switches (Bi-GaN) have received high attention in recent years and. Due to excellent material properties and lateral device structure without a body diode, it is easier to fabricate monolithic Bi-GaN with a small size, low switching loss, high breakdown voltage, high switching frequency, and low cost. Bi GaN are promising to replace MOSFET/IGBT-based BPS.

For safety reasons, the BPS must be normally off. There are two main routes for GaN. One is using normally-off GaN HEMT. The advantage is that it only use a single die can enable the bidirectional behaviour. By sharing the drift region, the monolithic GaN BPS can achieve ultra-low Rdson in a small size. However, it is limited by immature technology, especially fabrication. In addtion, the threshold voltage of present BPS using normally-off GaN is around 1.5V. It is not high enough when the device is working in a high-power application or cluttered environment.

Another route for BPS is based on the normally-on GaN technology. The typical bidirectional can be seen as two conventional D-mode AlGaN/GaN back to back connected in common drain. By connecting a low-voltage MOSFETs in each source terminal, the normally-off behaviour can be realized. Silimar to Cascode, the threshold voltage of BPS depends on that of MOSFET and can be over the 3V. Similar to convential AlGaN/GaN HEMTs, the bidirectional normally-on GaN HEMTs face many issues, such as current collapse and the lack of high-voltage capability. The Polarisation Super Junction(PSJ) concept proposed in 2006 is a effective electric field management, which can effectively to push the high voltage breakdown and relieve the current collapse by relaxing the crowding electric for high voltage GaN devices.

In this research, the compact monolithic normally-on bidirectional GaN HEMT using PSJ concept(Bi PSJ HFETs) is investigated. Based on two structure such as Bi PSJ HFETs with Schottky gate and with ohmic Gate, it cancels the common drain electron, which is one of the most compact bidirectional switches reported to date. By simulation and measurement, electrical characteristics successfully validates the Bi PSJ HFETS concept and functionality with different gate polarity control. Accurate analytical models of the on-state resistance for Bi PSJ HFETs at room temperature are built to calculate and analyze their components. Analytical models will promote an understanding of the mechanism of Bi PSJ HFETs. In addition, it is noticed that first time to design and fabricate large-area Bi PSJ HFETs in wafer level on the 6' Sapphire substrate.

In order to construct the thermal analysis model of PSJ devices in the future, the on-state behaviour of Ohmic contact, PSJ Schottky and unidirectional PSJ FETs as the function of temperature is analysed based on a large number of experimental data. These results are critical for further improvement of on-state performance for unidirectional and bidirectional PSJ HFEMTs.

According to the experiment results of test structure and large-area Bi PSJ HFETs, there is a obvious gap. Parasitic impedances (R, L&C) of layouts for large area devices influence on-state resistance, switching speed, propagation and phase delays. It is necessary to reduce and allocate parasitic impedance reasonably for achieving a uniform current and temperature distribution as well as reducing the oscillatory behaviour when switching. In this research , it introduces 5 layout schemes, such as typical multi-finger layout, Multi-finger Drain-Source-Drain(D-S-D) Layout, Multi-finger Source-Drain-Source Layout (S-D-S), Checkerboard layout and Hexagonal-shaped layout. In order to comparison, 3D models for 1A unidirectional PSJ HFETs with 10um PSJ length with 5 layouts are built and simulated by ANSYS 3Q. The induced parasitic parameter of different layouts are extracted and compared with advantages and disadvantages.

1.6 Thesis Organization

The thesis is organised as follows:

Chapter 1: A brief comparison of Si versus WBG materials is provided. GaN devices have attracted the most attention in research among WBG materials because of their outstanding properties, and the GaN market grew rapidly. The present bidirectional GaN devices is introduce and compared with MOSFET/IGBT-based BPS.

Chapter 2: GaN's unique polarisation effect as well as its fundamental properties are presented. The formation of the 2DEG in an AlGaN/GaN heterostructure is thoroughly described, and the AlGaN/GaN High Electron Mobility Transistor (HEMT) technology's operating principles are then presented. The PSJ concept was introduced, which included constructing PSJ structures, forming 2DEG and 2DHG, and advancing PSJ technology to overcome challenges with AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. Traditional bidirectional switch configurations using MOSFET and IGBTs are introduced as their operation principle. It also display different implementations for bidirectional GaN switches as well as benefits and disadvantages. The electrical characteristic of bidirectional PSJ HFETs with the floating drain electrode are shown in this chapter.

Chapter 3: In this chapter it propose the compact monolithic bidirectional PSJ device (Bi PSJ HFETS) without floating electrode in the meddle. The structure and equivalent circuit of compact Bi PSJ HFETS with Schottky Gate and Ohmic Gate are shown. By simulation, electrical characteristics successfully validates the Bi PSJ HFETS can realize the bidirectional behaviour. At the end of the chapter, it displays mask design for fabricated Bi PSJ HFETs and overall process flow.

Chapter 4: The fabricated test structure and large-area Bi PSJ HFETs with Schottky and Ohmic Gate at the wafer level are shown in this chapter, as well as their electrical characteristic. Experiment data validates the Bi PSJ HFETS concept and functionality with different gate polarity control. The on-state resistance of Bi PSJ HFETs as the function of PSJ length and temperature are analysed. Accurate analytical models of the on-state resistance for Bi PSJ HFETs are demonstrated which fits well with the experimental data at room temperature.

Chapter 5: Investigation of on-state resistance as the function of temperature can be helpful to analyze and construct the thermal analytical models of on-state resistance in the future. This chapter evaluates different components of Test Element Group (TEG) FETs as a function of different temperatures. According to the a lot experiment data, the ohmic contact for AlGaN/GaN, the on-state performance of PSJ Schottky diode and on-state resistance of PSJ FETs are discussed with the temperature.

Chapter 6: There is gap of electrical characteristics between test structure and large-are Bi PSJ HFETs due to the parasitic impedance of layouts and its no-uniform distribution. In this chapter, it introduce the influence of parasitic impedance for the large-area devices. There are 5 layout designs are introduced and its 3D model designed for 1A large-area PSJ HFETs are shown in this chapter. The active region, parasitic resistance and inductance for 5 layouts are extracted and compared.

Chapter 7: A fair summation and future research work will be included in this chapter.

Chapter 2: GaN-Base Polarisation Super-Junction

Technologies

The physical features of GaN and its polarisation effect will be covered in this chapter. High electron mobility transistor (HEMT) technology based on conventional GaN will be reviewed, along with its critical electrical characteristics and limitations. The concept of polarisation super-junction (PSJ) is discussed in this section, which is used to overcome the electric field management issues of traditional GaN-based HEMTs and improve the trade-off relationship between Ron.A and BV. Finally, previous bidirectional switch implementations and monolithic bidirectional devices are present.

2.1 Fundamentals of Gallium Nitride Technology

2.1.1 Crystal structure of Gallium Nitride

In 1969 Maruska and Tietjen used a hydride vapour phase epitaxy (HVPE) method to synthesize GaN for the first time[27]. In 1991, A high-quality and uniform GaN film on the sapphire substrate was directly grown by Nakamura using a Metalorganic Chemical Vapour Deposition (MOCVD) route([28],[29]).



Figure 2.1.1: Schematics of wurtzite Gallium-face GaN and Nitride face GaN crystal structure with a spontaneous polarization (P) [21].

As the III-V nitride materials, GaN has three different crystal structures: wurtzite-type, Zinc blende and Rock salt[30]. Usually wurtzite-type GaN is usually for the fabrication of power semiconductor devices to support the thermodynamically stable structure under standard conditions

([10],[31]). Wurtzite-type GaN has an asymmetrical Hexagonal Closed-Packed (HCP) structure with two distinct cut faces, namely the Gallium (Ga) face (grown along [0001] direction) and Nitride (N) face (grown along [0001] direction), which is perpendicular to C-axis. Here, the C-axis refers to a specific direction in the GaN crystal structure, that is, the direction indicated by the lattice constant C shown in Figure 2.1.1(a). The C-axis is perpendicular to the basal plane in wurtzite structures[31]. The (0001) cleavage plane of GaN, also known as the C-axis cleavage plane, is the most stable surface of GaN crystal structure. It has the lowest surface energy, so it is easier to form during growth and preparation. Ga-face (grown along [0001]direction) can be obtained by growing over the c-plane sapphire substrate by MOCVD, while N-face can be raised by using Molecular Beam Epitaxy (MBE) under some specific preparation[32]. The different cut face leads to other electrical characteristics.

2.1.2 Polarization effect

In a binary compounded semiconductor, a chemical bond is established between two distinct atoms. The formation of dipoles in the atomic bond is a result of a difference in their electronegativity. Similarly, Ga-atom and N-atoms in wurtzite-type GaN have the opposite polarity. N-atom is more electronegative than Ga-atom. Therefore, a specific polarisation called spontaneous polarization (P_{SP}) is generated along the C-axis in the absence of the external strain([33],[34],[35]). Figure 2.1.1 shows the asymmetrical hexagonal structure of (a) Ga-face GaN and (b) N-face GaN crystal structure with the spontaneous polarization (P_{SP}) [36].

As shown in Figure 2.1.1, the black ball is Ga-atom, while the grey ball stands for N-atom. The σ represents polarization-induced charge density. The plus and minus signs of σ represent the positive and negative charge polarity, respectively. The direction of the spontaneous polarization depends on the crystal growth direction. For Ga-face, the spontaneous polarisation points to the substrate along [0001] direction. On the contrary, the direction of the spontaneous polarization is oriented along [0001] direction[34]. Figure 2.1.2 shows the spontaneous polarization of GaN, InN and AlN with their lattice constant.



Figure 2.1.2: The spontaneous polarization of GaN, InN and AlN[36].

Due to inside mechanical stress, heterostructures with various lattice constants generate an additional type of polarisation termed piezoelectric polarisation (P_{PE}). Hence, piezoelectric polarisation is related to in-plane strain and reliant on lattice mismatch[31]. Compressive or tensile stresses make the piezoelectric polarization polarity to be positive or negative([37],[38]). Figure 2.1.3 shows the theoretically calculated piezoelectric polarization for AlGaN, InGaN and AlInN over GaN substrate versus molar fraction X by Ambacher et al[33]. The lattice constant of AlGaN, InGaN, and AlInN is dependent on the mole fraction of X. The lattice mismatch between the ternary alloy and the GaN layer varies with varying mole fractions of X, which affects the mechanical strain and magnitude of the piezoelectric polarisation charge density.



Figure 2.1.3: Theoretically calculated piezoelectric polarization charge density for Al_xGa_{1-x}N, In_xGa_{1-x}N, and Al_xIn_{1-x}N over GaN substrate, as a function of the mole fraction x[31].
The top and bottom layers of heterogeneous structures have different magnitudes of spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization, which results in a fixed polarization charge called a polarization-induced sheet charge(σ) at the hetero-interface. Thus, polarization-induced sheet charge (σ) can be expressed by Equation(2.1):

$$\sigma = \Delta P \qquad \qquad -----(2.1)$$

Where ΔP stands for the polarization gradient in spac.

The density of polarization-induced sheet charge (σ) at an abrupt interface of a heterostructure can be expressed as the following[34]:

 $\sigma = P_{top \ layer} - P_{bottom \ layer} = (P_{SP(top \ layer}) + P_{PE(top \ layer})) - (P_{SP(bottom \ layer}) + P_{PE(bottom \ layer}) - (2.2)$

Here, $P_{SP(top layer)}$ ($P_{SP(bottom layer)}$) and $P_{PE(top layer)}$ ($P_{PE(bottom layer)}$) are the

spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization present in the top (bottom) layer of the heterostructure.

Figure 2.1.4 demonstrates the spontaneous polarization (P_{SP}) and piezoelectric polarisation (P_{PE}) in AlGaN/GaN heterojunctions under different conditions, as well as how polarization-induced sheet charges affect the flow of the flowing electron. As previously mentioned, crystal growth direction decides the direction of spontaneous polarisation. Whereas tensile or compressive strain dictates the polarity of piezoelectric polarization. Spontaneous and piezoelectric polarisation in the AlGaN and GaN layers creates fixed polarisation charges at the AlGaN/GaN heterointerface[23].



Figure 2.1.4: The spontaneous, piezoelectric polarization and polarization-induced charge density in AlGaN/GaN heterostructures[34].

2.1.3 The formation of 2DEG and 2DHG

As shown in Figure 2.1.4(a),(b) and (f), when the polarization-induced sheet charge density (σ) is positive at the hetero-interface, it attracts and accumulates free electrons for compensation. As a result, at the hetero-interface, two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) is formed. On the other hand, two-dimension hole gas (2DHG) is developed when the polarisation-induced sheet charge density (σ) is negative because free electrons concentrate and flow away hetero-interface, as shown in Figure 2.1.4 (c),(d) and (e).

For AlGaN/GaN-based devices, the GaN layer can be considered fully relaxed (*i.e* $P_{PE(GaN)} = 0$) because its thickness is several orders of magnitude greater than the AlGaN layer, similar to the example shown in Figure 2.1.4 (b). The polarisation-induced sheet charge density (σ) can be formed by:

$$\boldsymbol{\sigma} = \boldsymbol{P}_{AlGaN} - \boldsymbol{P}_{GaN} = (\boldsymbol{P}_{SP(AlGaN)} + \boldsymbol{P}_{PE(AlGaN)}) - \boldsymbol{P}_{SP(GaN)} \quad \dots \dots \quad (2.3)$$

According to Figure 2.1.3, $P_{SP(AlGaN)}$ is large than $P_{SP(GaN)}$. Therefore, it will be a positive polarization charge at the AlGaN/GaN interface.

2.1.4 2DEG properties in AlGaN /GaN Heterostructures

The existence of 2DEG is a consequence of the polarization effect and the considerable difference in conduction bands between GaN and AlGaN, which is a significant and unique property.

Figure 2.1.5 illustrates the energy band diagram of an undoped AlGaN/GaN heterojunction with the 2DEG channel. On the left is AlGaN layer having a slightly broader band gap, whereas on the right is GaN with a narrower band gap. The difference in conduction band energy induces a conduction band offset, which results in the formation of the quantum well.

Due to the polarization effect, positive polarization charges are induced at the AlGaN/GaN interface, while negative polarization charges are generated on the other side of the AlGaN layer. These differently charged areas form an electric field inside the AlGaN layer. When free electrons are attracted and accumulated to compensate for positive polarization-induced charges, they diffuse from the AlGaN layer to the narrower band-gap GaN layer, then trapped in a quantum well by the potential barrier[**39**], as shown in Figure 2.1.5. 2DEG reduces impurities and the coulomb scattering. As a result, electrons in 2DEG region have high density and extreme mobility. Based on this unique characteristic, 2DEG is critical in developing GaN-based HEMT architecture as a considerable candidate for carriers.



Figure 2.1.5: The energy band of an undoped AlGaN/GaN heterostructure with 2DEG.

In 1992, the presence of a two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) was first confirmed in the unintentionally doped AlGaN/GaN hetero-interface by M.A. Khan et al. And its steplike features were observed by the quantum Hall effect[40]. In this report[40], the mobility of 2DEG at room temperature was measured to be 834 cm²/Vs for the Al_{0.13}Ga_{0.87}N/GaN heterostructure. After increasing to 2626 cm²/V at 77K, 2DEG mobility became saturated. The mobility remains mostly constant when the temperature is from 77 to 4.2K. 2DEG density was measured to be 2.6 x 10^{12} cm⁻² at 7K.

In the past three decades, much worthy research has been done on 2DEG transport properties in AlGaN/GaN heterostructure. It has been proven that the low-temperature sheet carrier density (N_s) of 2DEG in AlGaN/GaN depends on the thickness and alloy composition X of the AlGaN layer. Smorchkova et al. reported that 2DEG begins to form in the Al_{0.27}Ga_{0.73} N/GaN only when AlGaN barrier thickness exceeds 3nm at 13K, as shown in Figure 2.1.6[41]. The density of 2DEG grows with increasing AlGaN thickness until it reaches a value near to the polarization-induced charge density. When the AlGaN thickness exceeds a certain threshold, the AlGaN layer relax via cracking under tensile strain, thereby reducing the 2DEG density.

The Al mole fraction determines the band-gap and lattice constant of AlGaN. The piezoelectric polarization and barrier height increase when the Al mole fraction increases. Figure 2.1.7 shows the approximately linear relationship between the sheet density of 2DEG versus Al mole fraction at 13K temperature in 31nm-thick AlGaN layer. The growth rate is about 5.45 x 10^{13} cm⁻² when the composition x of AlGaN is between 0.09 and 0.31[41]. Nowadays, for high-quality AlGaN/GaN-based HFETs, Al mole fraction X is set for AlGaN layer between 0.15 and 0.4. For high Al composition X, it leads to a significant lattice mismatch, surface defects and a large difference in thermal coefficient, which reduces the 2DEG mobility. The sheet density. When X lower than 0.15, electrons are poorly confined as a result of the conduction band offset being tiny[34]. In[42] it was reported that the sheet density of 2DEG in the material have minimal temperature dependence



Figure 2.1.6: The sheet carrier density of 2DEG in Al0.27Ga0.73 N/GaN versus the AlGaN thickness[41].



Figure 2.1.7: The sheet carrier density of 2DEG in Al_xGa_{1-x}N as the function of Al mole fraction [41].

The low-temperature electron mobility (μ) of 2DEG in AlGaN/GaN also varied significantly with the AlGaN thickness and Al mole fraction, as shown in Figure 2.1.8 and Figure 2.1.9. The electron mobility (μ) goes down with a thicker AlGaN layer or with higher alloy composition of X, resulting from electrons distributing closer to the heterointerface and becoming more sensitive to the structure imperfections with increasing the electron sheet density. It raises the interface roughness scattering and the alloy disorder scattering, significantly affecting low-temperature electron mobility.



Figure 2.1.8: The low-temperature electron mobility of 2DEG in Al_{0.27}Ga_{0.73} N/GaN versus the AlGaN thickness[41].



Figure 2.1.9: Low-temperature electron mobility in the 2DEG of Al_xGa_{1-x}N/GaN as a function of alloy composition x[41].

At room temperature or higher temperature, three scattering mechanisms, acoustic deformation potential, polar acoustic phonon, and polar optical phonon scatterings, impact the mobility of 2DEG formed at the AlGaN/GaN heterointerface. In [43], it simulates and presents the temperature dependences of the 2DEG mobility limited by each of the three scattering mechanisms and the overall mobility for different carrier concentrations. It can be found in Figure 2.1.10 that polar optical phonon scattering is typically the dominant scattering mechanism at any temperature.

By the Matthiessen's rule, the overall 2DEG mobility limited by the three scattering mechanisms can be calculated by:

$$\frac{1}{\mu} = \frac{1}{\mu_{ADP}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{PE}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{POP}} \qquad -----(2.4)$$

Where μ is overall 2DEG mobility, μ_{ADP} is the mobility limited by the acoustic deformation potential, μ_{PE} is the mobility limited by the polar acoustic phonon, μ_{ADP} is the mobility limited by the polar optical phonon scatterings. In some paper, it only considers the mobility limited by the polar optical phonon and acoustic deformation potential for GaN FETs[44]. The polar acoustic phonon scattering can be negligible since its energy is very low.



Figure 2.1.10: The mobility of 2DEG with the carrier concentration of (a) 1 x 10¹² cm⁻², (b) 4 x 10¹² cm⁻², (c) 7 x 10¹² cm⁻² and (d) 1 x 10¹³ cm⁻² as the function of temperature. (Line 1: acoustic deformation potential scattering; Line 2: polar acoustic phonon scattering; Line 3: polar optical phonon scattering; Line 4: overall mobility)[43]

According to the relationship with the corresponding momentum relaxation time, the mobility limited by one scattering mechanism can be derived by:

$$\mu = \frac{q}{m}\tau \qquad -----(2.5)$$

Where q is the elementary charge, m is the effective mass, and τ is momentum relaxation time.

The momentum relaxation time (τ_{ADP}) due to the acoustic deformation potential scattering is calculated by [45]:

$$\tau_{ADP} = \frac{\hbar^3 v_1^2 \rho b}{m \kappa T \varphi_{AD}^2} \qquad \qquad -----(2.6)$$

where \hbar is the reduced Planck constant, v_1 is the velocity of longitudinal acoustic phonon, ρ is the density, b is the effective width of the 2DEG, m is the effective mass, κ is the Boltzmann constant and ϕ_{AD} is the acoustic deformation potential.

The momentum relaxation time (τ_{POP}) due to the polar optical phonon scattering can be calculated by [46]:

where \hbar is the reduced Planck constant, ε is the dielectric constant, V_T is the thermal voltage, E_g is the band gap and E_{POP} is the polar optical phonon energy, q is the elementary charge, m is the effective mass. ε_{∞} and ε_0 are the relative permittivity at high and low frequency, respectively.

The parameter Np is the phonon Planck function as follows[46]:

$$N_p = \left(exp\left(\frac{E_{POP}}{V_T}\right)\right)^{-1} \qquad \qquad -----(2.8)$$

Figure 2.1.11 shows the band diagrams of GaN/AlGaN/GaN heterostructure with a thick GaN cap. When GaN cap layer is thick enough, the 2DHG exists in the CaN /AlGaN interface, as dotted line shown in Figure 2.1.12. With the increasing GaN cap layer thickness, the sheet density of 2DEG goes down from an approximate $1.3 \times 10^{13} cm^{-2}$ to $0.65 \times 10^{13} cm^{-2}$.



Figure 2.1.11: The Band diagrams of GaN/AlGaN/GaN heterostructure[47].



Figure 2.1.12: The influence of GaN cap layer thickness on sheet density and mobility[47].

2.2 AlGaN/GaN-based High Electron Mobility Transistor

In addition to meeting the application requirements, ideal power semiconductors should have three main characteristics. It has minimal on-state resistance, which can conduct a larger current with minimal voltage drop. Second, it has minimal leakage in the off state. Third, it has a fast-switching speed and minimal loss during the transitions. That is what drives people to research and develop new materials, new devices and new technologies.

2.2.1 The structure of conventional AlGaN/GaN-based HEMTs

Based on the superior electron mobility of spontaneously formed 2DEG as well as excellent material properties, AlGaN/GaN-based High Electron Mobility Transistor (HEMT) has been got great attention and developed since the first AlGaN/GaN HEMT was subsequently demonstrated in 1993([48],[14]).

By adopting the high density and high mobility 2DEG as the conduction channel, AlGaN/GaNbased HEMTs are capable of obtaining low resistance, a fast switching speed, and low switching loss. HEMTs based on AlGaN/GaN have a high breakdown voltage because of their outstanding material and electronic characteristics and high off-state breakdown voltage. In most modern power electron systems, AlGaN/GaN-based HEMTs are exploited for power switching and high-frequency signal amplification.



Figure 2.2.1 The cross-section of a general conventional AlGaN/GaN HEMT.

The schematic diagram for normally-on conventional AlGaN/GaN HEMTs is shown in Figure 2.2.1. Typically, $Al_xGa_{1-x}N/GaN$ heterostructure consisting of an undoped AlGaN/GaN is grown on a thick non-native substrate like Si, SiC or Sapphire because it is expensive and difficult to obtain native GaN substrates. However, it unavoidably leads to lattice mismatch and stress between GaN and foreign substrate, degrading device performance. It employs the nucleation layer like AlN or GaN to release the strain and improve hetero-epitaxial crystal growth quality. Metal Organic Chemical Vapor Deposition (MOCVD), Hydride Vapor Phase Epitaxy (HVPE) and Molecular Beam Epitaxy (MBE) are technologies used for the epitaxial growth of GaN and $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ layer. MOCVD is the most widely used technique for GaN-based epi-structures due to its experience and success in developing optoelectronic devices and the high growth rate. MBE is also frequently used to grow III-nitrides. Compared with MOCVD, the whole process of MBE occurs in ultra-high vacuum chambers at low temperatures with a significantly lower growth rate of 1 µm per hour. Consequently, high-purity and quantity films can be grown precisely and flexibly([29], [49], [50]).

During epitaxial growth, 2DEG is spontaneously induced at the interface of $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ /GaN. $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ acts as the barrier layer with Al mole fraction X in AlGaN between 15% and 30%, typically. The thickness of $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ is about 10 ~ 30 nm.

The three electrodes that comprise the three-terminal conventional AlGaN/GaN HEMTs are named the Gate, Source, and Drain electrodes. While the Source and Drain form ohmic contacts to the 2DEG, the Gate electrode forms the Schottky contact to govern the current. Schottky contact with a Schottky barrier height (ϕ_b) forms rectifying junction between metal and semiconductor material. Nickel (Ni) and Gold (Au) is most used to fabricate Schottky contact[51]. The high Schottky barrier height can reduce leakage. On the other side, the contact resistance of source/drain contact is an important criterion and is always monitored to evaluate ohmic contact and process stability in GaN industry. The ohmic contact should have a much smaller resistance compared with that of the semiconductor device. When the current flows through the device, the voltage drop on the ohmic contact is lower than the voltage drops of the device itself, so it does not affect the IV characteristics of the device. For in ultra-high frequency and high-power GaN devices, ohmic contact is one of the key problems in the design and manufacture. Forming a good ohmic contact depends on the choice of metal material. ohmic contacts, made from Titanium (Ti), Aluminium (Al), Ni and Au, can provide a low-resistance connection between the semiconductor material and the metal drain/source electrode([52],[53]).

2.2.2 Si, SiC and Sapphire substrates for AlGaN/GaN HEMT

Owing to the restrictions of epitaxial techniques, GaN-based devices lack affordable, largescale, high-quality GaN wafers[57]. Hence, GaN growing on foreign substrates is employed to manufacture GaN power semiconductors. The quality of the GaN epilayer is highly dependent on the substrate's properties and the nucleation layer growth. The substrates for the manufacture of devices are chosen in consideration of the following features:

- lattice mismatch
 - Thermal conductivity
 - Coefficient of thermal expansion(CTE)
 - Cost

Table 2.1 Some of the crucial characteristics of different substrate materials is shown in Table 2.1. The high lattice mismatch and the variation in the thermal expansion coefficients between the epitaxial layer and substrate degrade device performance due to the high density of crystallographic defects, high device leakage current, short minority carrier lifetime, high device leakage current, short minority carrier lifetime and so on[58]. The nucleation layer employing AlN or GaN reduces the lattice mismatch and increases thermal boundary resistance between GaN and foreign substrate. Substrates with higher thermal conductivities speed up heat dissipation during operation, improving the device's performance. GaN-based power devices are typically manufactured on SiC and Sapphire. The majority of efforts have recently been concentrated on silicon substrates([59][60]).

	Sapphire	SiC	Si	GaN
Lattice mismatch (%)	16	3.1	-17	0
Linear thermal expansion coefficient $(\times 10^{-6} \text{ K}^{-1})$	7.5	4.4	2.6	5.6
Thermal conductivity (W cm ⁻¹ K ⁻¹)	0.25	4.9	1.6	2.3
Cost	Cheap	Expensive	Cheap	Very expensive
Dislocation density of GaN films grown on substrate (optimized) (cm ⁻²)	Low 10 ⁸	Low 10 ⁸	Low 10 ⁸	104-106

Table 2.1: Intrinsic parameters of substrate materials for AlGaN/GaN-based HEMTs([10],[61]).

Sapphire (Al₂O₃) has been a common platform for producing GaN-LEDs since the first deposition of GaN grew on Sapphire substrate by HVPE method was successful obtained in 1969 by Maruska and Tietjen[62]. Experience in developing optoelectronic devices, existing infrastructure and mature technologies make the GaN grown on Sapphire substrates much easier. However, it is argued that the lattice mismatch and the difference in thermal expansion coefficient are main causes of stress in the GaN layer at room temperature. During the 2-step growth process for GaN on Sapphire, after the deposition of an approximately 20-nm-thick nucleation layer at 550–700 °C, the water temperature is increased to around 1000 °C for the growth of the main GaN layer[31]. Since the linear thermal expansion coefficient for GaN is 5.6×10^{-6} /K while for sapphire is 7.5×10^{-6} /K, the wafer is under stress and bowing after cooling down. For a thick GaN film on Sapphire, the stress in Sapphire substrate is always tensile. The stress in GaN film is compressive near the interface while is tensile near the surface, as shown in Figure 2.2.2. The stress causes the wafer to bow or crack. Surface and channelling cracking of sapphire and GaN, sapphire debonding along the interface, and sapphire debonding by spalling are common types of cracks observed when GaN grows on Sapphire[63].



Figure 2.2.2: The stress in a GaN film on a sapphire as a function of the GaN film thickness [63].

Table 2.2 summarises issues of GaN devices based on sapphire substrate and practical solutions. The on

Challenge	Issues	Solutions
Lattice mismatch	 Stress near the hetero-interface Dislocation Reduction in the charge carriers mobility 	Use of the nucleation layer
Material defects /dislocation	Deep traps (partly involved in the current collapse mechanism)	Low dislocation density GaN epitaxial growth
A low thermal conductivity	 Self-heating A sizeable current reduction due to an increase in the lattice temperature 	Flip chip bonding onto a material with high thermal conductivity [2]
The difference of the thermal expansion coefficient	Wafer bowing or cracking due to thermal stress during cooling after growth	The occurrence of cracks and bowing are dependent on GaN film thickness [2]
Sapphire exists in large diameters	The strong wafer bows after cooling	

Table 2.2: Challenges and	practical solutions of GaN-based	derives on Sapphire([2],[55])
<i>a</i>		

Silicone carbide has several advantages over other non-native materials as a substrate for GaN epitaxy. SiC is similar to wurtzite-typed GaN with a minor lattice mismatch of 3.1%. With a thin AlN nucleation layer, the lattice mismatch between SiC and GaN can be less than 1 %, easily achieving high-quality GaN-on-SiC epi-structures[64]. On the other hand, SiC has a high thermal conductivity coefficient of about 380W/m.k. It is beneficial in applications where heat dissipation is essential for smaller cooling systems, such as radio frequency equipment for satellite and radar communications. AlGaN/GaN HEMTs were reported to degrade with decreased transconductance and increased on-state resistance because of higher temperatures at high drain voltage operation, even on SiC substrates[65]. In addition, the high cost is one of the limitations.

Silicon is the most widely well- for GaN-based HFETs because of the high quality and the low cost of leveraging readily available large-diameter silicon wafers [66]. Due to its trigonal symmetry, the epitaxial growth of (0001)GaN can grow on the Si substrate. However, the significant thermal mismatch between GaN and Si is one of the issues which leads to cracks and limits the fast process of GaN growth [67]. In addition, the lattice mismatch in Si and GaN is inevitable. When AlN or GaN grows on a Silicon substrate, there are a lot of defects because Si tends to form amorphous SiN[31]. Therefore, the quality of GaN grown on Sillion is significantly lower than that of Sapphire. In the past

year, many studies on the improvement in the quality of GaN on Si substrate have been done, and wellconductin low-cost Si substrate will replace Sapphire and SiC in the future.

2.2.3 Operating principles and characteristics parameters

Figure 2.2.3 shows the conduction band profile of a typical normally-on AlGaN/GaN HEMT under the gate voltage of 0V. The solid line is the conduction band of the AlGaN and GaN layer. The dashed line stands for the Fermi level. As described in Section 2.1.4, a conduction band offset (ΔE_C) due to the difference in the conduction band energies forms and creates a triangular quantum well at the interface of AlGaN and GaN. The triangular quantum well traps the accumulated electrons and forms a 2DEG channel. Without any gate bias voltage (V_g), the device shows the normally-on characteristics, resulting from the spontaneously induced 2DEG providing a conduction channel between Drain and Source. Applying an input signal to the gate can control the on-state current and switch the device.



Figure 2.2.3: The conduction band profile of a typical AlGaN/GaN HEMT at Vg=0V.

A normally-on AlGaN/GaN has a negative threshold voltage (V_{th}). V_{th} is defined as the minimum gate voltage value when the device current starts to flow, which can be expressed as the following[10]:

Where ϕ_b = Schottky barrier height,

 ΔE_{C} =Conduction band offset between GaN and AlGaN

 N_s = The sheet carrier density of 2DEG

 ε_{AlGaN} = Relative dielectric constant of AlGaN

 d_{AlGaN} = AlGaN thickness

q = electron charge

From Equation 2.9, the threshold voltage is determined by the Schottky barrier height, thickness and 2DEG sheet density. According to Figure 2.1.6 and Figure 2.1.7, both AlGaN thickness and its alloy composition X affect the sheet carrier density in 2DEG.

When positive gate bias is applied (i.e. $V_{gs}>0V$), it lowers the Schottky barrier height (ϕ_b) and pull the conduction energy band further down towards the Fermi level (E_F), as shown in Figure 2.2.4(a). The quantum well becomes deeper, so the 2DEG sheet density increases.

When the gate bias voltage is negative (Vth<Vgs<0V), Schottky barrier height (ϕ_b) of Gate metal increases, as well as the conduction energy band goes up forwards the Fermi Level (EF), as shown in Figure 2.2.4(b). Holes from the Gate electrode are injected into 2DEG and recombined with free electrons. The density of 2DEG decreases, as well as the drain current.





 $\label{eq:conduction} Figure 2.2.4: Conduction energy band diagram of a typical AlGaN/GaN HEMT with varying Gate \\ Voltage (a) V_g > 0 (b) Vth < Vg < 0 (c) V_g < V_{th} \\ \end{array}$

Figure 2.2.4(c) describes the conduction band diagram when the gate voltage falls below the threshold voltage (V_{gs} < V_{th}). The 2DEG channel under the gate region is pinched off, which cuts off the current conduction path. Thus the device enters turn-off. The schematic diagrams of a conventional AlGaN/GaN HEMT during off-state are shown in Figure 2.2.5.



Figure 2.2.5: Schematic Diagrams of a conventional AlGaN/GaN HEMT during off-state.



Figure 2.2.6: Schematic electrical characteristics of an AlGaN/GaN HEMT.

Figure 2.2.6 shows schematic output I_{ds} - V_{ds} and off-state characteristics of an AlGaN/GaN HEMT with a common source configuration. As lateral Field Effect Transistors, the IV curves with various Gate Voltage (V_{gs}) values can be divided into linear and saturation regions. According to the model presented by H. Morkoc et al.[54], the electron velocity is directly proportional to the applied electric field with constant mobility in the linear region (i.e. $V_{ds} < V_{gs}$ - V_{th}). Hence, the drain current linearly increases in the linear region, which can be expressed as:

$$I_{ds} = \frac{W}{L} \cdot \frac{\varepsilon_{AlGaN}}{d} \left[\left(V_{gs} - V_{th} \right) V_{ds} - \frac{V_{ds}^2}{2} \right] \qquad -----(2.10)$$

The on-state resistance (R_{on}) can be extracted during this region. Due to V_{ds} is smaller than $V_{gs} - V_{th}$, the $\frac{V_{ds}^2}{2}$ in Equation 2.10 can be ignored. So Equation of R_{on} can be derived by:

$$R_{on} = \frac{V_{ds}}{I_{ds}} = \frac{V_{ds}}{\frac{W}{L} \cdot \frac{\varepsilon_{AlGaN}}{d} \cdot \mu_{2DEG} \cdot \left[(V_{gs} - V_{th}) V_{ds} \right]}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\frac{W}{L} \cdot \frac{\varepsilon_{AlGaN}}{d} \cdot \mu_{2DEG} \cdot (V_{gs} - V_{th})} \qquad -----(2.11)$$

With the increasing drain voltage ($V_{ds} > V_{gs}$ - V_{th}), over a certain value of the electric field, carrier velocity is independent of the electric field and becomes saturated. The current I_{ds} can be expressed as in **Error! Reference source not found.**[55]:

$$I_{ds} = \frac{W}{L} \cdot \frac{\varepsilon_{AlGaN}}{d} \cdot v_{sat} \left[\left(V_{gs} - V_{th} \right) - V_{dss} \right] \quad -----(2.11)$$

Where v_{sat} stands for the saturation velocity and V_{dss} is the saturation drain voltage.

In addition, the transconductance (g_m) is also a vital parameter in evaluating device performance. Transconductance (g_m) is defined as the drain current change rate in the linear region when Gate voltage changes. The ideal power device has a significant transconductor (g_m) that has a large output current I_d when applying a small V_{gs}. In addition, the switching speed increases with the high transconductance[56]. g_m can be expressed in Equation(2.12)as:

$$g_m = \frac{dI_{ds}}{dV_{gs}}$$
, at $V_{ds} < V_{dss}$ -----(2.12)

2.2.4 Electric field management issues

Lateral GaN-based power devices also suffer from challenging topics, such as current collapse, lack of high blocking voltage capability and the lack of avalanche capability.[68].

The major phenomenon of degraded performance in high-voltage GaN HEMTs is current collapse. In the literature, current collapse refers to a phenomenon involving the degradation of drain current and increase in dynamic Ron after applying a high Vds bias. For AlGaN/GaN HEMTs, current collapse is reversible. The reduced drain current can be recoverable by heating or UV light. Figure 2.2.7 shows the Id-Vds characteristics of GaN-based HEMT before (solid lines) and after (dotted lines) current collapse. The mechanism of current collapse is that electrons in 2DEG accumulate in the high electrical field at the drain side of the gate and accelerate to the AlGaN surface, AlGaN barrier and buffer layer. This is then captured by surface/bulk traps, as shown in Figure 2.2.8. The term traps refers to energy states in the band-gap of a semiconductor. Traps result from several factors, such as crystal defects, dislocations, or impurities.



Figure 2.2.7: Current collapse for conventional AlGaN/GaN devices[69].



Figure 2.2.8: Schematic illustration of accumulated electrons trapped in the surface/bulk[70].

This gate and drain lag condition of the quiescent bias (QB) are the main parameters used to characterise the current collapse [71]. The corresponding measurement techniques are combined in the pulsed I-V measurements, in which both the gate and drain voltages are pulsed at the same time from a quiescent bias.

In Figure 2.2.7, the drain current lags the drain voltage, which is known as drain lag. This phenomenon is also called 'knee walk-out', in which the knee voltage at which the drain current saturates rises. Drain lag is associated with deep-level defects in the GaN buffer region. Generally, the GaN buffer layer of high-voltage GaN HEMTs requires deep-level defects by doped by acceptors like Carbon (C), which can help suppress the buffer leakage. The GaN buffer defects trap charge generated

due to hot carriers scattering from the channel or due to gate leakage. AlGaN/GaN devices display higher drain lag ratios when the buffer layer conductivities are lower.

At the constant low field drain voltage, to avoid the complications of device heating, the gate lag can be measured by comparing the transient and steady-state drain currents. At large negative gate voltage, hot electrons tunnel into the AlGaN barrier and then fill surface states between the gate and drain. The positive polarization charges at the bare AlGaN surface are reduced by charge conservation. Therefore, the sheet density of 2DEG in the channel decreases, as well as the extended depletion region of 2DEG. The excess negative charges deplete the underlying 2DEG and create a "virtual gate", as shown in Figure 2.2.9. In operation mode with fast pulses, if the emission rate of the surface donors is much slower than the speed of gate voltage change, it leads to current collapse, in which the transient drain current decreases and lags the gate voltage. Passivation can significantly improve the gate lag.



Figure 2.2.9: The virtual grid effect[72]

Much relative research has been done to suppress current collapse using semiconductor process technologies([73],[74]). The solution methods are to mitigate the crowded electric field to accelerate the electron into the trap, to reduce traps, especially the surface trap, and to increase the path resistance of the electron injection trap[31]. Field plate and surface passivation like Si_x, SiO₂, Al₂O₃ are standard solutions for current collapse by releasing electric field and reducing surface traps.

When increasing drain voltage and the negative gate voltage to turn off the device, the positive polarization charges accumulate in the carriers at the gate region. The crowding electrical field at the edge of gate easily overcomes the critical electrical field of GaN (3.3 MV/cm), which easily occurs the avalanche breakdown. As shown in Figure 2.2.10, a peak of the electric field occurs at the drain-side edge of the Gate and makes the breakdown voltage challenging to reach the theoretical value during off-state. In practice, the breakdown voltage is usually defined as when the leakage current exceeds 1mA/mm.



Figure 2.2.10: Schematic of electric field crowding at Gate edge with the field profile.

2.2.5 Field plate technologies

The traditional electric field management solution employed in lateral GaN devices is Field Plate (FP) technologies, which was first demonstrated in 2003[75]. It can reduce the trap reoccupation, suspend the current collapse and enhance the voltage-blocking capacity by designing the electric field profile and suppressing the field crowding at the gate edge ([76],[77],[78],[79]).

Figure 2.2.11 shows the cross-section structure of AlGaN/GaN HEMT with the source field plate and its electric field profile. It can be found that FP technologies can suppress the field crowding at the drain side of the Gate edge but have a new peak at the edge of Drain electrodes. The breakdown voltage of AlGaN/GaN HFET with Source FP increases from 100V to 600V, and ultra-low on-state resistance can be achieved [80]. It has been reported that the breakdown voltage and power density increase when the Field Plate length increases. Meanwhile, the unity current gain frequency (f_T) and the maximum frequency of oscillation (f_m) is degraded [81]. Although FP technologies can reduce the peak value, they can not eliminate it to achieve the ideal fat electric field.



Figure 2.2.11: Cross-section schematics and electric-field profile of AlGaN/GaN HEMT with a source filed plate[80].

2.2.6 Gate Injection Transistor Structure

Gate Injection Transistor (GIT) Structure is an approach to solving the current collapse by injecting holes from the p-GaN to the 2DEG region that reduce charge trapping effects and releases the trapped electrons instantaneously. Figure 2.2.12 shows the Schematic cross-section of conventional GIT. The p-type gate on the P-GaN layer can thicken the AlGaN layer to avoid carrier losses under the P-type region. From the I-V Characteristics in Figure 2.2.13, the drain current of a GIT FET increases obviously owing to the conductivity modulation[82], compared with the normally-on conventional GaN FET. The threshold voltage of GIT also increases over zero, which achieves normally-off behaviour. Here is the typical structure of an E-mode GaN transistor.



Figure 2.2.12: Schematic cross-section of conventional GIT[70].



Figure 2.2.13: (a) I-V Characteristics of Normally Off GIT GaN and Conventional Normally On GaN [77].

In 2015 Panasonic proposed the new Hybrid-Drain-embedded GIT (HD-GIT) based on the conventional GIT structure, as shown in Figure 2.2.14 (a). In the HD-GIT structure, additional p-GaN regions under Drain are introduced near the drain and electrically connected to it. In theory, holes can be injected in this P-type region to release trapped electrons during the switching operation instantaneously. Figure 2.2.14 compares the dynamic on-resistance of a conventional GIT and the HD-GIT for inductive-load switching. The R is the on-state resistance of the conventional GIT normalized to its resistance at 500V. While the R0 is the on-state resistance of the new HD-GIT normalized to its resistance at 500V. There is a sharp increase of the on-state resistance for conventional GIT observed when the stress is over 600V for the conventional GIT. New HD-GIT is free from current collapse with a slight rise in R [70]. It is the common method to evaluate the degradation of devices by monitoring dynamic Ron during applying the high-voltage stress. The reliability standard for GaN

devices is that the degradation of Ron should be less than 20% after 1000H Regular/High Temperature Reverse Bias.



Figure 2.2.14: (a)Schematic cross-section of HD-GIT and (b) Measured dynamic on-resistance of a conventional GIT and the HD-GIT for inductive-load switching, normalized to the dc values (R/R0)[70].

2.3 Polarisation Super junction technologies

The alternative electrical field management, polarisation Super junction (PSJ), was proposed by A. Nakajima et al. in 2006 to push the high voltage breakdown by relaxing the crowding electric field[83]. Without doping any impurities, PSJ technology utilizes the charge compensation effect through positive and negative polarization charges to achieve the charge balance[84].

2.3.1 Induction of the PSJ Concept

PSJ technology is based on an un-doped GaN/AlGaN/GaN double heterostructures throughout the lateral channel. Figure 2.3.1 shows schematics of (a) PSJ structure and (b) its energy band diagram at thermal equilibrium[85]. There is a double-hetero GaN/Al_{.0.23}Ga_{0.77}N/GaN capping with a p-type GaN layer doping with Magnesium (Mg). GaN(0001)/AlGaN(0001) and AlGaN (0001)/GaN(0001) coexist with an equivalent magnitude of positive and negative polarization charge (σ). Attracted and accumulated Electrons(holes) by the positive(negative) polarization charges are confined in the triangle quantum well. Therefore, two-dimension hole gas (2DHG) and 2DEG are spontaneously formed at the GaN/AlGaN and AlGaN/GaN interface, respectively. In 2010, the density and mobility of 2DHG were first demonstrated over 1.1×10^{13} cm⁻² and 16 cm²V⁻¹S⁻¹ at the University of Sheffield, United Kingdom and POWDEC K.K, Japan ([86],[87]). It should be noticed that the Mg-doped in P-GaN does not contribute to the charge balance because the charge density from the Mg layer is much lower than 2DHG[88]. The presence of the high-density 2DHG could facilitate the development of p-channel HFETs in GaN.



Figure 2.3.1: Schematics of (a) PSJ structure and (b) energy band diagram at thermal equilibrium[85].

2.3.2 PSJ Field Effect Transistors

In 2011, the Sheffield power microelectronic team demonstrated high-voltage GaN PSJ Field Effect Transistors (PSJ HFETs) on the Sapphire substrate [84]. Figure 2.3.2 shows the simplified crosssection schematic of a typical GaN-based PSJ HFET (a) with Schottky Gate and (b) with Ohmic Gate. Both PSJ SG HFETs and PSJ OG HFETs are normally-on devices.



(a) PSJ SG HFET



(b) PSJ OG HFET

Figure 2.3.2: The simplified cross-section of a typical GaN-based HFET and equivalent circuit (a) with Schottky Gate and (b) with Ohmic Gate on Sapphire substrate

The PSJ HFET with Schottky Gate (PSJ SG HFET) has four electrodes: Source (S), Drain (D), Gate (G) and Base (B). Drain and Source electrodes on the AlGaN layer are connected to the 2DEG using ohmic contacts. The gate is formed as a Schottky contact to govern the current and switch the device on/off. The base makes an ohmic contact with the 2DHG through the top p-GaN layer and is electrically connected to the gate or Source. Thus, the device with Schottky Gate can provide an inherent body diode to show reverse conducting characteristics [89]. On the right of Figure 2.3.2(a), it shows the equivalent circuit of PSJ SG HFET with Base connected to Source. When V_{gs} >V_{th}, the current flows through the 2DEG channel from Drain to Source, identical to that of conventional AlGaN/GaN HFETs. During off-state, the negative gate voltage (Vth>Vgs) is applied, thus pinching off the 2DEG underneath the gate region. As the drain voltage increases, the base and drain electrodes discharge 2DHG and 2DEG. The charge remains in balance. The PSJ region is depleted and acts as an intrinsic region. [89]. Therefore, a flat field can be achieved in the ideal conditions, as shown in Figure 2.3.3.

For PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate (PSJ OG HFET), there are three electrodes: Source, Drain and Gate. The Drain/Source electrode on AlGaN employs ohmic contacts to connect to the 2DEG. The gate electrode forms the Ohmic contact to 2DHG by the p-GaN layer doping with Mg. Here, an equivalent PN diode is formed by 2DHG and 2DEG, which enables reverse conduction from Gate to



Figure 2.3.3: The ideal Electrical field distribution of a typical (a) PSJ SG HFET and (b) PSJ OG HFET.

Drain. Similarly, current flows through the 2DEG channel in the on-state. In reverse conditions, 2DEG under the gate region is depleted as the intrinsic region when the negative Gate voltage drops below the threshold voltage. The current conduction path is cut off and PSJ OG HFETs enter off. Under the ideal charge balance condition, a 'box-like' electric field can be achieved at turn-off. Figure 2.3.3 shows the ideal Electrical field profile of a typical (a) PSJ SG HFET and (b) PSJ OG HFET. From theorical and experimental data, the breakdown voltage of GaN PSJ devices can be enhanced and scaled up directly as a function of the length of the drift region (L_{PSI})([83], [89],[84]).

Figure 2.3.4 shows the simulated output Id -Vd characteristics of the (a) Schottky Gate PSJ HFETs (b) Ohmic Gate PSJ HFETs at Vg = 0V. In the same case of L_{PSJ} , PSJ OG HFETs has a lower on-off resistance than the SG device due to the shorter distance between the source and drain. Simulated lateral electric field distribution before the breakdown of the OG and SG PSJ HFETs is demonstrated in Figure 2.3.5. It can be found that the electric field distribution of PSJ HFETs is almost uniform over PSJ region with two peaks at the Gate edge and Drain edge.



Figure 2.3.4: Simulated output Id -Vd characteristics of the (a) Schottky Gate PSJ HFETs (b) Ohmic Gate PSJ HFETs at Vg = 0V.



Figure 2.3.5: Simulated lateral electric field distribution before the breakdown of (a) Schottky Gate PSJ HFETs (b) Ohmic Gate PSJ HFETs at Vg = -15V

Figure 2.3.6 compares the reverse IV characteristics of the conventional GaN HEMT and PSJ FETs[90]. With a 10um length from Gate to Drain, the avalanche breakdown of PSJ FET (super HFET) occurs at around 560V, while conventional GaN HEMT happens at about 100V. When the drift region L_{PSJ} of PSJ HEMT increases to 22µm, and the breakdown voltage exceeds 1.1kV. Experiments prove that PSJ technology can improve the breakdown voltage capability effectively. Recently, POWDEC KK reported that the breakdown voltage of the large area enhancement-mode PSJ FET on Sapphire substrates is over 3kV breakdown voltage.

Figure 2.3.7 shows the measured off-state Id-Vd characteristics of (a)PSJ SG HFETs and (b) PSJ OG HFETs with various PSJ lengths. It can be found that breakdown voltage (BV) and PSJ length have a linear relationship. Based on Figure 2.3.7, conservatively, it can be estimated that BV increases by 500 V for every $5\mu m$ increase in L_{PSJ}.



Figure 2.3.6: The comparison in breakdown voltage of the GaN conventional HFET and PSJ FET[90].



Figure 2.3.7: Measured off-state Id -Vd characteristics of (a) PSJ SG HFETs and (b) PSJ OG HFETs at Vg = -15[91][92]



Figure 2.3.8: The trade-off relationship between Ron.A and BV with the material limit

The trade-off relationship between specific on-state resistance (R_{on}.A) and Breakdown Voltage (BV) is a significant parameter for power semiconductors, as shown in Figure 2.3.8.

For lateral FETs, the line integral defines the electric potential at a point in a static electric field. In an ideal case of a 'box-like' electrical field, the theoretical BV (V_B) of a lateral SJ device with a uniform E-field distribution can be derived from the basic theory of electrostatic:

$$V_B = E_{crit} \cdot L_{ch} \tag{2.13}$$

Where L_{ch} is the lateral length of the conduction channel and E_{crit} is the critical electric field of the semiconductor material.

The on-state resistance can be expressed as:

$$R_{on} = R_{sheet} \cdot \frac{L_{ch}}{W} = \frac{L_{ch}}{q \cdot \mu_{ch} \cdot n_s \cdot W}$$
 ------(2.14)

Where R_{sheet} is sheet resistance of electron channel, q stands for electron charge, μ_{ch} is channel electron mobility, n_s is the sheet density of electrons and W is the channel width.

The specific on-state resistance Ron.A equals:

$$R_{on} \cdot A = R_{on} \cdot W \cdot L_{ch} = \frac{L_{ch}^2}{q \cdot \mu_{ch} \cdot n_s}$$
-----(2.15)

Combining with Equation(2.13) and Equation(2.15), the Ron.A can be expressed in terms of V_B as:

$$R_{on}.A = \frac{V_B^2}{q.\mu_{ch}.n_{s}.E_{crit}^2} \qquad -----(2.16)$$

Lateral device figure of merit (LFOM), which can be used for evaluating devices performance relative to its theoretical counterpart, is derived from Equation(2.16) by:

$$LFOM = \frac{V_B^2}{R_{on}.A} = q.\mu_{ch}.n_s.E_{crit}^2 \qquad -----(2.17)$$

2.4 Bidirectional switch configurations

Many implementations of a bidirectional switch have been demonstrated using discrete unidirectional devices. Usually, BPS can be made with two MOSFET in series or two quadrants IGBT with didoes.

2.4.1 Bidirectional switch configurations using MOSFETs

Figure 2.4.1 shows BPS configurations using N-or P-Channel MOSFETs. A single MOSFET can conduct or block the current in one direction due to the body diode. When two MOSFETs are connected in series, they can realise bidirectional voltage control and current flow. Compared with P-channel FETs, N-channel FETs are preferred due to lower on-state resistance and cost. As an example of common-source N-channel MOSFETs, it has four possible states shown in Table 2.3 and Figure 2.4.2 is schematic illustration of operation modes.



Figure 2.4.1: BPS configurations using N-or P-Channel MOSFET[19]

MOSFET 1	MOSFET 2	State		
ON	ON	Current can flow in both directions through the circuit.		
ON	OFF	Current can flow from left to right		
OFF	ON	Current can flow from right to left		
OFF	OFF	Blocking bidirectional currents		

Table 2.3: Operation modes of common-source N-channel MOSFETs



Figure 2.4.2: Operation mode of common-source N-channel MOSFETs.

2.4.2 Bidirectional switch configurations using IGBTs

Figure 2.4.3 shows the topologies of bidirectional switches with IGBT for matrix converters([93],[94],[95]). The most commonly used configurations of bi-directional switches are either back-to-back connections of IGBTs with anti-parallel diodes in a common emitter (CE) or a common collector (CC), shown in Figure 2.4.3 (a) and (b). In addition, Figure 2.4.3 (c) shows a diode bridge and a single IGBT transistor which only have one active device to realize the bidirectional switching capability. Figure 2.4.3 (d) is the anti-parallel connection of reverse blocking IGBTs (RB-IGBTs) without anti-parallel diodes. IGBT provides any direction of the current path, so the current direction cannot be controlled independently. In addition, although IGBTs have very low forward drop, the obvious disadvantage is that the reduction of on-off loss is limited by on-off voltage offset caused by series diodes and by the IGBTs[96]. Table 2.4 shows the on-state voltage drop and switching loss comparison of different 1.2kV bidirectional switches[97].



Figure 2.4.3: Topologies of Bidirectional switches in (a) CE anti-paralleled IGBT arrangement, (b) CC antiparalleled IGBT arrangement, (c) diode bridge with an IGBT arrangement and (d) RB-IGBT arrangement.

The operation principles of Bidirectional switches using IGBT in CE / CC is similar with that of bidirectional switch configurations using MOSFETs. Figure 2.4.4(a)(b)(c)(d) shows the operation principles of the diode bridge embedded IGBT switch. When the gate of IGBT is smaller than the threshold voltage, the IGBT turns off and then blocks the current in any direction. For the conduction mode, the IGBT turns on and only two SBDs are forward-biased, allowing the current to flow along the direction where the arrow indicates shown in Figure 2.4.4(b) and Figure 2.4.4(d). The IGBT's body diode causes the voltage drop in the forward/reverse turn-on mode.



Figure 2.4.4: Operation principles of diode bridge embedded IGBT switch. (a) Forward off mode (G: off, V_{S1S2} > 0 V), (b) forward turn-on mode (G: on, V_{S1S2} > 0 V), (c) reverse off mode (G: off, V_{S1-S2} < 0 V), (d) reverse turn-on mode (G: on, V_{S1-S2} < 0 V).



Figure 2.4.5: Operation principles of Bidirectional switches in RB-IGBT arrangement. (a) ON-ON mode,(b)ON-OFF mode,(c) OFF-OFF mode and (d) OFF-ON mode.

Figure 2.4.5 displays the operation principles of bidirectional switches in an RB-IGBT arrangement. For bidirectional RB-IGBTs, gates of two RB-IGBTs control the current flowing or blocking along one direction, respectively. Similarly, it can be observed the off-set voltage in the on-state current due to the body-diode of RB-IGBT.

Whether MOSFETs or IGBTs, a BPS at least needs two unidirectional devices. A Bidirectional switch consisting of discrete unidirectional devices requires a larger chip area and higher switching losses than a monolithic bidirectional switch. The monolithic BPS is the future trend of bidirectional device development. The integrated bidirectional switch requires no soldered joints, fewer interconnections, and no additional interface circuits to perform output signal functions. It can reduce the cost and production time and fabricate complex circuits easily. Meanwhile, device performance

and reliability can be improved. On the other hand, signal operation will be possible as it dramatically reduces noise due to components in monolithic devices being very close to each other([25], [98]).

Switch Configuration	Description	Number of Components	On-State Voltage Drop	Switching Loss
	Si Diode Bridge + Asymmetric Si IGBT [1]	5	8.6 [2 diodes + 1 IGBT]	High
	Asymmetric Si IGBTs + Freewheeling Si diodes [2]	4	5.8 [1 diode + 1 IGBT]	High
	Back-to-back symmetric Si IGBTs [3]	2	2.2 [1 symmetric IGBT]	Very High
Q1 g c Q2 □ J 4 I 5 I 4 C 0 I 4 J 5 I 4 C 0 I 4 J 0 D1 D2	SiC Power MOSFETs + JBS diodes [4]	4	3.1 [1 diode + 1 MOSFET]	Low
	Back-to-back SiC Power MOSFETs + antiparallel and series JBS diodes [5]	6	3.1 [1 diode + 1 MOSFET]	Low

Table 2.4: Comparison of fabricated 1.2kV 20A bidirectional switch implementations[99].

In 2020, the 1.2 kV 4H-SiC Bi-Directional FETs with integrated JBS diodes and 4-terminal monolithic 4H-SiC BiDFETs with two integrated JBSFETs were fabricated. They package two discrete SiC power MOSFET bare-mode chips in a four-terminal custom-designed module. Compared with bidirectional switch implementations using discrete IGBT or MOSFETs shown in Table 2.4.2, a monolithic device integrating two JBSFETs has a much smaller on-state voltage drop of 1.0 V and low switch loss at 20 A [53].

2.4.3 Bidirectional switch configurations using normally-off GaN HEMTs

The vertical structure of MOSFETs/IGBTs makes it highly challenging for monolithic to place two FETs on a single chip and optimise the voltage ratings of devices with cost. However, it is not a limitation for lateral GaN HEMTs. In addition, the absence of body diodes makes it relatively easy to create a monolithic bidirectional GaN switch.

In 2007, Panasonic proposed the 650V $3.1 \text{m}\Omega \text{cm}^2$ monolithic AlGaN/GaN bidirectional switch using normally-off Gate Injection Transistors (GIT)[20]. Figure 2.4.6 shows the structure and equipment circuit of the AlGaN/GaN bidirectional switch. Monolithic integration of two GIT shares the drift region, effectively reducing the chip's overall size. As mentioned in the Section 2.2.6, gates on the P-GaN layer thicken the AlGaN layer to avoid carrier losses under the P-type region. Due to it has two gate to control the current conduction or blocking, it is called as monolithic dual-gate bidirectional GaN switches.



Figure 2.4.6: Schematic illustration of (a) a monolithic AlGaN/GaN bidirectional switch e and (b) the equivalent circuit[20].



Figure 2.4.7: (a) Output characteristics and (b) Off-state characteristics for monolithic AlGaN/GaN bidirectional switch[20].

From the IV characteristic curve of the monolithic AlGaN/GaN bidirectional switch shown in Figure 2.4.7(a), the on-state resistance is $3.1 \text{m}\Omega \text{cm}^2$ and the 650V Breakdown voltage was measured shown in Figure 2.4.7(b). It should be noticed that there is no off-set voltage in the conduction mode due to the absence of body diodes, which reduce switching losses. Similar to conventional GaN-based devices, it also has electric field management issues, as mentioned in Section 2.2.4, like the current collapse and the lack of high breakdown voltage.

In 2022, Innoscience launched the 40V GaN device platform and successfully imported the $4.8m\Omega$ bi-directional GaN-on-silicon HEMT (BiGaN) into Oppo and Realme mobile phone motherboards for efficient and more compact over-voltage-protection (OVP) systems. The
introduction of GaN technology in the smartphone itself for protection is a groundbreaking advancement, as previously, such circuits had to be integrated into the charger. This product is packaged in wafer-level chip-size packages (WLSCP) and is only 2.1 x 2.1 x 0.54 mm. Considering the space constraints on a mobile phone's circuit board, the small size is much more significant. Compared with back-to-back connected NMOS MOSFETs, it is reduced by 64%, and the peak power heating is reduced by 85%.

To realise the small size and the ultra-low on-state resistance, Innoscience's BiGaN HEMTs have a symmetrical structure with only one gate to achieve bi-directional current on/off control. For the single-gate bidirectional GaN switch, excessive gate leakage is a challenge. Innoscience employed the unique gate structure to achieve low gate leakage. As shown in Figure 2.4.8, the gate can be can be regarded as a back-to-back connected diode. Gate Metal(-)/P-GaN(+) is Schottky contact; The lower diode has a P-GaN(+)/AlGaN(-) junction structure. Through differentiated process steps and process control, the gate leakage of BiGaN is smaller than 3uA at 85°C[21]. The applications which Innoscience's BiGaN HEMTS targets, such as overvoltage protection circuits (OVP) for smartphone charging, high-side load switching circuits, and switching circuits for multi-power systems, require the ultra-low on-resistance to reduce conduction loss while loss induced by the gate leakage is not a key metric for these applications. On the other hand, it is wise to choose wafer-level chip size packages (WLSCP) as packages for BiGaN HEMTs. WLSCP is an important factor to realize the system miniaturisation since it has minimal parasitic resistance which helps to dissipate heat and reduce conduction losses.



Figure 2.4.8: The schematic diagram for the gate of Innoscience's BiGaN HEMT

In addition to dual-Gate or single gate bidirectional GaN switches, people are inspired by bidirectional switching technology using MOSFET/IGBTs. Figure 2.4.9(a) shows the fabricated AlGaN/GaN bi-directional switch with embedded diode bridges. It employs one normally-off AlGaN/GaN HEMT in Figure 2.4.9(b) as well as four embedded Schottky barrier diodes in Figure 2.4.9(c). Similar to the bidirectional switch configuration using the diode bridge and the single IGBT

transistor, it only requires one gate driver and minimizes parasitic resistance and inductance due to the diode embedment.



Figure 2.4.9: (a) Microscope image of fabricated diode bridge AlGaN/GaN-on-Si bi-directional switch, crosssectional schematics of (b) recessed MOSFET, and (c) SBD, and (d) equivalent circuit[100].

The output characteristic is shown in Figure 2.4.10(a) and inset figure(b) is off-state breakdown characteristics. There is the off-set voltage in forward and reverse conduction modes due to the turnon voltages of SBDs, which cause the undeserved conduction loss. It is necessary to employ SBD with lower work function metal, a recessed Schottky contact[101], or a gated ohmic anode[102] can significantly reduce the off-set voltage minimising the on-state conduction loss.



Figure 2.4.10: (a) The on-state and (b) (inset) off-state characteristics of the fabricated

The configurations employing two normally-off GaN-based reverse conduction MISHEMTs (RC-MISHEMTs) or reverse blocking MISHEMTs (RB-MISHEMTs) to realize the normally-off bidirectional switching have been developed. Figure 2.4.11(a) displays the cross-section of novel GaN-based RB-MISHEMTs and Figure 2.4.11(b) GaN-based RC-MISHEMTs. The GaN-based RB-MISHEMTs features a hybrid drain containing of Ohmic (Ohm-D) and recessed MIS structure (MIS-D). It forms a body diode. When the Drain voltage is smaller than the threshold voltage of diode, the 2DEG under MIS-D is depleted. The dielectric under MIS-D is high K which used to reduce the drain leakage and the turn on voltage of the body diode. Similar to RB-IGBT, two RB-MISHEMTs are connected in anti-parallel shown in Figure 2.4.12(a). The GaN-based RC-MISHEMTs MISHEMT features a hybrid source containing of a Schottky diode(Sch-S) between Gate and Drain. The bidirectional switches can be constructed by two anti-serially connected RC-MISHEMTs as shown in Figure 2.4.12(b).



Figure 2.4.11: The cross-section (a) GaN-based RB-MISHEMTs and (b) GaN-based RC-MISHEMTs



Figure 2.4.12: The Bidirectional switch configuration using (a) RB-MISHEMTs and (b) RC-MISHEMTs.

Figure 2.4.13 (a) and (b) display the simulated output characteristic of novel RB-MISHEMTs and RC-MISHEMTs in the forward conduction mode, respectively. There is the offset voltage for RB-

MISHEMTs for due to the turn-on voltages of body diode. Compared with the RB- MISHEMTs, RC-MISHEMTs has the higher on-state resistance due to the longer current path.



Figure 2.4.13: The simulated output characteristic of the Bidirectional switch using (a) RB-MISHEMTs and (b) RC-MISHEMTs.

The off-state characteristic of the Bidirectional switch using RB-MISHEMTs (Black lines) and RC-MISHEMTs (Red lines) are shown in Figure 2.4.14. The anti-serially connected RC-MISHEMT has the higher leakage due to the Source connected Schottky Contact (Sch-S in Figure 2.4.11). For the anti-parallel connected novel RB-MISHFETs, the on-off leakage is smaller due to the high K dielectric.



Figure 2.4.14: The simulated off-state characteristic of the Bidirectional switch using RB-MISHEMTs and RC-MISHEMTs

2.4.4 Bidirectional switch configurations using normally-on GaN HEMTs

The low threshold voltage is the significant limitation of Bidirectional switch configurations based on normally-off GaN technology. In some applications, the high threshold voltage is significant, which can prevent noise and false turn-on. In 2023, Transphorm demonstrated 60mΩ GaN-based integrated BPS with 4V threshold voltage assembled in a TO247 package. Figure 2.4.16(a) shows the simple cross-section and Figure 2.4.16(b) is the equivalent circuit of Thransphorm's integrated GaN FQS. The integrated GaN FQS has four terminals and consists of 3 components: two low-voltage Si MOSFETs and one bidirectional normally-on AlGaN/GaN HEMT. Two low-voltage Si-MOSFETs are employed to achieve the normally-off behaviour, because Power switches in power conversion applications must be normally-off for safety and reliability purposes. The bi-directional D-mode HEMT is the core of BPS, which allows the current conducts/blocks in both directions. The bidirectional D-mode GaN gates are connected to Si-MOSFETs Source, and its sources are connected to drains of Si-MOSFETs. Transphorm's integrated GaN FQS can be seen as two Cascodes in a common drain configuration, with eight operation modes under various bias conditions. Table 2.5 summarise operation modes of the integrated GaN FQS.



Figure 2.4.15:(a) Schematic of the cross-section (b) equivalent circuit schematic of Transphorm's integrated GaN FQS[22]

Bias Conditions		ons	The operation mode of integrated GaN FOS	
G1	G2	VT2T1		
OFF	OFF	>0 or <0	Off	
ON	ON	>0 or <0	ON	
OFF	ON	>0	OFF	
OFF	ON	<0	The current conducts from T1 to T2 with the body diode voltage drop of off Si-MOSFET	
ON	OFF	>0	The current conducts from T2 to T1 with the body diode voltage drop of off Si-MOSFET	
ON	OFF	<0	OFF	

Table 2.5: The operation mode of integrated GaN FQS

Similar to the Cascode, the threshold voltage of Si-FET determines the BPS's threshold voltage. The Si MOSFETs used in the integrated GaN FQS have a maximum gate voltage rating of $\pm 20V$ and a threshold voltage of 4V, resulting in a robust input interface. The on-state resistance and blocking capability depend on the bidirectional AlGaN/GaN HEMT. The bi-directional AlGaN/GaN HEMT can be seen as two back-to-back connected conventional AlGaN/GaN HEMTs sharing the drift region to reduce the on-state resistance. The on-state resistance of bidirectional AlGaN/GaN HEMT is about 40m Ω . Transphorm's FQS uses the Package on Package (POP) method and the TO247 to reduce parasitic impedance and switching loss. The typical Rdson of FQS is $60m\Omega[22]$. In addition, the symmetrical field plate is employed to reduce current collapse and enhance the block voltage. The asymmetrical field plate can be designed to achieve different blocking capabilities in different

directions. However, current collapse and a lack of high blocking voltage capability are also issues for bidirectional D-mode GaN HEMT, as mentioned in Sections 2.2.4 and 2.2.5.

To enhance breakdown voltage (BV) and to suppress current collapse, the normally-on GaNbased bidirectional Super Heterojunction Field Effect Transistors (BiSHFETs) using the PSJ concept on Sapphire Substrate were first demonstrated in 2012[103]. It integrates anti-series two PSJ HFETs in common-drain. Figure 2.4.16 shows the Schematic cross-section of BiSHFETs with (a) Metal Semiconductor (MES) and (b) PN junction gate structures. The 1µm-thick GaN/47nm-thick AlGaN/GaN double-heterostructure on 3" Sapphire substrates with an Al composition of 23%. An Mgdoped (3×10^{19} cm⁻³) p-GaN layer has been grown on the top undoped GaN layer. 2DHG and 2DEG are formed at the upper GaN/AlGaN and bottom AlGaN/GaN interfaces.

As the example of BiSHFETs with MES-gate (i.e. Schottky Gate), it has seven electrodes. In this study, base1(B1) and (B2) are ohmic contact to 2DHG and are connected with the adjacent Gate, as shown in Figure 2.4.16. Source1 (S1) and Source2 (S2) form ohmic contacts to 2DEG, while both gates are Schottky contacts. The floating metal (FM) is ohmic to 2DEG and prevents punch-through between the base electrode by acting as a channel stopper[103]. Thus, the BiSHFETs can be performed as four-terminal devices. Similar to the unidirectional PSJ HFETs, BiSHFETs are normally-on devices. The on-state current can flow through the 2DEG channel in both directions and is controlled by gate electrodes. Figure 2.4.17 shows the measured (a) I_s-V_{s1s2} characteristics and (b) transfer characteristics of fabricated BiHFETs with MES gate and PN gate in both directions[103].



Figure 2.4.16: Schematic cross-section of BiSHFETs with (a) MES-gate and (b) PN-gate structures.



Figure 2.4.17: (a) Measured Is-Vs1s2 characteristics and (b) measured transfer characteristics of fabricated BiHFETs in both directions[103].

In the off-state, 2DEG and 2DHG can be depleted under the gate region due to the charge balance. The voltage almost uniformly drops over the PSJ region of one of anti-parallel two PSJ HFETs. It is similar to unidirectional devices in that the length devices determine the breakdown voltage.



Figure 2.4.18: Simulated contour plots of electrical potential in (a) Forward region (FR) and (b) Reverse Region (RV).

2.5 Transfer Length Method (TLM)

The total resistance (R_T) of lateral semiconductor power device can be divided into three components: The semiconductor resistance (R_{semi}), contact resistance (R_c) due to the contact metal and the metal resistivity (R_m) associated with the metal / semiconductor interface. Since the metal resistivity (R_m) is tiny which can be ignored, the total on-state resistance can be expressed by the below equation:

$$R_T = 2R_m + 2R_c + R_{\text{semi}} \approx 2R_c + R_{\text{semi}} (R_m \ll R_c)$$
 ------ (2.18)

The source/drain contact resistance is an important criterion and is always monitored to evaluate ohmic contact and process stability in GaN industry. The high contact resistance can cause the significant voltage drops and heating in the circuits with the high current. Transfer Length Method (TLM) is a common method to extract the contact resistance. The typical arrangement for a TLM test pattern is shown in Figure 2.5.1. The grey region is the contact area with the uniform doping concentration while five brown square is ohmic contacts separated by various distances (L) is on the top of the active region. The width of contacts is W. Applying a voltage to one contact and keeping all details the same, the total resistance R_T between pairs of contacts with different distance can be measured with the four-point-probe or van der Pauw methods. The contact resistance depends on the size of the contact. However, in practice, the physical contact area is not usually equal to the effective contact area.



Figure 2.5.1: The typical arrangement for a TLM test pattern



Figure 2.5.2: The cross-section of two adjacent contacts with the effective length

For a planar geometry, the current flows into/out the contact is not uniform because of the current crowding. Moving far away from the edge of the contact, the current drops to zero in an exponential fashion with the effective length L_T , shown in Figure 2.5.2. L_T is known as the transfer length and equals to[104]:

$$L_T = \sqrt{\frac{\rho_c}{R_s}} \quad ----- (2.19)$$

Where ρc is contact resistivity and R_s is the sheet resistance.

Thus, the effective area of the contact (Ac) is L_T W. And the contact resistance (Rc) can be written in:

The semiconductor resistance R_{semi} equals to $\frac{R_{sL}}{W}$ and the total resistance R_T equals to:

$$R_T = 2R_c + R_{semi} = 2 * \frac{R_s L_T}{W} + \frac{R_s L}{W} = \frac{R_s}{W} (2L_T + L)$$
 (2.21)

According to **Error! Reference source not found.**, from the plot of R_T versus distance (L) shown in Figure 2.5.3, the sheet resistance (R_s), the contact resistance(Rc), the effective length (L_T) and contact resistivity (ρc) can be measured.



Figure 2.5.3: The total resistance (Rc) vs the distance (L)[104]

The residual resistance would be just twice the contact resistance Rc if distance(L) is limited to 0. The transfer length L_T is the half of the intercept by extrapolating back to the horizontal axis. And the sheet resistance Rs can be extracted from the slope of the line and equals to:

$$R_s = slope * W \quad ----- (2.27)$$

The contact resistivity ρc , the main parameter characterized the ohmic contact, can be derived from **Error! Reference source not found.** and equals to:

$$\rho c = R c L_T W \qquad -----(2.28)$$

2.6 Summary

This chapter introduces and discusses the intrinsic material properties of GaN in wurtzite structure, including spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization. The polarization engineering of 2DEG and 2DHG is concerned. The discovery of a high-density and high-mobility 2DEG spontaneously induced at AlGaN/GaN hetero-interface promotes the development of AlGaN/GaN High Electron Mobility Transistor (HEMT) Technology. The operating principles of the conventional lateral GaN-HEMTs are presented, as well as electric profile issues. A brief review of Field-Plate and Gate Injection Transistor technologies is provided, which are adopted as solutions for high-voltage devices in lateral GaN-based devices. Then, this chapter introduces the recently adopted PSJ technologies, as well as physical mechanisms and electrical characteristics. Compared with conventional lateral AlGaN/GaN devices, PSJ structure can improve the breakdown voltage. Last, it provides a brief view of common Bidirectional Power Switch (BPS) using discrete unidirectional devices and monolithic GaN-based BPS.

Chapter 3: Compact Monolithic Bidirectional PSJ HFETs

In 2012 GaN-based bidirectional Super Heterojunction Field Effect Transistors (BiSHFETs) using the PSJ concept were first demonstrated, integrating anti-series two PSJ HFETs in commondrain[103]. This chapter proposes the compact monolithic Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate (Bi PSJ SG HFETs) and ohmic Gate (Bi PSJ OG HFETs). Compared with BiSHFETs, devices reduce the overall size by cancelling the drain electrode located in the middle and two anti-connected PSJ HFETs share the same drift region. It introduces the fundamental structure and operation mode of Bi PSJ HFETs. Bi PSJ HFETs are simulated to get insight into the physical mechanisms and electrical characteristics of the devices. On the basis of the simulation results, test structures, large area devices, and process control monitor (PCM) designs will be designed.

3.1 Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate

3.1.1 Device structure

Figure 3.1.1(a) shows a simplified cross-section of Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate (Bi PSJ SG HFETs). It can be seen as anti-series connections of two normally-on PSJ SG HFETs, which share the same drift region. As shown in Figure 3.1.1(a), the basic structure of the Bi PSJ HFET arises from GaN/AlGaN/GaN double heterostructures, which employ an inherent charge balance in the PSJ region. It is a symmetrical device with six electrodes. There are two source electrodes (S1 and S2), two base electrodes (B1 and B2), and two gate electrodes (G1 and G2). S1 and S2 form ohmic contacts to 2DEG, while G1 and G2 form Schottky contacts. Two base electrodes (B1 and B2) are ohmic to 2DHG and can be connected to the sources (S1 and S2) or the gates (G1 and G2) to form four-terminal devices. The Device with Schottky Gate can present an inherent body diode so that it can display reverse conducting properties when bases are connected with nearby sources or gates. The distance between two base electrodes is defined as the length of the PSJ region (L_{PSJ}). Similar to unidirectional PSJ HFETs, the L_{PSJ} is used to support the forward blocking voltage and can be scaled up directly as a function of its length ([83], [88]). Base (B1 and B2) electrodes in the simulation are connected to the adjacent sources acting as a four-terminal device, as the equivalent circuit shown in Figure 3.1.1(b).



Figure 3.1.1:(a) The cross-section of Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate. (b) The equivalent circuit of Bi PSJ SG HFETs

3.1.2 Device simulation

Figure 3.1.2 shows the simulation structure of Bi PSJ SG HFETs. An un-doped GaN/AlGaN/GaN double heterostructures have been grown on the sapphire substrate. It consists of an 800nm-thick undoped GaN layer (u-GaN), a 47nm-thick un-doped AlGaN layer with a 23% Al composition and a 20nm-thick un-doped GaN layer. In a similar manner as PSJ devices, 2DEG and 2DHG are spontaneously formed at the AlGaN/GaN and GaN/AlGaN interfaces and keep the charge balance due to polarization charges at zero bias [85]. A 17nm-thick p-type doped GaN cap (P-GaN) layer with $5 \times 10^{19} cm^{-3}$ and a 3nm-thick P-GaN layer with $2 \times 10^{20} cm^{-3}$ have been grown on u-GaN, which enable Bases as ohmic contacts to 2DHG. Mg dopants do not influence the calculation of 2DEG and 2DHG as Mg active percentage is estimated 1% at 300K [88].

Similar to typical bidirectional switchers, it can conduct the on-state current in both directions and works in the first and third quadrants. For the convenience of description, according to a condition of Source 2 voltage with respect to Source1 voltage (V_{s2s1}), electrical characteristics can be divided into two regions, which are defined as 'Forward Region' (i.e. The first quadrant) and 'Reverse Region' (i.e. The third quadrant), as shown in Figure 3.1.3. Here, the 'forward' refers to the S2 voltage being positive with respect to S1 ($V_{s2s1}>0$), and the 'reverse' refers to V_{s2s1} as negative ($V_{s2s1}<0$).



Figure 3.1.2: The cross-section of simulated Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate. c



Figure 3.1.3: 'Forward region' and 'Reverse region' defined according to Vs2s1.

TCAD Silvaco Atlas physics-based device simulation software is used in this chapter to simulate the performance of Bi PSJ HFETs. The main models with their descriptions used in the simulation work are shown in Table 3.1.

Statement:	Description		
CONSRH	Specifying concentration-dependent lifetime		
AUGER	Specifying Auger recombination.		
FERMIDIRAC	Specifying that Fermi-Dirac carrier statistics be used.		
POLARIZATION	Specifying Polarization and Piezoelectric Effects		
POLAR.SCALE	Specifying a constant scale factor multiplied by the		
	calculated spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization		
	charges.		
CALC.STRAIN	Specifying that the strain in the region is calculated from the		
	lattice mismatch with adjacent regions.		
ALBRCT.N	Enable the Albrecht mobility model.		
GANSAT.N	Turns on the Nitride Field-Dependent mobility model for		
	electrons.		
LAT.TEMP	Specifying that the lattice temperature equation will be		
	solved.		
	Numerical method:		
NEWTON	Specifying that Newton's method will be used as the solution		
	method.		

Table 3.1: Models and Parameters used in Silvaco TCAD simulation[105].

3.1.3 Input characteristics

The transfer characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with various L_{PSJ} in both directions obtained via numerical simulation are plotted in Figure 3.1.4(a)-(b) with the simplified testing circuit. In the Forward Region ($V_{s2s1}>0V$), G2 is connected with S2. Applying with Gate voltage from 0V to -10V, Bi PSJ SG HFETs turn off at around -6V for different PSJ lengths. In the Reverse Region ($V_{s2s1}<0V$), G1 is connected with S1, as the testing circuit shown in Figure 3.1.4(b). Applying the Source voltage V_{s2s1} of -10V, the source current flows from S1 to S2 and cut off around -6V of V_{g2s2} . The Simulated reverse characteristics of I_{s2s1} - V_{s2s1} are identical to that in the forward region because Bi PSJ SG HFETs have a symmetrical structure.



Figure 3.1.4: Transfer characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with various L_{PSJ} in (a) Forward Region and (b) Reverse region with relative testing circuits.

3.1.4 Output I-V Characteristics

Figure 3.1.5 shows simulated symmetrical I_{s2}-V_{s2s1} characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with 40 μ m-L_{PSJ} working in both directions. In the forward region, Gate2 is connected to adjacent S2 (V_{g2s2}=0V) while the Voltage of Gate1 changes from -6V to 0V with a 1V step, as shown in the inset circuit in Figure 3.1.5. According to Figure 3.1.4, PSJ SG HFETs has the negative threshold voltage of -6V. Therefore, PSJ SG HFET on the right-side is turned on due to V_{g2s2}=0V. In a manner similar to a conventional HFET, the forward current I_{s2} flows from S2 to S1 through the 2DEG and is controlled by Gate1 voltage (V_{g1s1}). As V_{g1s1} reduces to less than -6 V, the device enters off-state. The simulated forward on-state resistance (R_{on}) for L_{PSJ}=40 μ m is 34.6 mΩ.mm at V_{s2s1}=1V, V_{g1s1}=0V. In the reverse region, Gate1 is connected with Source1. PSJ SG HFET on the right-side is turned on due to 0V V_{g1s1} is large than V_{th}. Simulated reverse characteristics of I_{s2}-V_{s2s1} are identical to that of forward because Bi PSJ SG HFETs.



Figure 3.1.5: Simulated Is-Vs2s1 characteristic of Bi PSJ SG HFETs in both conditions.

Figure 3.1.6 shows the I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with various L_{PSJ} in both directions when $V_{g1s1}=0V$, $V_{g2s2}=0V$. The current density decreases with increasing the L_{PSJ} due to the 2DEG channel resistance is proportion to the L_{PSJ} .



Figure 3.1.6: Simulated Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with various L_{PSJ} in both directions when Vg1s1=0V, Vg2s2=0V.

According to Figure 3.1.5, the behaviour of Bi PSJ SG HFETs can be summarised in Table 3.2.

Bias conditio	Device State		
V _{s2s1}	Vg1s1	Vg2s2	
V _{s2s1} >0	On	On	On
(Forward Region)	Off		Off
V _{s2s1} <0		On	On
(Reverse Region)	On	Off	Off

 Table 3.2: Summarised device behaviours.

When one of PSJ SG HFETs in Bi PSJ SG HFETs turns off by applying a negative voltage smaller than the threshold voltage, devices behave as a diode. Figure 3.1.7 shows the simulated I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics are obtained when keeping a negative Gate2 voltage with respect to Source2 at - $9V(V_{g2s2}=-9V)$ in the forward region while keeping $V_{g1s1}=-9V$ in the reverse region. Although the onstate voltage increases, the source current I_{s2s1} in the forward and reverse bias condition is successfully controlled by Gate1 voltage (V_{g1s1}) and Gate2 voltage (V_{g2s2}). The main reason for the increased 'forward' on-state voltage is that the 2DEG under Gate2 is fully depleted when Gate2 voltage applies with a negative voltage smaller than the threshold voltage. Therefore, the region under Gate2 performs as a diode depletion region. The calculated 'forward' on-state voltages (V_{on})at $I_{s2} = 10$ mA/mm is 0.4 V ($V_{g2s2} = 0$ V) and 3.1 V ($V_{g2s2} = -9$ V), respectively. Figure 3.1.8 shows the I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics when $V_{g2s2} = -9$ V, $V_{g1s1}=0$ V in the Forward region and $V_{g1s1} = -9$ V, $V_{g2s2}=0$ V in the Reverse region with different L_{PSJ} . The forward IV curves show a decreasing trend toward L_{PSJ} due to the 2DEG Resistance increases, while the on-state voltage keeps constant for various L_{PSJ} .



Figure 3.1.7: Simulated Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with 40um-Lpsj when one PSJ SG HFETs turned off.



Figure 3.1.8: The simulated Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with various L_{PSJ} in both directions when one PSJ SG HFETs turned off.

Under these bias conditions shown in Figure 3.1.8, the Device's behaviour can be summarised in Table 3.3.

Bias conditio	Device State		
V _{s2s1}	Vglsl	V _{g2s2}	
V _{s2s1} >0	On		On (Von increase)
(Forward Region)	Off	Off	Off
V _{s2s1} <0		On	On (Von increase)
(Reverse Region)	Off	Off	Off

Table 3.3: Summarised device behaviours of Bi PSJ SG HFETs

3.1.5 Voltage Blocking Capability

In the 'forward' off-state, G2 and S2 are connected as 'Drain' of three-terminal devices under a forward bias of V_{s2s1} , as a unidirectional PSJ SG HFET. G1 is applied with -15V to cut off the 2DEG channel, as shown in Figure 3.1.9(a). In the reverse region, G1 and S1 are connected, and G2 is applied with negative voltage to turn off the devices shown in Figure 3.1.9(b).



Figure 3.1.9: Simulated testing circuit in (a) Forward Region and (b) Reverse region during off-state.

During off-state, the 2DHG and 2DEG of Bi PSJ SG HFETs are discharged through Base and 'Drain', respectively. The drift region between two bases of the Bi PSJ SG HFET is depleted, thus, electrical field distribution over this region. The 1-D Electric Field along the x-coordinate at a position identified by the black dotted line (A-A') before the breakdown is shown in Figure 3.1.10 under the forward bias. As shown in Figure 3.1.10, the electric field is over the PSJ region, and the breakdown occurs at the edge of the Base.

Simulated off-state I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs various L_{PSJ} in an ideal case are demonstrated in Figure 3.1.11. It shows a linear relationship between breakdown voltage and PSJ length, similar to results on unidirectional PSJ HFETs.



Figure 3.1.10: Simulated 1-D off-state electric field distribution of Bi PSJ SG HFETs at the black dotted line (A-A') with Vg1s1 = -15V in the forward region before the breakdown.



Figure 3.1.11: Simulated off-state Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics for both polarities.

The simulated off-state Is2-Vs2s1 shows both types of Bi PSJ HFET with a 40 μ m length can withstand the voltage well above 8 kV in an ideal conditions. Previous results on unidirectional PSJ HFETs show a linear relationship between breakdown voltage and PSJ length([88],[85]). Based on this, conservatively, it can be estimated that BV increases by 500 V for every 5 μ m increase in L_{PSJ}. Considering that the measured BV is around 2.5kV for a unidirectional PSJ HFET with 20 μ m-L_{PSJ} on Sapphire[88], a bidirectional device with a 40 μ m-L_{PSJ} can be reasonably expected to withstand the voltage well above 3.3 kV.

3.1.6 Bidirectional behaviour of Bi PSJ SG HFETs

According to the simulated results, the operation behaviour of bidirectional PSJ Schottky Gate HFETs in various bias conditions can be summarised in Table 3.4, which is in agreement with the simulation results of BiSHFETs reported in 2012[5]. When V_{s2s1} is positive, Bi PSJ SG HFETs are controlled by Gate 1, while they are controlled by Gate 2 in a reverse bias condition.

	V_{gl}	V_{g2}	Mode		
С	D FF	OFF	S1	٦	Bidirectional
C	N	ON	<u> </u>	}	Switch mode
С	DN	OFF	—₩—	ſ	Diode mode
С	DFF	ON	—▶—	ſ	Diode mode

Table 3.4: Summarised device behaviours in various bias conditions.

3.2 Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate

The cross-section of Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate is presented in Figure 3.2.1(a). It can be seen as two anti-parallel PSJ OG HFETs sharing the same L_{PSJ}. It has only four electrodes, two gate electrodes (G1 and G2) and two source electrodes (S1 and S2). Two gates (G1 and G2) on P-GaN have ohmic characteristics to 2DHG. S1 and S2 form ohmic contacts to 2DEG. Figure 3.2.1(b) shows the equivalent circuit of Bi PSJ OG HFETs. Similarly, the on-state current follows through the 2DEG channel in both directions. In off-state, 2DHG and 2DEG between Gate electrodes are depleted. Therefore, the current track is cut off, and the devices turn off. It should be noted that there is a 2DHG channel connecting two gates. In the ideal off-state, 2DHG is depleted by the 2DEG and the mobility of 2DHG is much low around $10~20cm^2/V.s$, the leakage through two gates is smaller.



Figure 3.2.1: (a)The cross-section of Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate. (b) The equivalent circuit of Bi PSJ OG HFETs

3.2.1 Device simulation

Figure 3.2.2 shows the simulation structure of Bi PSJ SG HFETs. It consists of an 800nm-thick undoped GaN layer (u-GaN), a 47nm-thick un-doped AlGaN layer with an Al composition of 23%, and a 20nm-thick un-doped GaN layer. A 17nm-thick p-type doped GaN cap (P-GaN) layer with $5 \times 10^{19} cm^{-3}$ and a 3nm-thick P-GaN layer with $2 \times 10^{20} cm^{-3}$ have been grown on u-GaN, which enables an ohmic contact to 2DHG. The simulation software is TCAD Silvaco Atlas and the Simulation settings have been introduced in Section 3.1.2.



Figure 3.2.2: The cross-section of simulated Bidirectional PSJ OG HFETs. Dimension in µm.

Under different gate bias conditions, Bi PSJ OG HFETs can be operated as unidirectional HFETs with/without Hybrid Drain-embedded Gate Injection Transistor (HD-GIT) mode and diodes in both directions. Take the device working in the forward region as an example,

Table 3.5: Operation of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with different gate bias conditions

Gate bias conditions	Operation mode
G2 is floating	Conventional PSJ OG HFETs
G2 is connecting with S2 ($V_{g2s2}=0v$)	PSJ OG HFETs with Hybrid Drain-embedded
	Gate Injection Transistor (HD-GIT).
$V_{g2s2} \leq V_{th}$	Diode

For HD-GIT mode, S2 is incorporated with G2 on the P-GaN layer as the 'Drain' of a PSJ HFET. When 'Drain' voltage increases during on-state, holes are injected into the GaN device that releases the trapped electrons instantaneously, which increases the current density and reduces the onstate resistance compared with conventional PSJ HFETs. The following simulation results focus on the Bi PSJ OG HFETs acting as unidirectional PSJ OG HFETs with HD-GIT mode and diodes in both polar.

3.2.2 Input characteristics

Figure 3.2.3 shows simulated input $V_{g1}(V_{g2})$ -I_{s2s1} characteristics of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with HD-GIT. The PSJ length alters from 5µm to 40µm. The threshold voltage is around -6.5V, lower than Bi PSJ SG HFETs. It means the controllability is better for an SG design



Figure 3.2.3: Transfer characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with various L_{PSJ} in both polar.

3.2.3 Output I-V Characteristics

Figure 3.2.4(a)-(b) show I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics of Bi PSJ HFETs with Ohmic gate working in the first and third quadrant. The length of L_{psj} is 40um. The bias conditions are set as the same as that for Bi PSJ SG HFETs. When Vs2s1 is positive, Bi PSJ HFETs are controlled by Gate 1, while Bi PSJ HFETs are controlled by Gate 2 in a reverse bias condition. The On-state Resistance Ron of the Bi PSJ OG HFET calculated from Figure 3.2.4(a) is 31.1m Ω .mm at V_{s2s1}=1V, V_{g1s1}=0V. When Gate1 voltage is smaller than -6.5V, Bi PSJ OG HFETs enter off-state.

The simulated current shown in Figure 3.2.4(b) is obtained by keeping the Gate 2 voltage with respect to Source2 voltage at -9V (V_{g2s2} =-9V) in the forward region and keeping V_{g2s2} = -9V in the reverse region. Bi PSJ OG HFETs works as a diode as mentioned before.



Figure 3.2.4: Simulated Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ HFETs with Ohmic gate working in both the first and third quadrants.

In the 'Forward Region' ($V_{s2s1}>0V$), keeping Gate 1 voltage at 0V and changing the negative voltage V_{g2s2} from -7V to -15V, the variation of on-state voltage of the Bi PSJ OG HFET with 40um-L_{psj} is shown in Figure 3.2.5(a). Differing from Bi PSJ SG HFETs, the on-state voltage of Bi PSJ OG HFETs depends on the V_{g2s2} in the Forward region, which goes up with the smaller V_{g2s2} . The increasing on-state voltage in Bi PSJ OG HFETs can be attributed to the depletion region being controlled by Ohmic Gate electrodes. Figure 3.2.5(b) demonstrates a linear relationship between negative V_{g2s2} and on-state voltage. The on-state voltage in the 'Reverse Region' ($V_{s2s1}<0V$) is identical to that of forward because Bi PSJ HFETs are symmetrical. Therefore, Bi PSJ OG HFETs can control the on-state voltage by changing V_{g2s2} in the 'Forward Region' and V_{g1s1} in the 'Reverse Region'. In addition, the on-state voltage determines by the surface trap and the work function of the ohmic gate.



Figure 3.2.5: The simulated on-state voltage of the Bi PSJ OG HFET with 40um-Lpsj when V_{g2s2} =-7~-15V, Vg1s1=0V in the forward region.

Figure 3.2.6 shows the I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with different PSJ lengths from 5µm to 40µm acting as PSJ FEHTs with HD-GIT and diode mode, respectively. Compared with Bi PSJ SG HFETs, OG structure with the same L_{PSJ} has a higher current density due to the shorter distance between S1 and S2.



Figure 3.2.6: The I_{s2}-V_{s2s1} characteristics of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with different PSJ lengths from 5μm to 40μm under two bias conditions

According to the simulated results, the function of bidirectional PSJ Schottky Gate HFETs in various bias conditions can be summarised in Table 3.6.

	Bias conditions		Device State
Vs2s1	V _{g1s1}	V _{g2s2}	
Vs2s1>0	On	On	On
	On	Off	V _{on} increase
			(Controlled by Vg2)
	Off	On	Off
	Off	Off	Off
Vs2s1<0	On	On	On
	On	Off	Off
	Off	On	V _{on increase}
			(Controlled by Vg1)
	Off	Off	Off

Table 3.6: Summarised device behaviours of Bi PSJ SG HFETs

3.2.4 Voltage Blocking Capability

The Simulated forward off-state $I_{s2} - V_{s2s1}$ characteristics of the Bi PSJ OG HFETs with various L_{PSJ} are demonstrated in Figure 3.2.7. It shows that the breakdown voltage is almost identical in OG and SG PSJ HFETs, which are scaled up by the length of PSJ. Figure 3.2.8 shows the simulated 1-D off-state electric field distribution of Bi PSJ OG HFETs at the black dotted line (A-A') with $V_{g1s1} = -15V$ in the forward region before the breakdown. The simulated off-state Is2-Vs2s1 shows Bi PSJ SG HFET with a 40µm length can withstand the voltage well above 8 kV in an ideal condition. In any case, based on measured data of unidirectional PSJ HFETs with 40µm L_{PSJ} fabricated on Sapphire using similar material configurations, off-state performances in excess of 3.3 kV with 1MV/cm critical eletic field are reasonable. In addition, Figure 3.2.7 shows a snap-back behavior. This is due to the PN junction composed of 2DEG and 2DHG has the avalanche breakdown at the high drain voltage.



Figure 3.2.7: Simulated forward off-state Is2 -Vs2s1 characteristics of the Bi PSJ OG HFETs



Figure 3.2.8: Simulated 1-D off-state electric field distribution of Bi PSJ OG HFETs at the black dotted line (A-A').

3.3 Design for Bidirectional PSJ HFETs

3.3.1 Design Objectives

This project aims to validate the Bi PSJ HFETS concept and functionality with different gate polarity control. It mainly focuses on test structure. Meanwhile, it is the first time to design and fabricate large-area Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with high current capability on the 6" wafer. Device

design and measurements have been done in Sheffield. Innovate UK supports in sample fabrication work.

3.3.2 Mask design

The Mask design software used is Klayout. According to the process flow, twelve masks were required for device fabrication in this project, as shown in Table 3.7. the tones or polarities definition of the masks is separated into Light Field and Dark Field. Light Field mask tones are primarily transparent, and drawn features are opaque. Most of the area in a dark field mask is opaque and draws features that are clearly the opposite of the light field The minimum feature size and feasible misalignment are $+ 0.5\mu$ m for photolithography in this fabrication process. To reserve the margin, the design rule for minimum misalignment is identified as $+ 1\mu$ m.

Layer	Mask/GDS No.	Alias	Mask Tone
AM	0	Alignment Mark	Dark Field
ISO	1	Isolation Etch	Light Field
PE	2	P-GaN Etch	Light Field
ME	3	Mesa Etch	Light Field
NC	4	N Contact	Dark Field
PC	5	P Contact	Dark Field
V1	6	Via 1	Dark Field
M1	7	Metal 1	Dark Field
V2	8	Via 2	Dark Field
M2	9	Metal 2 seed	Dark Field
M2P	10	Metal 2 plated	Dark Field
Pad	11	Pad	Dark Field
PAS	12	Passivation	Dark Field

Table 3.7: Mask Information

Figure 3.3.1 (a) and (b) present design rules for the primary cell for large-area Bi PSJ SG HFETs, Bi PSJ OG HFETs, unidirectional PSJ OG HFETs and PSJ Diode with $15/20/40\mu$ m L_{PSJ}, respectively. In this work, the designed gate width was large enough to prevent breaking but increase the resistance under this region.



(a)



(b)



(c)



Figure 3.3.1: Feature size of (a) Bi PSJ SG HFETs basic cell (b) Bi PSJ OG PSJ basic cell (c) PSJ OG HFETs basic cell (d) PSJ Diodes basic cell.

3.3.3 Multi-finger layouts for large-area devices

In this project, large-area Bi PSJ HFETs are designed and fabricated to analyse device properties. The current capability of Bi PSJ HFETs was set to 1A,2A,5A and 10A. Similar to the typical large-area power GaN device layout, it employs multi-finger layouts, which can be seen as paralleling cells, for a high current rating. Figure 3.3.2 is the top view of a multi-finger layout for PSJ HFETs. Two Gate Pads and a Source pad are employed on one side of the device, while the Drain Pad is on the other. Metal tracks connect Gate, Source, and Drain Pad to corresponding electrodes in the Device's active area. Inescapable in this layout, the source metal layers will overlap the gate track. The air bridge and insulation layer are utilised to isolate the gate and source metal layers.



Figure 3.3.2: Top view of PSJ Multi-finger Layout

3.3.4 Current capability

For a multi-finger layout, it is essential to ensure that the fingers have sufficient current processing capacity and evenly distribute the current in each finger. Reliability of metallisation is the necessary factor. Material properties of metal, geometry, current level, metal deposition technique, and operating temperature are severe aspects that cause the Electromigration phenomenon.

Electromigration is a persistent issue for device fabrication. It is a cause for degradation in the power semiconductor device, leading to an increase in on-state resistance, connection loss and even device failure. Compared with other materials, Gold (Au) interconnects are commonly used which have a much better median time to failure and superior conductivity. Electromigration of Au interconnects active under the conditions of the current density of 2.0 MA/ cm² and ambient temperature of $325 \,^{\circ}\text{C} \sim 375 \,^{\circ}\text{C}[106][107][108]$. Regarding functionality and reliability in the operating range, the current densities close to $250 \,\text{kA/cm}^2$ are considered safe.

The primary challenge for multi-finger layout design is determining the fingers' size (width, length and thickness) and the cell number to achieve the desired current rating. Assume the overall current distribution in the Device is uniform and the current density (normalised to Gate Length) achievable at $V_{ds}=1V$ is estimated.

The effective gate length (mm) =
$$\frac{Current rating(A)}{normalised current density (mA/mm)}$$
 -----(3.1)

The finger length has been set in designs, so

The total cells=
$$\frac{The effective gate Length (mm)}{Finger length (mm)} -----(3.2)$$

These cells effectively operate in parallel.

Due to 1 Gate electrode for one cell and each Drain/Source electrode shared by two cells, The figure number of Source and Drain can be calculated by:

The Drain/Source number =
$$\frac{Cell number}{2}$$
-----(3.4)

Considering the Device's overall size and the long finger is easy to break midway, the effective gate length is set as 750µm,1000µm and 2800µm for different current ratings. The current density in each finger unit cell (normalised to gate width) is estimated at 30mA/mm.

The area size of the pad design is based on the package approach and wire-bonding facility. Typically, in the design of wire bonding for power semiconductor devices, the suggested pad area generally is 2-3 times for wedge bonding and 3-5 times for ball bonding. Therefore, the pad area of wire-bonded devices requires a minimum side length of 250µm.

3.3.5 Mask design for large-area devices

For large-area devices, it designs Bi PSJ SG HFETs and Bi PSJ OG HFETs with the other L_{PSJ} (15 µm, 20µm and 40µm) at current ratings (1A,2A, 5A and 10A), as shown in Table 3.8. Except for Bi PSJ HFETs, large-area PSJ HFETs and PSJ Diode are also designed in this project. Different finger length is designed for large-area devices under the consideration of the chip size and the finger quality. The mask layouts for some of the scaled-up devices have been shown in Figure 3.3.3.

Device	Lpsj (µm)	Current Rating (A)	Finger length (µm)
Bi PSJ SG HFETs		1	750
	15	5	2800
		10	2800
	20	1	750
	40	2	1000
Bi PSJ OG HFETs		1	750
	15	10	2800
	20	1	750
	40	2	1000
PSJ-FET	15	1	750
	40	1	750
		2	750
PSJ-Diode	15	1	750
	40	1	750
		2	750

Table 3.8: Mask information for large-area devices



Figure 3.3.3: Mask layouts (a) 1A rated Bi PSJ SG HFET (b) 1A rated Bi PSJ OG HFET (c) 1A rated PSJ HFET (d) 1A rated PSJ Diode.

3.3.6 Mask design for test structures

Device test structures included Schottky Barrier diode, PSJ Diodes, PSJ HFETs and PSJ Bidirectional HFETs with SG and OG. Figure 3.3.4 is the top view of the test structure for Bi PSJ HFETs with (a)Schottky Gate and (b) Ohmic Gate. Device test structures also include PSJ GaN-based HFETs and Diodes. In addition, some unique structures are designed for testing leakage currents, mobility, contact resistance and more.


Figure 3.3.4: The top view of the test structure for Bi PSJ HFETs with (a)Schottky Gate and (b) Ohmic Gate.

We also design different gate structures for Bi PSJ OG HFETs at the Mask level to research the influence of the gate structure on the leakage. Figure 3.3.5 shows the schematic of 4 gate structures of Bi PSJ OG HFETs. Change the alignment of the etched layers (ISO, ME and PE layers) while maintaining a micron gap between layers for alignment. The gate structure affects the control of the 2DHG for charge compensation and thus influences the leakage at high voltage. There is no relative experiment data shows which designs are better for PSJ HFETs. For large-area devices, designed gate structures are chosen Design 'PSJ-G1', i.e. PC layer inside the ISO layer while ME &PE extend the ISO layer. The main difference between (a)PSJ-G1 and (d) PSJ-G4 is where the red circle points. PSJ-G1 has the longer M1 layer used for Metalization gate electrodes.



Figure 3.3.5: The schematic of 4 gate structures of Bi PSJ OG HFETs

Some additional process test structures are shown in Figure 3.3.6, designed for evaluating the mobility, leakage, and contact resistance. The final mask layouts include two parts for the 6' wafer, shown in Figure 3.3.7.



Figure 3.3.6: Additional Process Test Structures for evaluating (a) mobility and capacitance (b) surface/buffer leakage (c) contact resistance



Figure 3.3.7: Final mask layouts

3.3.7 The overall process flow

The Bidirectional PSJ HFET with Schottky gate as the example, Table 3.9 shows the overall process flow.

No.	Stage	Mask	BI PSJ HEMT with Schottky Gate	BI PSJ HEMT with Ohmic Gate		
0	EPI		p++-GaN (3 nm Mg doped~2e20 <i>cm⁻³</i>) p+-GaN (17 nm Mg doped~5e19 <i>cm⁻³</i>) u-GaN (undoped, 20 nm) u-AlGaN (undoped, 47 nm, 23% Al)	p++-GaN (3 nm Mg doped~2e20 <i>cm</i> ⁻³) p+-GaN (17 nm Mg doped~5e19 <i>cm</i> ⁻³) u-GaN (undoped, 20 nm) u-AlGaN (undoped, 47 nm, 23% Al)		
			u-GaN (undoped, 0.8 µm) Nucleation Laver	u-GaN (undoped, 0.8 µm) Nucleation Layer		
			Sapphire (900 µm)	Sapphire (900 µm)		
1	Alignme nt Mark Etching	AM	p++-GaN (3 nm) p+-GaN (17 nm) u-GaN (20 nm) AlGaN (47 nm) u-GaN (0.8 μm)	p++-GaN (3 nm) p+-GaN (17 nm) u-GaN (20 nm) AlGaN (47 nm) u-GaN (0.8 μm)		

Table 3.9: The Proc	cess flow of BI PS.	I HEMT with Sc	hottky/Ohmic Gate



10	Metal 2	M2 & M2P	PH+ GaN P+ GaN (20 mm) μ-GaN (47 nm) μ-GaN (0.8 μm)	P++ GaN P+ GaN P+ GaN CaN P+ CaN CAN CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA CA

The final step is depositing a final insulator layer and open a window for the pad. The schematic of the final device cross-section and layout (serpentine gate) are presented in Figure 3.3.8.



Figure 3.3.8: Schematic of the cross-section for (a)BI PSJ SG HFET and (b)BI PSJ OG HEMT

3.4 Summary

The structure of Compact Monolithic Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate and Ohmic Gate was introduced initially in this chapter, as well as their operating mechanism. Results from numerical simulations were reported for Bi PSJ HFETs with various PSJ lengths operating under various bias conditions. It should be noted that the purpose of this chapter's simulation study is to gain a physical understanding of Bidirectional PSJ technology, as opposed to precisely replicating experimental results. Following that, the approach to device design rules and mask design for test structure and large-area devices are presented in detail. Chapter 4 presents performance measurement findings and an analysis of the functions that the manufactured devices behaved.

Chapter 4: Electrical Characterisation of Fabricated Bidirectional PSJ HFETs

This chapter details the performance and electrical characterisation results of fabricated test structures and various large-area bidirectional devices. The purpose of this project is to verify that Bi PSJ HFETs can achieve bidirectional switching through the control gate. Detailed analysis of the onstate behaviour of the fabricated Ohmic Gate (OG) and Schottky Gate (SG) PSJ HFETs is presented. We also built the analytical model of the on-state resistance of Bi PSJ HFETs to calculate and analyse its components. Future work requires optimal epitaxial structures to demonstrate high-voltage breakdown devices.

4.1 Fabricated Wafers and Devices

Figure 4.1.1: Pictures of 6" processed GaN-on-Sapphire wafer

It is the first time to design and fabricate PSJ large-area devices as well as the test group on the 6" processed GaN-on-Sapphire wafer, as shown in Figure 4.1.1. It includes Test Element Group, largearea unidirectional PSJ HFETs, large-area PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier Diode group and large-area Bidirectional devices. Black pads for devices shown in Figure 4.1.2 are gate pads for unidierectional PSJ HFETs and Bi PSJ HFETs due to passivation.



Figure 4.1.2: Top view of fabricated (a)Test Element Group, (b)large-area PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier Diode group, (c) large-area unidirection PSJ HFETs and large-area Bi PSJ HFETs.

4.2 Tests on GaN wafer

Compact Bi PSJ HFETs and PSJ devices with various current carrying capabilities are fabricated on the 6" GaN PSJ wafer, which epitaxy (Epi) is shown in Figure 4.2.1. It consists of an 0.8 μ m-thick undoped GaN buffer layer (u-GaN), a 47nm-thick un-doped AlGaN layer with an Al composition of 23%, and a 20nm-thick un-doped GaN layer. A 17nm-thick p-type doped GaN cap (P-GaN) layer with 5×10^{19} cm⁻³ and a 3nm-thick P-GaN layer with 2×10^{20} cm⁻³ have been grown on u-GaN, which enable an ohmic contact to 2DHG. Generally, the GaN buffer layer of GaN HEMTs is doped by acceptors like Carbon (C), which can help prevent leakage through the buffer region by lifting the GaN conduction band upwards by better confining the 2DEG channel and preventing the 2DEG spillover effect in the buffer. However, with doping, the GaN buffer defects increase. As discussed in Section 2.2.4, buffer traps trap electrons from the channel and thus leads to the current collapse phenomenon. It has been proven that the degradation of high-voltage AlGaN/GaN HEMTs is

closely related to the doping concentration and distribution in GaN buffer. In this study, in order to only observe the polarisation superfunction-related effects on 2DEG/2DHG charge control conventional background, Carbon acceptor doping is not used in the GaN buffer region.



Figure 4.2.1: Specification of Sapphire substrate GaN PSJ wafer

4.2.1 Buffer and Surface leakage



Figure 4.2.2: Measured buffer and surface leakage

Without C-doping in GaN buffer layer, the unintentionally doped buffer layer ends up slightly n-type and causes buffer leakage issues. Figure 4.2.2 shows the buffer leakage (Red Curve) and the surface leakage (Blue Curve) of the inset structure in Figure 4.2.2. The buffer leakage increase to 1mA/mm at 40V and then keeps constant. This buffer leakage is the dominant factor in the leakage current in the off-state for Bi PSJ HFETs. The surface leakage, associated with poor passivation, surface states and sidewall damage, is reasonably low, suggesting good process control. Future work is needed with the optimum epitaxial structure for demonstrating high-voltage breakdown devices.

Figure 4.2.3 shows the leakage between two electrodes on the p-GaN layer is small, about 19nA/mm at 100V. For Bi PSJ SG (OG) HFETs, 2DHG forms a channel between two bases (gates), which causes leakage during the off-state. Due to the low mobility of 2DHG, the measured current between electrodes is much low. In addition, the 2DHG will be depleted in the off-state by 2DEG.



Figure 4.2.3: The leakage between two electrodes on P-GaN layers

4.2.2 Evaluation of Effective Field-Effect Mobility of 2DEG

In the mask design, specific test structures are designed to test CV and evaluate mobility. Figure 4.2.4 presents the schematic of N-type FAT FET used to evaluate 2DEG mobility. The source and the Drain electrode are in ohmic contact with 2DEG, while gate is in Schottky Contact.



Figure 4.2.4: Schematic of N-type FAT FET.

The effective field-effect mobility is defined by Equation (4.1)[31]:

Field-effect mobility $\mu_{FE} = \frac{L \cdot g_m}{W \cdot c_i \cdot V_{DS}}$ -----(4.1)

Where L is the channel length, W is the channel width, g_m is the transconductor and C_i is the capacitance between the channel and gate per unit area.

The transconductance g_m is calculated from the I_d-V_g curve when V_{ds}=0.1V, as shown in the Figure 4.2.5(a). The low V_{ds} bias ensures the carrier is attracted by the electrical field. The Capacitance C_i measured is 12.6 pF at 1M Hz frequency by applying a negative voltage sweeping on the Schottky Gate, as shown in Figure 4.2.5(b). Around the threshold voltage(-6V), electrons in 2DEG are depleted dramatically. According to the equation of Capacitance (C=QV), changes in charge density lead to the accumulation in CV curve. Therefore, the effective mobility of DEG can be calculated, which is plotted in Figure 4.2.6. At Vg=0V, the 2DEG mobility is around 700V, which will be used to analyse the onstate behaviour of Bi PSJ HFETs.



Figure 4.2.5: The measured gm and Ci of n-type FATFET



Figure 4.2.6: The calculated effective Field-Effect Mobility of 2DEG.

4.3 Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate

Fabricated Bi PSJ SG HFETs on Sapphire substrate have four pads of Gate1, Gate2, Source1 and Source2. The metallization interconnects connected two bases to the adjacent source electrode in the mask level. Figure 4.3.1 shows the cross-section schematic of test structure of Bi PSJ SG HFETs.



Figure 4.3.1: Cross-section schematic of fabricated Bi PSJ SG HFETs



Figure 4.3.2: Measured Is-Vs1s2 characteristics of fabricated Bi PSJ SG HFETs 40µm-L_{PSJ} in both directions with various bias conditions

Page | 101

4.3.1 Electrical characterisation results

I-V Characteristics

Figure 4.3.2 shows I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics of the fabricated Bi PSJ SG HFET with 40µm-L_{PSJ} in both directions with various bias conditions at room temperature. The bias voltage settings are consistent with the simulation described in Chapter 4, as shown in the inset figures. (Vs2s1>0V), In Figure 4.3.2(a), results are obtained by G2 is connected to adjacent S2 (V_{g2s2}=0V) in the forward region while G1 is connected to adjacent S1 in the 'reverse' bais. The forward current I_{s2s1} flows from S2 to S1 through the 2DEG and is controlled by Gate1 and Gate2, respectively. As V_{g1s1} reduces to less than -6 V, the device enters off-state. Figure 4.3.2(b) shows the forward simulated Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics with a negative gate2 voltage V_{g2s2} of -9V (V_{g2s2}=-9V). The Bi PSJ SG HFET can operate as a diode in both directions, similar to the simulation results. Calculated on-state voltages at I_{s2} =10mA/mm are 0.8 V (V_{g2s2} = 0 V) and 2.2 V (V_{g2s2} = -9 V) in the 'forward Region' at room temperature.

Changing the V_{g2s2} from -7V to -15V, the Current I_{s2s1} can be measured at V_{g1s1}=0V in the forward region. The on-state voltage keeps constant and is around 2.2V at 10mA/mm, regardless of V_{g2s2}, as shown in Figure 4.3.3, because the base is connected with the nearby source. Therefore, the depletion region under the gate can not change.



Figure 4.3.3: The Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFET in the 'Forward' Region by changing Vg2s2 from -7V to -12V.



Figure 4.3.4: Measured temperature-dependent forward Is2s1-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi PSJ SG HFET with 40μm-L_{PSJ} at Vg2s2=0, Vg1s1=0V.

The static 'forward' I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} of the Bi PSJ SG HFET with 40µm-L_{PSJ} is measured at high temperatures at $V_{g2s2}=0$, $V_{g1s1}=0V$ and is shown in Figure 4.3.4. The current I_{s2s1} drops as the temperature increases. The decline in current can be mostly a result of temperature fluctuations that reduce 2DEG mobility and raise phonon-dependent scattering.

The average variation in Ron.A of 8 samples of BI PSJ SG HFETs with 40 μ m-L_{PSJ} as a function of case temperatures are presented in Figure 4.3.5. The 'forward' specific on-state resistance (Ron.A) is calculated at Vs2s1 of 1V when V_{g2s2}=0V and V_{g1s1}=0V. When the temperature increases from 300K to 400K, Ron.A of Bi PSJ SG HFETs is found to increase from 65.24m Ω .cm² to 113.82m Ω .cm² in a linear relation since the scattering is higher at the higher temperature. The maximum discrepancy is within 5.31% of its mean value at 350K.



Figure 4.3.5: The average Ron. A of 8 fabricated Bi PSJ SG HFETs with 40um-LPSJ at a temperature from 300K to 400 K

Figure 4.3.6(a)-(b) shows the forward I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics with various L_{PSJ} performing as (a) HFETs and (b) diodes. With the increase of L_{PSJ}, the on-state R increases while Von keeps constant, which corresponds with the simulation results. Simulated reverse characteristics of I_{s1} -V_{s1s2} with V_{s2s1} < 0V are identical to that of forward because Bi PSJ SG HFETs have a symmetrical structure. The specific on-state resistance with various L_{PSJ} at room temperature can be calculated at 1mA/mm when V_{g1s1}=0V.



Figure 4.3.6: The measured *Is2-Vs2s1* characteristics with various LPSJ in the forward region at (a) Vg2s2=0V, Vg1s1=0V and (b)Vg2s2=-9V, vg1s1=0V.

The change in Ron.A vs L_{PSJ} for 8 samples with the error bars indicating standard deviations are presented in this Figure 4.3.7. The maximum discrepancy is within 7.37% of its mean value when L_{PSJ} =40µm. Analytical Modeling and detailed analysis on Ron.A of Bi PSJ HFETs will be introduced in next Section 4.3.2. The linear increase in the Ron.A as a function of the temperature of Bi PSJ HFETs as well as the on-state resistance versus L_{PSJ} show that the device can be scaled easily scaled in both voltage and currents.



Figure 4.3.7: The average Ron. A of 8 fabricated Bi PSJ SG HFETs with different L_{PSJ} at room temperature.

Input characteristics

The forward input characteristic of Bi PSJ HFETs with Schottky gate is plotted in Figure 4.3.8 with different PSJ lengths ($15\mu m$, $20\mu m$, and $40\mu m$). The threshold voltage of SG PSJ HFETs is around -5.7V.



Figure 4.3.8: The forward transfer characteristic of Bi PSJ HFETs with Schottky gate.

Off-state Leakage

A measured slightly high leakage current of around 6mA/mm at 200V under forward blocking conditions for Bi PSJ SG HFETs at 200V with various L_{PSJ} was plotted in Figure 4.3.9. Measured reverse characteristics of I_{s1} - V_{s1s2} with $V_{s2s1} < 0V$ are identical with that of forward. Equipment compliance limits further 'forward' blocking voltage measurement. As mentioned in Section 4.1.1, the leakage from S1 to S2 through the undoped GaN buffer layer is the main determining factor. Figure 4.3.10 shows the leakage I_{s2} , I_{s1} and I_{g1} of Bi PSJ SG HFET with 40µm- L_{PSJ} .



Figure 4.3.9: The leakage current of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with various LPSJ



Figure 4.3.10: The leakage Is2, Is1 and Ig1 of Bi PSJ SG HFET with 40µm-LPSJ.

4.3.2 Analysis in specific on-state resistance

In order to optimise the on-state performance of Bi PSJ HFETs, it is necessary to build the analytical models to investigate the Ron.A of Bi PSJ HFETs. Under on-state conditions, the source current flows through the 2DEG channel. According to differences in the sheet carrier density and the mobility of 2DEG and 2DHG, Bi PSJ SG HFETs can be divided into different areas.



Figure 4.3.11: Cross-section of Bi PSJ SG HFET with the divided region along the current path.

Along the dashed line in the current flow direction shown in Figure 4.3.11, Bi PSJ SG HFETs can be divided into seven regions: the PSJ region, channel regions, gap regions, and contact regions. Gap regions consist of 2 areas between the source and the adjacent gate. The regions under the bases are defined as channel regions, and the regions under the source electrodes are defined as contact regions. Therefore, the total specific on-state resistance (Ron.A) can be considered as the sum of the PSJ region resistance (R_{PSJ}), two channel region resistances (R_{ch}), and two gap region resistances (R_g) multiplies the device area (A) and then plus the contact resistivity (ρ_{conS1} and ρ_{conS2}), as shown in Equation (4.2).

$$\boldsymbol{R}_{on}\boldsymbol{A} = (\boldsymbol{R}_{PSJ} + 2\boldsymbol{R}_{ch} + 2\boldsymbol{R}_{g}) \times \boldsymbol{A} + \boldsymbol{\rho}_{conS1} + \boldsymbol{\rho}_{conS2} - \dots - (4.2)$$

The contact resistivity of the Source1 and the Source2 electrode (ρ_{conS1} and ρ_{conS2}) can be measured and calculated by the transmission line method (TLM), as shown in

$$\boldsymbol{\rho}_{conS1} = \boldsymbol{\rho}_{conS2} = \boldsymbol{R}_{c} \times \boldsymbol{L}_{T} \times \boldsymbol{W} = \boldsymbol{0}.\,\boldsymbol{26}\,\boldsymbol{m}\boldsymbol{\Omega} \cdot \boldsymbol{cm}^{2}\,\boldsymbol{\dots}\,\boldsymbol{(4.3)}$$

The resistance of other regions can be expressed as

$$R = \frac{L}{q\mu\sigma W} - (4.4)$$

Where **q** is the electron charge, **W** stands for the device width. μ stands for the mobility of 2DEG and σ is the 2DEG sheet density. **L** is the length of the corresponding region, which is shown in Figure 4.3.11.

In the calculation, the 2DEG mobility (μ) is set around 700cm²/Vs same as the measured value shown in Figure 4.2.6. Assuming the device width is constant, the resistance of the PSJ region, gap regions and channel regions are determined by the length (*L*) and the sheet density (σ) of each region.

The sheet density (σ) can be calculated using analytical models of sheet carrier densities in PSJ HFETs [88], influenced by the thickness of PSJ layers and Al mole fraction. The simplified expression for 2DEG sheet density(n_s) and 2DHG sheet density (ρ_s) is shown as Equation (4.5) and Equation(4.5), respectively[88].

$$\boldsymbol{n}_{\boldsymbol{s}} = \frac{\sigma_{AlGaN}}{e} - \frac{\phi_{n, \ GaN1} \cdot C_{GaN1}}{e^2} - \frac{C_{AlGaN} E_G}{e^2} - \dots - (4.5)$$
$$\boldsymbol{p}_{\boldsymbol{s}} = \frac{\sigma_{AlGaN}}{e} + \frac{\sigma_{p-GaN} \cdot C}{eC_{p-GaN}} - \frac{\phi_{p, \ p-GaN} \cdot C}{e^2} - \frac{C_{AlGaN} E_G}{e^2} - \dots - (4.6)$$

Where σ_{p-GaN} and σ_{AlGaN} are the surface sheet charge in p-GaN layer and AlGaN layer, respectively. σ_{AlGaN} is the sum of spontaneous polarisation charge (P_{sp}) and piezoelectric polarisation charge (P_{pz}). The bandgap of the GaN layer expressed in terms of E_G . $\phi_{p,p-GaN}$ is the valance band barrier height of the p-GaN cap and $\phi_{n,p-GaN}$ is the conduction band barrier height of the u-GaN₁ sub-layer. C (C=C_{p-GaN} + C_{GaN2},)represents the total unit area capacitance of the p-GaN and u-GaN₂ layers. C_{p-GaN}, C_{AlGaN} and C_{GaN1} are the unit area capacitance of p-GaN, AlGaN and u-GaN1 layer. Here, the unit area capacitance of each layer can be calculated by Equation (4.7).

$$\mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{layer}} = \frac{\varepsilon_{layer}}{t_{layer}} - \dots - (4.7)$$

Where \mathcal{E}_{layer} stands for the electric fields and t_{layer} is the thickness of the corresponding layers.

Table 4.1 shows the parameters and equations for calculating 2DEG and 2DHG sheet density. Considering that partial carriers are accelerated by the electric field and captured by traps, the sheet density of 2DEG is adjusted with experimental results.

Symbol	Unit	Value	
$\epsilon_{Al_xGa_{1-x}N}$		$8.5x\epsilon_0 + 8.9(1-x)\epsilon_0$	
ϵ_{GaN}		$8.9\epsilon_0$	
$E_g(Al_xGa_{1-x}N)$	eV	$E_g(AlN)x + E_g(GaN)(1-x) - 1.3x(1-x)$	
σ _{AlGaN}	C/m ²	$\left \Delta P_{sp}\right + \left \Delta P_{pz}\right $	
$P_{sp}(GaN)$	C/m ²	-0.034	
$P_{sp}(Al_xGa_{1-x}N)$	<i>C/m</i> ²	(-0.09x - 0.034(1 - x))	
$P_{pz}(Al_xGa_{1-x}N)$	C/m ²	$2\frac{a(x)-a_0}{a_0}\left(e_{31}-\frac{C_{13}}{C_{33}}e_{33}\right)$	
$a(Al_xGa_{1-x}N)$	Å	$a(Al_xGa_{1-x}N) = 3.112x + 3.189(1-x)$	
a ₀ (GaN)	Å	3.189	
e ₃₁	C/m ²	-0.53x - 0.34(1 - x)	
e ₃₃	C/m ²	1.5x + 0.67(1 - x)	
C ₁₃	Gpa	127x + 100(1 - x)	
C ₃₃	Gpa	<i>Gpa</i> $382x + 392(1 - x)$	
<i>m</i> ₀	kg 9.11 × 10 ⁻³¹		
$m_{e(Al_{\chi}Ga_{1-\chi}N)}$		$(0.314x + 0.2(1 - x))m_0$	
$m_{\mathrm{h}(Al_{\chi}Ga_{1-\chi}N)}$		$(0.417x + 1.0(1 - x))m_0$	
h $J \cdot s$ 1.05×10^{-34}		1.05×10^{-34}	

Table 4.1: parameters and equations for calculating Sheet density([33],[34],[35],[88]).

Figure 4.3.12 presents the calculated and measured Ron.A of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with L_{PSJ} from 5µm to 40µm at room temperature, as well as Ron.A of unidirectional PSJ Ohmic Gate HFETs (PSJ OG HFETs) from POWDEC.KK was reported in[88]. The identical Vg (Vg1) = 0V is applied to the

calculation and measurement. It can be found that calculated Ron.A of Bi PSJ SG HFETs fits well with the experimental results when varying PSJ length from 5 to 40µm. Factors like Structural misalignment, random measurement errors, and the assumption of constant mobility might contribute to the differences shown in Figure 4.3.12. In addition, it should be noted that the 2DEG mobility for each region is assumed as constant in calculations, unlike in actual devices, where it can be affected by some factors, such as charge concentration and electrical fields. Compared with Ron.A of PSJ OG HFETs, the resistance of 2 gap regions (Rg) and 2 channel regions (Rch) contribute to additional resistance for Bi PSJ SG HFETs, because of the non-uniform thickness of AlGaN layer and defects in AlGaN growth as well as long region length designed according to design rules. In addition, the low electron mobility is the reason for the high on-state resistance of Bi PSJ SG HFETs. It should be noticed that the epitaxial structure for Bi PSJ SG HFETs and PSJ OG HFETs is different. The lower on-state resistance can be obtained by improving the EPI structure and device structure.

Table 4.2 shows the calculated resistance component ratio to the total Ron.A of Bi PSJ SG HFETs with L_{PSJ} from 5µm to 40µm. With the decrease in L_{PSJ} , the percentage of Rch and Rg to the total Ron.A becomes large. In this project, the long channel region length and gap length are designed for alignment margin and to ensure electrodes of Base and Gate are wider enough not to destory, especially for large-area devices. For future work, the gap region and channel region can be reduced in the mask design which can reduce the on-state resistance.



Figure 4.3.12: The calculated and measured Ron.A of Bi PSJ SG HFETs and PSJ OG HFETs with LPSJ from 5µm to 40µm at room temperature.

Lpsj	Co	mponent F	Ratio (%)	ρ_{conS}	Ron.A
(µm)	R _{PSJ}	Rg	R _{ch}	$(m\Omega.cm^2)$	$(m\Omega.cm^2)$
5	10	46	44		21.07
10	19	42	40		25.91
15	26	38	36	0.26	31.26
20	32	35	33		37.12
40	48	27	25		65.64

Table 4.2: The calculated resistance component ratio to the total Ron.A of Bi PSJ SG HFETs.

4.3.3 Large-area Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Schottky Gate

I-V characteristics of large-area PSJ SG HFET with 15µm-L_{PSJ} in the first and third quadrant is shown in Figure 4.3.13. it is apparent that the device has symmetrical output current-voltage characteristics in both directions. In the design, the current density in each finger unit cell (normalised to gate width) is estimated at 30mA/mm. However, the measured current density is around 10mA/mm, which is the main factor that the large-area devices can not reach the desired current capability. In addition, the impedance of electrodes and the midway fracture also increase the on-state resistance. Figure 4.3.14 is measured Input characteristics with ~-6.3V threshold voltage, and Figure 4.3.15 presents the device leakage in both directions during off-state.





Figure 4.3.13: Measured I-V characteristics of large-area PSJ SG HFET with 15µm-LPSJ.

Figure 4.3.14: Measured Input characteristics of large-area PSJ SG HFET with 15µm-LPSJ



Figure 4.3.15: Measured off-state leakage of large-area PSJ SG HFET with 15µm-LPSJ.

4.4 Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate

Fabricated Bi PSJ OG HFETs on Sapphire substrate have four pads of Gate1, Gate2, Source1 and Source2. Figure 4.4.1 shows the cross-section schematic of fabricated Bi PSJ OG HFETs. As

mentioned in Section 3.2.1, Bi PSJ OG HFETs can be operated as unidirectional HFETs with/without HD-GIT mode and diodes in both directions under different gate bias conditions. Section 4.4.1 presents the electrical characteristics results of test structure Bi PSJ OG HFETs with Gate Design1 (PSJ-G1) working in the First and third quadrants as a diode and PSJ HD-GIT HFETs.



Figure 4.4.1: Cross-section schematic of fabricated Bi PSJ OG HFETs

4.4.1 Electrical characteristics results

I-V Characteristics

Figure 4.4.2 show I_{s2} - V_{s2s1} characteristics of Bi OG PSJ HFETs working in both the first and third quadrant under various bias conditions as a diode and PSJ HD-GIT HFETs. The length of L_{psj} is 15µm. When Vs2s1 is positive, Bi PSJ HFETs are controlled by Gate 1 while Bi PSJ HFETs are controlled by Gate 2 in a reverse bias condition. The Calculated Area Specific On-state Resistance (Ron.A) of the Bi PSJ OG HFET with 15µm-Lpsj is 20.53 m Ω .cm² at V_{s2s1}=1V, V_{g1s1}=0V. When Gate1 voltage is smaller than -7V, Bi PSJ OG HFETs enter off-state. Dash lines shown in the 'Forward Region' in Figure 4.4.2 are measured by keeping the Gate 2 voltage with respect to Source2 voltage at -9V (V_{g2s2}=-9V). Same as Bi PSJ SG HFETs, it shows that forward current can also be controlled by Gate1 voltage, although the on-state voltage (Von) increases.



Figure 4.4.2: The Is2-Vs2s1 characteristics of Bi OG PSJ HFETs in both polar under various bias conditions

In the 'Forward Region' ($V_{s2s1}>0V$), keeping Gate 1 voltage at 0V and changing the negative voltage V_{g2s2} from -7V to -15V, the variation of on-state voltage the Bi PSJ OG HFET with 15µm-L_{psj} is shown in Figure 4.4.3(a). Differing from Bi PSJ SG HFETs, the on-state voltage of Bi PSJ OG HFETs depends on the V_{g2s2} , which goes up with the smaller V_{g2s2} . The increasing on-state voltage in Bi PSJ OG HFETs can be attributed to the depletion region is controlled by Ohmic Gate electrodes. Figure 4.4.3(b) demonstrates a linear relationship between the negative voltage V_{g2s2} and on-state voltage, as similar to simulation results. The on-state voltage in the 'Reverse Region' ($V_{s2s1}<0V$) is identical to that of forward. Therefore, For Bi PSJ OG HFETs can control the on-state voltage by changing V_{g2s2} in the 'Forward Region' and V_{g1s1} in the 'Reverse Region'.



Figure 4.4.3: The variation of on-state voltage of the Bi PSJ OG HFET with 15µm-Lpsj when Vg2s2=-7V to -15V, Vg1s1=0V

Temperature-dependent forward $I_{s2s1}-V_{s2s1}$ characteristics at $V_{g2s2}=0, V_{g1s1}=0V$ are shown in Figure 4.4.4. Figure 4.4.5 shows the area-specific on-state resistance (Ron.A) of Bi PSJ OG HFETs versus the temperature from 25°C to 125°C. The length of PSJ is 5,10,15,20, and 40µm. It can be found that the L_{PSJ} and temperature are essential for on-state behaviour. With the temperature increased, Ron.A of Bi OG PSJ HFETs increase.







Figure 4.4.5: Calculated area-specific on-state resistance (Ron.A) of Bi PSJ OG HFETs versus the temperature from 25°C to 125°C



Input characteristics

Figure 4.4.6: Transfer characteristics of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15µm

Figure 4.4.3 shows transfer characteristics of fabricated Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15 μ m L_{PSJ}, Source current *I*_{s2} is successfully controlled by Gate1 voltage (V_{g1s1}) and Gate2 voltage in the forward region and reverse region, respectively. The threshold voltage V_{th} of Bi PSJ OG HFETs is about -6.7V in both directions. Similar to the Simulation results, OG structure has the lower threshold voltage Vth than that of SG structure, which means the controllability is better for an SG design.

Off-state leakage characteristics

Forward off-state leakage characteristics ($V_{g2s2} = -15V$) of Bi PSJ OG HFETS with different L_{PSJ} are plotted in Figure 4.4.7. Measured reverse characteristics of $I_{s1} - V_{s1s2}$ with $V_{s2s1} < 0V$ are identical with that of forward. Figure 4.4.8 shows the leakage Is2, Is1 and Ig1 of Bi PSJ OG HFET with 15µm-L_{PSJ}. At Vs2s1=200V, the measured device leakage is slightly high, around 8mA/mm. Similarly, the high device leakage is due to buffer leakage.



Figure 4.4.7: The leakage current of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with various LPSJ.



Figure 4.4.8: The leakage Is2, Is1 and Ig1 of Bi PSJ OG HFET with 15µm-LPSJ.

4.4.2 Analysis in specific on-state resistance

According to differences in the sheet carrier density and the mobility of 2DEG and 2DHG, Bi PSJ OG HFETs can be divided into 7 areas, as shown in Figure 4.4.9.



Figure 4.4.9: Schematics of device cross-section for calculating Ron.A of Bi PSJ OG HFET

In the similar manner, Bi PSJ OG HFETs can be divided into seven regions along the dashed line in the current flow direction shown in Figure 4.4.9, i.e. the PSJ region, channel regions, gap regions, and contact regions. The total specific on-state resistance be expressed at Equation (4.8)

$$R_{on}A = (R_{PSJ} + 2R_{ch} + 2R_g) \times A + \rho_{conS1} + \rho_{conS2} \qquad -----(4.8)$$

The contact resistivity of the Source1 and the Source2 electrode (ρ_{conS1} and ρ_{conS2}) is 0.26 m Ω ·cm² as the same that in Bi PSJ SG HFETs.

Assuming the device width is constant, the resistance of the PSJ region, gap regions and channel regions are determined by the length (L) and the sheet density (σ) of each region. The sheet density (σ) can be calculated by Equations (4.1) and (4.2). According to Equation (4.3), The resistance of other regions can be calculated with the measured 2DEG mobility(~700cm²/Vs) and calculated sheet density of 2DEG. It should be noted that the sheet density of 2DEG in PSJ OG HFETs is adjusted to fit with experimental results.

As presented in Figure 4.4.10, summarise the calculated and measured Ron.A for both PSJ SG HFETs and Bi OG HFETs. It can be found that analytical Ron.A of Bi PSJ HFETs are fitted with experimental results. Whether by calculation or measurement, it shows an upward linear trend with the increase in L_{PSJ}. In addition, Ron.A of Bi PSJ OG HFET is more significantly lower than that in PSJ SG HFETs when altering PSJ length because OG structure has low gap resistance (Rg) in the shorter gap region.

Table 4.3 shows each theoretical component ratio to the total Ron. It should be addressed that the resistance of the channel region is an essential factor to Ron. A of Bi PSJ OG HFETs. The channel region length leading to high Rch can be reduced and optimized in the future mask design.



Figure 4.4.10: Calculated and measured Ron.A of Bi PSJ HFETs with SG and OG at room

temperatures when V g1s1 =0V, Vg2s2=0V.

L _{PSJ}	Component Ratio (%)			ρ_{conS}	Ron.A
(µm)	R _{PSJ}	Rg	R _{ch}	$(m\Omega.cm^2)$	$(m\Omega.cm^2)$
5	17	14	69		11.35
10	28	12	60	0.26	15.17
15	37	38	36		19.58
20	44	9	46		24.59
40	61	7	32		50.55

Table 4.3: Each component ratio to the total Ron in the Analytical model of Bi PSJ OG HFETs.

4.4.3 Comparison of Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate with/without HD-GIT mode

When G2(G1) is floating in the forward (reverse) region, the Bi PSJ OG HFETs act as the conventional PSJ HFETs without HD-GIT. Figure 4.4.11 and Figure 4.4.12 compares the forward IV characteristic and input characteristics of PSJ HD-GIT and PSJ HFETs with 5μ m-L_{PSJ}. It can be found that PSJ HFETs with HD-GIT has a dramatic increase of electron density and the on-state current owing to the conductivity modulation by injecting holes from the p-GaN to the device that releases the trapped electrons in the surface and bulk instantaneously.



Figure 4.4.11: IV characteristics comparison of Bi PSJ HFETS with /without HD-GIT mode.



Figure 4.4.12: Input characteristics comparison of Bi PSJ HFETS with /without HD-GIT mode.

4.4.4 Gate structure design

As described in Figure 4.4.13, there are four gate designs, including (a)PSJ-G1, (b)PSJ-G2, (c)PSJ-G3 and (d)PSJ-G4, that change the misalignment between the etch layers.



Figure 4.4.13: Schematic gate structures for Bi PSJ OG HFETs

Figure 4.4.14 shows the transfer characteristics comparison of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15 μ m-L_{PSJ} in 4 gate designs. The threshold voltage is similar at -6.7V, regardless of gate designs. The main difference is that the Is2s1 increases when the Vs2s1 increases from 1V to 5V in the turn-off.

Figure 4.4.15 plots the I_{s2s1} - V_{s2s1} curves of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15µm- L_{PSJ} in both directions. The measured forward on-state of 4 gate designs at Vs2s1=1V and Vg1s1=0V are 55.56 Ω /mm, 49.65 Ω /mm, 54.64 Ω /mm and 52.44 Ω /mm, respectively, with similar values. The difference occurs when the Gate voltage is smaller than the threshold voltage(-6.7V), as indicated in Figure 4.4.14. Devices with PSJ-G2 and PSJ-G3 have considerable current I_{s2s1} when the Gate1 voltage is smaller than the threshold voltage. Gate Design1(PSJ-G1) has the lowest on-state source voltage when $V_{g1s1}(V_{g2s2})$ <Vth.



Figure 4.4.14: Transfer characteristics comparison of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15µm-LPSJ in 4 gate designs.



Figure 4.4.15: Output characteristics comparison of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15µm-L_{PSJ} in 4 gate designs.

A comparison of forward off-state leakage for Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 4 gate structures is plotted in Figure 4.4.16. Figure 4.4.17 shows the average off-state leakage I_{s2s1} for eight samples of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15µm-L_{PSJ} with the error bars indicating standard deviations. Both devices with PSJ-G2 and PSJ-G3 have much high leakage because the 2DHG channel is shorter than 2DEG channel, which breaks the charge balance. Compared with PSJ-G4, PSJ-G1 with the longer metal gate electrode has the lowest device leakage when the V2s1 increase to 200V, which means the Design PSJ-G1 has better control of 2DHG.



Figure 4.4.16: Device leakage comparison of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15µm-L_{PSJ} in 4 gate designs.



Figure 4.4.17: Avergae leakage Is2s1 for 8 samples of Bi PSJ OG HFETs with 15µm-L_{PSJ}.

4.4.5 Large-area Bidirectional PSJ HFETs with Ohmic Gate

Figure 4.4.18 (a)-(b) shows the output and transfer electrical characteristics of large-area PSJ OG HFET with 15 μ m-L_{PSJ}. The device's threshold voltage (V_{th}) obtained from transfer characteristic is ~ - 6.7 V. Measured high off-state leakage of large-area PSJ OG HFET with 15 μ m-L_{PSJ} due to the high buffer leakage is shown in Figure 4.4.19.



Figure 4.4.18: Measured (a)I-V characteristics and (b) input characteristics of large-area PSJ OG HFET with 15µm-L_{PSJ}.


Figure 4.4.19: Measured off-state leakage of large-area PSJ OG HFET with 15µm-LPSJ.

4.5 Summary

Bi PSJ HFETs in test structure and large-area layout on 6' Sapphire are measured under different gate bias conditions and discussed in detail. Static electrical characterisations, including transfer, output, and off-state characteristics, are performed. Experimental data prove that both types of compact monolithic fabricated Bi PSJ HFETs succeed in conducting on-state current in both directions. The slightly high off-state leakage is measured due to the high buffer leakage, which needs to improve the epitaxial structure for future work. The functions of fabricated Bi PSJ HFETs in various bias conditions also has been proven by experimental data, which is consistent with the simulation results. Moreover, analytical models of the specific on-state resistance (Ron. A) for Bi PSJ HFETs with Schottky gate and Ohmic gate are presented to analyse compent ratio to Ron.A of fabricated Bi PSJ HFETs.

Chapter 5: On-state PSJ device performance as the

function of Temperature

Due to GaN's lower thermal conductivity compared to silicon, devices based on it degrade as temperature rises, increasing on-state resistance and turn-on/off losses during switching (Si). The performance of GaN-based PSJ devices at high temperatures must be assessed. This chapter will analyse the effects of temperature on Ohmic contacts for PSJ structure, Merged Schottky Barrier diodes, and PSJ HFETs.

5.1 Ohmic contact property

5.1.1 Theory of Ohmic contact property

When the metal comes into contact with the semiconductor, a potential barrier is formed at the interface. There are two types of metal-semiconductor contacts are known: ohmic and Schottky contacts. A Schottky barrier refers to a metal-semiconductor contact having a large barrier height. The ohmic contacts act as the resistance, which has linear and symmetrical I-V characteristics. The ohmic contact is negligible compared to the resistance of the semiconductor. The main parameter to characterize the ohmic contact is conduct resistivity (ρ_c).

For ohmic contact, there are 4 basic mechanisms considered determinative for the current transport, such as thermionic emission (TE), field emission (FE), Recombination in the space-charge region and Hole injection from the metal into the semiconductor. The current transport through the contact is realized mainly by thermionic emission (TE) or field emission (FE). At a low semiconductor doping level ($<10^{17}$ cm⁻³), the current transport is determined by the thermionic emission. It is the phenomenon whereby electrons gain kinetic energy to emit from a metal surface due to an increase in its temperature. With thermionic emission, the contact resistivity can be expressed in Equation (5.1) as the function of temperature. With the temperature increasing, the contact resistivity reduces.

where A*is effective Richardson constant of (GaN ~26.4 $Acm^{-2}K^{-2}$), q is The electron charge, T is temperature, ϕ_{Bn} is barrier height.

In the case of moderately doped semiconductors $(10^{17} \text{ cm}^{-3} \sim 10^{20} \text{ cm}^{-3})$, a potential barrier at the interface of metal and semiconductor becomes thinner, and a part of electrons tunnel through it. The contact resistivity is determined by the barrier height and the doping level of the semiconductor. With highly doped semiconductors (>10²⁰ cm⁻³) and low temperatures, field electron emission is the main mechanism[109]. Electrons gain kinetic energy to emit from a metal surface due to the large E-field near the contact. Field emission is often called auto-electronic emission or cold-cathode emission because it can take place at low temperatures, even at room temperature.

In order to achieve good ohmic contact, common methods include highly doped semiconductor surface layers or the use of composite metals. For AlGaN/GaN ohmic contact, traditional Ti/Al multilayers, such as Ti/Al/W, Ti/Al/TiN, Ti/Al/Ti/TiN, etc., are often applied to gold-free ohmic contact processes. During the annealing process, Ti can effectively combine with N in AlGaN, thus leaving a large number of vacancies in AlGaN. Therefore, the electron concentration is increased and is conducive to the formation of low resistance ohmic contacts.

In addition, etching is one of the key factors affecting the ohmic contact performance of AlGaN/GaN ohmic contact. Improper etching depth may result in uneven shape or uneven surface of the contact area. This will reduce the effective area of the contact and affect the scattering and transport of electrons in the contact area. Meanwhile, the etching process may introduce oxides or other undesirable compounds on the AlGaN/GaN surface. These undesirable substances can reduce the electrical conductivity of ohmic contacts and cause an increase in contact resistance. In the factory, there is a time limit between etching and metal deposition, during which wafers are kept in nitrogen tanks to prevent oxidation

5.1.2 Contact properties for a PSJ HFETs

For PSJ HFET, the ohmic Drain/Source contributes to the on-state resistance and is a critical component. Investigation of ohmic contact property as the function of temperature can be helpful to analyze and construct the thermal analytical models of on-state resistance.

Figure 5.1.1 shows the schematic diagram of PSJ test chip (5mm*5mm) on Sapphire substrate made in POWDEC KK. It mainly consists of three PSJ test structures: PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier Diodes, PSJ FETs and pattern for Transmission Line Method (TLM) analysis.



Figure 5.1.1: Schematic diagram of PSJ_FET test chip from POWDEC KK.

Due to the small ohmic contact resistance of the 200µm*200µm structure, it used the 4-point Probe Method to improve the accuracy of measurements. 2.5. By Transfer Length Method (TLM) introduced in Section 2.5.1, the properties of ohmic contacts for the specific structure can be measured and calculated. Table 5.1 shows the calculation results of ohmic contacts on five structures relative to the PSJ devices, such as contact resistivity R_c , the transfer length L_T and contact resistivity ρ_c . In can be found that the contact resistivity (ρ_c) for ohmic contact on P-GaN much higher.

No.	Description	Structure	$R_{C}(\Omega)$	L _T (μm)	$\rho_c (\Omega.cm^2)$
1	P-GaN/U-GaN/AlGaN /GaN	P U AlGaN GaN	4.117	1.175	9.68E-06
2	AlGaN/GaN	AlGaN GaN	9.140	3.483	6.37E-05
3	SiO ₂ /AlGaN/GaN	AlGaN GaN	5.914	2.317	2.74E-05
4	P-GaN /GaN	P-GaN GaN	510.188	2.25375	0.0023

Table 5.1	: Properties	of ohmic	contacts of 5	test structures
-----------	--------------	----------	---------------	-----------------

5	P-Each	P F GaN	254.669	2.486	0.0012	

Among the five test structures in Table 5.1, properties of ohmic contacts on No.1 (P-GaN/u-GaN/AlGaN/GaN) and No.2 (AlGaN/GaN) as a function of temperature were studied and compared. The test temperature was 25,50,75,100,125,150,175 and 200°C. Figure 5.1.2 shows the (a)contact resistivity and (b) sheet resistance of Structure No.1 (P-GaN/u-GaN/AlGaN) and No.2(AlGaN/GaN) versus the temperature.







Figure 5.1.2: The contact resistivity (a) and sheet resistance (b) of Structure No.1 (P-GaN/u-GaN/AlGaN) and No.2 (AlGaN/GaN) versus the temperature.

P-GaN/u-GaN/AlGaN is for basic PSJ structure while AlGaN/GaN is for conventional GaN HEMTs. From Figure 5.1.2(a), the contact resistivity of ohmic contacts for two structures shows a downward trend with the increasing temperature due to the thermionic emission. The trend At the same temperature, p-GaN/u-GaN/AlGaN/GaN has a smaller contact resistivity than that of AlGaN/GaN. For the sheet resistance, it shows the opposite trend. The sheet resistance of the two structures increases linearly with the rising temperature. At the higher temperature, the mobility of 2DEG reduces due to scattering which introduced in Section2.1.4 . In addition, the sheet resistance of P-GaN/u-GaN/AlGaN reduces the electron density in the 2DEG channel. The contact resistivity is much smaller as components of the specific on-state resistance. Therefore, the resistance of the 2DEG channel determined the specific on-state resistance during the on-state period.

5.2 PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier Diode as the function of Temperature



Figure 5.2.1: Cross-section of measured typical PSJ MSBD (Diode A) from POWDEC KK.

Figure 5.2.1 shows the cross-section schematics of measured PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier Diodes (MSBD) with Sapphire substrate from POWDEC KK. It consists of a p-type doped GaN cap layer (p-GaN) with 5×10^{19} cm⁻³ Mg-doped, a 50nm undoped GaN layer, a 47nm AlGaN layer with 23% Al composition and an 800nm u-GaN sub-layer. There are two electrodes named Anode and Cathode. An Anode electrode is usually made from Nickel (Ni) and Gold (Au). The anode electrode on GaN forms the Schottky contact to 2DEG, and the rest of the Anode electrode on P-GaN forms the Ohmic contact. The cathode electrode connected to AlGaN forms the ohmic contact.

The Schottky barrier diode (SBD) is a majority carrier device without conductivity modulation. Compared with PN diode, it has no reverse recovery, low knee voltage and low junction capacitance[110]. In 2014, it was the first time to report the performance and electrical characteristics of a 2.4KV PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier Diodes (MSBD) on 6H-SiC substrate[110].

When the positive voltage beyond the knee voltage is applied to Anode, electrons flow from the cathode to the anode through the 2DEG channel. The high electron mobility and high electron density in 2DEG reduce the on-state resistance. Under the reverse conditions, 2DEG and 2DHG are discharged through the Anode electrode on P-GaN and the cathode electrode, respectively. The drift region is fully depleted in the off-state, acting like the intrinsic region. As a result, the "box-like" field profile in the drift region of the PSJ Merged Schottky diode enhances its breakdown voltage.

There are three test structures of PSJ Merged Schottky didoes made in PWODEC KK, shown in Figure 5.2.2. The length of drift region L_{PSJ} is 15µm for PSJ Diode A and Diode B, while Diode C has 5µm- L_{PSJ} . In addition, both Diode B and Diode C employ Silicon Oxide (SiO₂) under Anode. Due to Diode A being the typical PSJ Schottky diode structure, it focuses on analyzing and studying PSJ Diode A as a function of temperature.





Figure 5.2.3 shows the top view of PSJ Diode A under the microscope. The bright region is Anode made from Ni/Au, while the black area is Cathode made from Ti/Al. By measuring, the width of three PSJ Schottky diodes is 1mm and the distance from Anode to Cathode is 23.5µm, used to calculate active area for specific on-state resistance (Ron.A). The displacement of probes under the high temperature caused black scratches.



Figure 5.2.3: The picture of PSJ Schottky diode under the microscope

Forward IV characteristics measurements of three PSJ Merged Schottky diodes were undertaken within a temperature range between 25°C and 200°C. The measurement equipment is Agilent B1500 Analyser. During high-temperature measurements, the TEG PSJ chip was heated by a heating sheet and the test temperature was controlled by DC power supply (VOLTCRAFT PPS-1600s).

The 4-point Probe Method (Kevin Sensing) was utilized to eliminate errors caused by leads and probes for precise measurements of the low on-state resistances. The 4-point Probe Method employs two separate pairs of current-carrying and voltage-sensing electrodes. Each pair is connected to Anode and Cathode, respectively. It is usual to arrange the voltage-sensing (sense) wires as the inside pair while current-carrying (force) wires are the outside pair. According to Ohm's law, there is a voltage drop ΔV induced by wire impedances when the current is applied to current-carrying wires. Voltage-sensing wires inside do not include the voltage drop across the current-carrying leads or contacts. As a result, the accuracy of on-state resistance measurements was improved.

5.2.1 Forward IV characteristics

Figure 5.2.4(a)-(b) shows the forward IV characteristic of PSJ Schottky Diode A as a function of temperature. The test temperature was set from 25 to 200°C with the step of 25°C, with the applied Anode voltage increasing from 0V to 15V. It can be found that the Anode current decreases at a higher temperature. The main reason is that both electron saturation velocity and electron mobility in the 2DEG region is reduced at the higher temperature due to scattering effects, which leads to the incensement of on-state resistance.



Figure 5.2.4: (a)Forward IV characteristic of PSJ MSBD (Diode A) with 15µm- LPSJ as well as (b) knee voltage.

5.2.2 Knee voltage

The knee voltage is defined as the point where the current changes rapidly. Here, it is referred as the onset voltage at 1mA per 1mm-width from measured Forward IV characteristic of diodes. From Figure 5.2.4(b), it is obvious that the knee voltage goes up with increasing temperature. Figure 5.2.5 illustrates the knee voltage of three PSJ Schottky diodes. It can be found that the knee voltage is inversely proportional to the temperature.



Figure 5.2.5: The knee voltage of three test structures of PSJ Schottky diodes.

The knee voltage is determined by the Schottky barrier height, which equals the difference in the Anode electrode's work function and the affinity of GaN in theory. The Schottky barrier height of

the anode decreases at a higher temperature. The effective Schottky Barrier Height was calculated according to Forward IV characteristics.

Effective Schottky Barrier Height

According to the thermionic emission theory, the relationship among the Anode current, the Schottky barrier height and the temperature is shown in the below Equation (5.2)[111] :

$$I = I_{S} \left(e^{\frac{-qV_{1}}{nKT}} - 1 \right) \quad --- (5.2)$$

The saturation current is a function of the ambient temperature and its equation is shown in Equation (5.3)

$$I_s = AA^*T^2 e^{\frac{-q\phi_{bn}}{KT}} --- (5.3)$$

According to equation (5.1) and (5.2), the Schottky barrier height can be derivated and is shown in Equation (5.4)

$$\Phi_{bn} = \frac{KT}{q} \ln(\frac{AA^*T^2}{I_s}) - (5.4)$$

Where

A: The effective area of the Schottky diode

A*: is effective Richardson constant of GaN ~26.4 $Acm^{-2}K^{-2}$

- q: The electron charge
- T: temperature

 ϕ_{Bn} : Schottky barrier height (SBH)

n: The ideal parameter

From the graph of the Log of Anode current versus Anode voltage shown in Figure 5.2.6, the parameter I_s and n can be obtained. Using Equation (5.2), the effective SBH of three tests PSJ diodes are calculated at different test temperatures shown in Figure 5.2.7. At room temperature, the effective SBH of Diode A, Diode B and Diode C is 0.66eV, 0.83eV and 0.87eV, respectively. In theory, the work function of Ni Anode is 5.15eV and the electron affinity of GaN is 4.1eV. Therefore, the theoretical SBH is 1.04eV which is larger than the calculation results from the experiment data. The reason is that SBH on GaN does not exclusively depend on metal work function due to the interfacial

reaction between Ni and GaN. The formation of nickel nitrides Ni₃N and Ni₄N are formed at the interface of Ni and GaN when the specimen is annealing at a temperature above 200 °C, which influences the effective SBH[111]. As shown in Figure 5.2.7, the effective SBH of 3 types of PSJ MSBDs shows a downward trend with increasing temperature. The majority carriers achieve the energy to jump over the potential Schottky barrier more easily at high temperatures, which leads to the smaller knee voltage. The differences in structures of PSJ Schottky diodes influence the rate at which the Schottky Barrier Height falls.



Figure 5.2.6: Log of Anode current versus Anode voltage of Diode A.



Figure 5.2.7: Effective Barrier Height of 3 PSJ Merged Schottky Diodes versus temperature.

5.2.3 The specific on-state resistance

The specific on-state resistance (Ron. A) is a significant index to evaluate the performance of power-switching devices. The low specific on-state resistance means low switching losses and small power dissipation. Illustrated in Figure 5.2.8, Ron.A is $5.8m\Omega/cm^2$ for testing PSJ PSJ MSBD (Diode A) with the L_{PSJ} of 15µm at room temperature. When the temperature goes up, the specific on-state resistance increases.



Figure 5.2.8: The specific on-state resistance of three test PSJ Schottky diode structures

5.3 **PSJ HFETs as the function of Temperature**

Figure 5.3.1 shows the top view of the PSJ OG HFET under the microscope. The width (Wg) of PSJ FETs is 1mm and the distance from Source to Drain (L_{DS}) equals (37+ L_{PSJ}) μ m. The length of PSJ alters from 5 to 40 μ m for PSJ FETs. Agilent B1500 Analyser is employed to measure the on-state performance of heating test structure PSJ FETs. It used three probes connected to Source, Drain and Gate Electrode.



Figure 5.3.1: The picture of the measured PSJ FET under the microscope with 1mm width.



Figure 5.3.2: Measured (a)intput Id -Vd characteristics and (b) output Id-Vg characteristics of Ohmic Gate PSJ HFETs at V g = 0V.

Measured intput Id -Vd characteristics and output Id-Vg characteristics of Ohmic Gate PSJ HFETs at V g = 0V is presented in Figure 5.3.2. the threshold voltage of OG PSJ HFETs is around - 4.6V. With the increase of L_{PSJ}, the output drain current decreases as well as increasing Ron.A increases due to the resistance of PSJ region is proportional to the PSJ length.

Figure 5.3.3 shows forward I-V characteristics of the PSJ FET with L_{PSJ} of 5µm as a function of Temperature. The heating equipment is the heating sheet and VOLTCRAFT PPS-1600s. The test temperature of PSJ FET increased from 25°C to 200°C. The Gate voltage of 0V is applied while the Drain voltage rises from 0 to 10V. There is a downward trend of Drain current I_{DS} due to the degradation of electron mobility and the higher scattering rate is higher when the temperature is higher. During saturation region, the Drain current decreases slightly because of the self-healing.



Figure 5.3.3: Temperature dependent Forward IV characteristics of the PSJ FET with 5µm L_{PSJ} at V g =0V.

Figure 5.3.4 shows the specific on-state resistance of PSJ FETs versus temperature. It is evident that there is a linear relationship between the specific on-state resistances. Figure 5.3.5 illustrates the trend of the specific on-state resistance changes with the drift region of L_{PSJ} . With the increasing L_{PSJ} , the temperature affects on Ron.A is more obviously. At the high temperature, The relationship between resistance and length changes from approximately linear to square.



Figure 5.3.4: Specific on-state resistance of TEG FETs with LPSJ=5,10,15,20 and 40µm versus Temperature.



Figure 5.3.5: Specific on-state resistance of PSJ FETs versus LPSJ at 25,75,125 and 175°C.

5.4 Summary

In this chapter, the discussion commenced with resistivity for ohmic contact, contributing to the on-state resistance, at temperatures ranging from room temperature to 200 ° C. Then, it evaluates the on-state I-V characteristics of the PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier Diode and PSJ HFETs as the function of temperature. The trends of specific on-state resistance of PSJ samples with increasing temperature are calculated and presented. These results are critical for thermal analytical models of Ron.A and further improvement of on-state performance for PSJ devices.

Chapter 6: Metalization interconnect Layouts for large-

area PSJ device

A large-area lateral field transistor essentially is a parallel combination of many individual device cells to achieve the desired current rating by the metal interconnect. There is a trend towards increasing the number of cells per unit area to decrease the size of individual cells. Nonetheless, there is a difficulty in ensuring that appropriate cells function normally by preventing current hogging or even breakdown. Among them, Parasitic impedances (R, L&C) induced by interconnect significantly influence on-state resistance, switching speed, propagation and phase delays. It is necessary to reduce and allocate parasitic impedance reasonably for achieving a uniform current and temperature distribution as well as reducing the oscillatory behaviour when switching. This chapter will introduce

the effects of parasitic impedance on the device's performance. Different layout designs for 1A largearea three-terminal devices are proposed. The simulated parasitic resistance and impedance of layouts is extracted and compared as well as the impedance distribution by Software Ansys Q3D.

6.1 Effects of the interconnect parasitic impedance

Figure 6.1.1 shows the equivalent circuit diagram of a GaN device with four paralleled cells. $L(L_G, L_S \text{ and } L_D)$, $R(R_G, R_S \text{ and } R_D)$ and $C(C_G, C_S \text{ and } C_D)$ are effective interconnection parasitic Inductance, Resistance and Capacitance of Gate, Source and Drain, respectively.

Time delay is one of the challenges induced by parasitic impedance. As the input signal applied to the Gate pad changes, there are propagation delays in the voltage response to individual cells due to parasitic gate impedance. Besides interconnect impedance, this gate delay relies on the distance to the gate pad. During switching on/off, time delays in voltage response cause the non-uniform distributed instantaneous impedance between the drain and source of cells. Then it causes current hogging, uneven temperature distribution and additional conduction losses. When the device is in repeated switching operations or under short-circuit fault conditions, the increasing temperature and uneven current over the active area may degrade or potentially damage the device's performance.[112].



Figure 6.1.1: Simple RC tree for GaN devices with four paralleled cells.

In 1948, the Elmore delay was proposed to estimate the worst-case propagation delays of interconnect RC networks. Propagation Delay at the node 'N' can be calculated using Equation (6.1) below[113]:

Propagation Delay = $R_{ns}C_n$ -----(6.1)

where R_{ns} is the shared resistance along the path and C_n is the capacitance on the node N.

However, Equation(6.1) for time delay calculation does not consider the impact of parasitic inductance. In high-speed switching operation or the interconnection of parallel devices is longer, parasitic inductance becomes more significant. Therefore, in these case it is necessary to construct a more accurate interconnection model[114].

Previous research has proven that parasitic inductance from interconnect influences the voltage/current overshoot, switching time and conduction loss. During high-speed switching operation, the change rate of the drain current (di/dt) and the stray parasitic inductances of the metal track leads to the voltage surge across the drain and the source, which can be expressed by :

$$\Delta V = L \frac{di}{dt} - (6.2)$$

In the off-transient state, the direction of the induced electromotive force is the same as the direction of the bus voltage, which is superimposed on the drain-source voltage of the switch, resulting in a voltage spike and ringings, which leads to electromagnetic interference issues, false switch-on, or even device failure([115],[116]). Because high switching speed, tiny driving safety margin, low threshold voltage, GaN HEMTs are extremely sensitive to parasitic inductance[117].

The parasitic drain inductance causes the oscillation in V_{gs} and Drain current (I_d) since the surge voltage resonates with the output capacitance $C_{iss} (= C_{gd} + C_{ds})$ and parasitic inductance L_D. The larger the inductance, the more pronounced the oscillation [115].

The parasitic source inductance (L_S) is induced by the di/dt of the drain current during turn-off and the stray inductance of the source metal track. L_s causes the oscillation in the waveform of the driving voltage (V_{gs}). A large ringing voltage on the gate voltage might cause the device to turn on and off repeatedly, thus leading to oscillation([115],[118]). In addition, L_S slows down the switching speed. In[115], it proves that L_S has an obvious effect and causes a significant delay in the turn-on and turn-off times.

The parasitic gate inductance (L_G) causes ringing of the gate voltage V_{gs} when it resonant with the input capacitance $C_{iss}(= C_{gs} + C_{gd})$. The smaller L_G can avoid the large spikes in V_{gs} and the shoot-through due to the false trigger during the turn-off[119].

The parasitic capacitance between closely spaced metal tracks will increase the capacitive loading on driven nodes and cause the crosstalk.

6.1.1 Effects of gate parasitic resistance on static IV curves

Large-area PSJ HFETs usually employ the multi-finger Drain-Source layout described in Figure 3.3.2. There are two current paths from two gate pads to each gate finger to ensure the uniform gate current through each gate finger and reduce the difference in Gate impedance. To investigate the influence of gate parasitic resistance on the static electrical characteristics, it compares the static current-voltage characteristics of 1A and 2A PSJ HFETs with 40µm-L_{PSJ} by applying the gate voltage to one gate pad and two gate pads. Figure 6.1.2 shows the top view of 1A and 2A unidirectional PSJ HFETs. The effective Gate/Drain/Source fingers of 2A PSJ devices are double those of 1A PSJ HFETs.



Figure 6.1.2: The top view of 1A and 2A fabricated unidirectional PSJ HFETs.



Figure 6.1.3: The static current-voltage characteristics of 1A PSJ HFETs with 40µm-L_{PSJ} by applying the voltage to one gate and two gate pads.



Figure 6.1.4: The static current-voltage characteristics of 2A PSJ HFETs with 40µm-L_{PSJ} by applying the voltage to one gate and two gate pads.

Figure 6.1.3 and Figure 6.1.4 present (a)I_d-V_d characteristics, (b)transfer characteristics, (c)normalized Gate leakage and (d)Normalized off-state leakage of 1A PSJ HFET and 2A PSJ HFET with 40 μ m-L_{PSJ}, respectively. In these Figures, black lines (Solid lines for normalized Gate leakage) stand for results obtained by applying Gate Voltage to two gate pads, while red lines (Dashed lines for normalized Gate leakage) are the results of applying voltage to one Gate pad. As the number of gate fingers increases, the difference in I_d-V_d curves and gate leakage obtained by the two test methods becomes more apparent. The large gate finger impedance reduces the on-state current, especially in the saturation region. In addition, it raises gate leakage.

Figure 6.1.5 shows the specific on-state resistance vs breakdown voltage of PSJ-FETs on Sapphire. There is a gap between the specific on-state resistance between the large-area PSJ FETs (Red) and device test structure FETs (Blue). For the same breakdown voltage, specific on-state resistance Ron.A of large-area PSJ FETs is more significant than that of TEG FETs. Presently, the devices made are limited to 10 A. In order to increase the current rating of the devices to much larger

values, It is necessary to optimize the layout designs in order to reduce and allocate parasitic impedance reasonably.



Figure 6.1.5: Ron.A versus breakdown voltage of fabricated large area and test structure PSJ-FETs on Sapphire.

6.2 Layout design rules

It is known that parasitic impedance from interconnect degrades device performance with an increase of the switching frequency. In order to achieve uniform current and temperature distribution and reduce oscillating behaviour when switching, it is necessary to reasonably reduce and distribute parasitic impedance, which can be improved by interconnect layout.

In this work, it designs five layouts of metal interconnect to compare the parasitic resistance, such as Multi-finger Drain-Source(DS) Layout, Multi-finger Drain-Source-Drain(D-S-D) Layout, Multi-finger Source-Drain-Source Layout (S-D-S), Checkerboard and the hexagonal-shaped layout.

To compare layout impedance, layout designs for metal interconnect are designed for 1A PSJ HFETs. The gate finger/path width for different layouts is set as the same as $4\mu m$. The distance between electrodes and electrodes' thickness is 21.5 μm based on that in PSJ OG HFETs with 10 μm .

Drain-Source Current density (normalised to Gate width) is estimated as 50 mA/mm at $V_{DS} =$ 1 V. Parasitic capacitance depends on the metal/electrode thickness, which keeps the same for different layouts. Therefore, it focuses on parasitic resistance and inductance from metal interconnect.

According to Equation (3.1), the effective gate length can be calculated by:

The effective gate length
$$=\frac{Current rating(A)}{normalised current density (mA/mm)} = \frac{1A}{50mA/mm} = 20mm$$

The minimum number of cells in parallel can be deduced by the effective gate length, which stands for the effective finger length for multi-finger or the perimeter for one cell in Checkerboard and a hexagonal-shaped layout

The total cells =
$$\frac{The \ effective \ gate \ Lengt \quad (mm)}{Finger \ length(mm)} - \dots - (6.3)$$

The minimum side length of the liner design is $250\mu m$ to ensure that the area is large enough for wedge bonding or ball bonding.

Inescapable in layout designs, the source/drain metal layers will overlap the gate track, the air bridge and the insulation layer are utilized to keep the isolation of the gate and source metal layers. As the example of a multi-finger DS layout shown in Figure 6.2.1, the purple area is the isolation layer. Drain/Source fingers are on the isolation layer and viva it to connect the devices while the gate track is under isolation.



Figure 6.2.1: (a) Top view of simply multi-finger DS layout and (b) the view of the layout after flipping.

6.3 Simulation settings

The simulated impedance with the distribution of five layout designs is extracted and analyzed by the Software Ansys Q3D. The 3D metallization layouts were built and the metallization material was set as Gold. The thickness of the all-metal tracks/finger is set as 0.26µm, similar to the deposited Drain/Source metal track in fabricated PSJ OG HFETs.

For gate impedance extraction, 1V voltage with desired frequency is applied to gate pads, and the impedance can be extracted at selected points shown in Figure 6.2.1(b).

For drain/source impedance extraction, a conductive channel with perfect conductivity as a 2DEG channel between the Source and Drain to eliminate the effects of 2DEG sheet resistance. Apply 1V drain voltage to calculate the total Source/ Drain at a 100K Hz frequency.

6.4 Layout schemes

6.4.1 Multi-finger Drain-Source Layout

Figure 6.4.1 is the top view of a typical multi-finger Source-Drain layout. Two Gate Pads and a Source Pad are employed on one side of the device, while the Drain Pad is on the other side. Metal layers connect the Gate, Source, Drain Pad to corresponding electrodes in the active area of the device. Blue stands for the gate pads, path and fingers. Orange is for Drain, and Green is for Source. Current PSJ devices are mainly based on multi-finger layout designs, strongly dependent on the metallization flatness and the insulator layer quality in designing large-area devices. Finger resistance is essential to the manufacture and performance of devices. One issue with this traditional configuration is that in order to attain a higher current rating, the length and number of the source and drain fingers have to be increased, which adds parasitic impedance losses.



Figure 6.4.1: Schematic of D-S Layout.

In the simulation, the effective finger length (*L*) for Multi-finger D-S Layout is 1500 μ m. The finger width for Drain/Source is 30 μ m while for Gate is 4 μ m. The minimum cell number to achieve 1A device equals by :

The total cells(N)=
$$\frac{The \ effective \ gate \ Lengt}{L} (mm) = \frac{20}{1.5} \approx 14$$
-----(6.2)

Due to 1 Gate electrode for one cell and each Drain/Source electrode shared by two cells, The figure number of Source and Drain can be calculated by:

The Gate finger number= 14 The Source finger number = 8 The Drain finger number =7

The top view of the 3D Multi-finger D-S Layout in ANSYS is shown in Figure 6.4.2, as well as extracted Parasitic resistance and inductance at 100kHz in Table 6.1. The insulation layer utilized to keep the isolation of the gate and source metal layers is hidden.



Figure 6.4.2: Top view of simulated 3D D-S layout. Dimension in µm. (Isolation layer is hidden)

Layouts	Finger	Resistance (mΩ)	Inductance(pH)@100Khz	Active Region(mm ²)
DS Multi-	Drain	2.36	23.23	1.14
finger layout	Source	2.6	41.8	(=1500um*760mm)

6.4.2 Multi-finger Source-Drain-Source Layout

Figure 6.4.3 is the top view of a Multi-finger S-D-S Layout. Compared with the Multi-finger D-S Layout, it has half the finger length but twice the number of fingers, thus maintaining the equivalent gate width. It can be seen as the two back-to-back D-S layouts sharing one Drain pad, as well as using a metalization track to connect source pads on both sides. Table 6.2 shows the width, length and number of gate, source and drain fingers.



Figure 6.4.3: Schematic of S-D-S Layout.

Table 6.2: Parameter of Multi-finger S-D-S Layout for 1A PSJ HFET

	Width(µm)	Length(µm)	Finger Number
Source electrode	30	750	14
Drain electrode	30	750	15
Gate/Drain/Source path	4/8/8	750	28

The top view of the 3D SDS Layout in ANSYS is shown in Figure 6.4.4, as well as extracted parasitic resistance and inductance of drain and Source at 100kHz in Table 6.3.

Compared with the D-S layout, the S-D-S design reduces the parasitic resistance of the drain and Source due to the shorter finger length. The simulation also compares parasitic impedance when applying the input to one Source pad on the left and two Source pads on each side. It can be found that there is an additional inductance when only one source pad is employed due to the source connection track.



Figure 6.4.4: Top view of simulated 3D S-D-S layout. Dimension in µm. (Isolation layer is hidden)

SDS	Resistance (mΩ)	Inductance(pH)@100Khz	Active Region(mm ²)
layout			
Drain	1.02	7.85	1.12
Source	0.96	9.24	(=2*750um*750mm)
	(Employing Source Pad1	(Employing Source Pad1 and	
	and Pad2)	Pad2)	
	1.82	26.31	
	(Employing Source Pad1)	(Employing Source Pad1)	

Table 6.3: Extracted parasitic resistance and inductance for S-D-S Layout in ANSYS.



Figure 6.4.5: The top view of simulated 3D S-D-S Layout with one Source pad.

To study the distribution of parasitic impedance, the 3D model for S-D-D layout with the 375um finger length is built and shown Figure 6.4.5. The number of finger for Source/Dain/Gate is double to30/28/56. When employing the Source Pad1 on the left, half the device fingers on the right have a higher inductive path to the source pad than those on the left area due to the additional source inductance arising from the source track connection. The further distance from Pad1, the higher inductance of the source finger in the right area, as shown in Figure 6.4.6. This phenomenon leads to unbalanced common source inductance(CSI), which causes oscillatory behaviour when switching.



Figure 6.4.6: Simulated parasitic (a) resistance and (b) inductance of each source finger when employing one Source pad (Pad 1)

6.4.3 Multi-finger Drain-Source-Drain Layout

Figure 6.4.7 is the top view of a Multi-finger D-S-D Layout and Table 6.4 shows relative parameters of electrodes for a Multi-finger D-S-D Layout. It is similar to the S-D-S layout but shares the source pad in the middle and uses a metalization tarck to connect Drian pads on two sides.



Figure 6.4.7: Schmatical of D-S-D Layout of 1A devices.

	6 3 5 1 / C	DODI (0 1 1	DOLUDDT
Table 6.4: Prameter	of Multi-finger	D-S-D Layout	for IA	PSJ HFET

	Width(µm)	Length(µm)	Finger Number
Source electrode	30	750	15
Drain electrode	30	750	14
Gate/Drain/Source path	4/8/8	750	28

The top view of the 3D SDS Layout model in ANSYS Q3D is shown in Figure 6.4.8 and extracted parasitic resistance and inductance of drain and Source at 100kHz in Table 6.5. Similar to the S-D-S layout, it has a smaller parasitic impedance than the D-S layout due to shorter finger length. However, the additional Drain track leads to the unlanced Drain parasitic inductance when applying input signals to the Drain Pad only on one side.



Figure 6.4.8: Top view of simulated 3D D-S-D layout. Dimension in µm. (Isolation layer is hidden)

DSD layout	Resistance (mΩ)	Inductance(pH)@100Khz	Active Region(mm ²)
Drain	1	8.74	1.12
	(Employing Drain Pad1	(Employing Drain Pad1 and	(=2*750um*750mm)
	and Pad2)	Pad2)	
	1.88	24.6	
	(Employing Drain Pad1)	(Employing Drain Pad1)	
Source	1.11	15.42	

Table 6.5: Extracted parasitic resistance and inductance for D-S-D Layout.

Figure 6.4.9 (a)-(b) presents each Drain finger's parasitic resistance and inductance for 3D model with 375um finger width when applying 1V voltage to the drain pad on the right. The extracted points from top to bottom are labelled '1' to '14' shown in Figure 6.4.9 (c). The Extremes min/max Δ =0.33 Ω and 1.27nH for parasitic resistance and inductance, respectively. The differences in Drain parasitic impedance due to the additional connection track will cause differential drain-to-source voltages during the transition and, therefore, differences in transition energy. In addition, it affects the current balance.



Figure 6.4.9: Simulated parasitic (a) resistance and (b) inductance of each Drain finger when employing the right Drain pad (Pad 1). (c)Schematic of extracted points on each drain finger.

6.4.4 Checkerboard layout

The Checkerboard layout is the first proposed which has a smaller size than the multi-finger layout. It looks like the Checkerboard, which employs the square Drain/Source electrodes as well as the gate path around each electrode, as shown in Figure 6.4.10. The metallic conductive path on the diagonal is the main branch for the Source path, which extends from a source electrode to join the source pads, thereby connecting the source cells in series to the source electrode. Meanwhile, the diagonal source path divides drain cells into two parts connecting to adjacent drain pads. At other vertexes of the diagonal is gate pads. There are two gate paths around the boundaries between neighbouring Source and Drain electrodes, forming the respective PSJ devices.



Figure 6.4.10: Schematic of Checkerboard Layout.

Assuming that the width of the electrode is 'W' and the number of electrodes for one row/column is "a". Considering the distance (Lds) between Drain electrode and the neighbour, the Source electrode. Therefore, the effective gate length for one row is

$$L_{row} = W \times a + (a - 1)(L_{ds})$$
-----(6.3)

There is 2(a-1) gate paths, the total effective gate path equals by:

$$L_{total} = 2(a - 1)(W \times a + (a - 1)L_{ds}) - ---(6.4)$$

For 1A PSJ devices requiring the 20mm total effective gate Length, the minimum electrodes in one row is a~14. The total Source/Drain electrodes are at least 98. The simulated Checkerboard layout is designed with 121 source/drain electrodes, as shown in Table 6.6.

Table 6.6: Parameter of Checkerboard layout for 1A PSJ HFET

	Electrode size (µm*µm)	Electrode Number
Source Electrode	30*30	121
Drain Electrode	30*30	121
Gate/Drain/Source path	4/8/8	-

Table 6.7 shows extracted parasitic resistance and inductance of the Drain /Source conductive path for the Checkerboard layout at 100kHz. Due to the main conductive way on the diagonal of parallel multiple short branches being narrow and long, the source path has the highest parasitic resistance and inductance among five layouts. For the higher current rating, multiple such cells will be mounted and the source conductive path increases, which decreases the on-state resistance and slows down the switching speed.

Checkboard	Resistance (mΩ)	Inductance(pH)@100Khz	Active Region(mm ²)
Drain path	1.61	5.21	0.53 (=730um*730mm)
Source path	12.43	56.38	

Table 6.7: Extracted parasitic resistance and inductance for D-S-D Layout.

Figure 6.4.11 shows the gate impedance extracted from points shown in Figure 6.4.12. The gate impedance at Point 5 becomes larger.



Figure 6.4.11: Parasitic resistance and inductance of extracted gate impedance



Figure 6.4.12: The extracted points at the conductive gate path for the Checkerboard layout. Dimension in μm. (Isolation layer is hidden)

6.4.5 Hexagonal-Shaped Layout

Hexagonal-Shaped Layout was proposed in 2016[120], as shown in Figure 6.4.13.



Figure 6.4.13: Schematic of Hexagonal-Shaped Layout

The Hexagonal-Shaped Layout is covered by a close-packed array of tessellating smaller hexagonal source electrodes and drain electrodes. The orange and green hexagonal cells represent drain and source electrodes, respectively. Three source pads and three drain pads are arranged at the 6 vertices of the large hexagonal region. While the Gate pad locals at the centre of the hexagonal area. A conductive metalization path extends from the source(drain) pads to the source(drain) region, thereby connecting the source electrode in series.Six gate paths (Blue lines shown in Figure 6.4.13) extend from the gate pad along the edge of electrodes to form a boundary between the adjacent source and drain cells, thus creating the respective field effect transistor between the source and drain regions of the adjacent cell.

The apparent advantage of this layout is scalability and balanced current flow. Due to the repeating nature of cells, the size of the device can be scaled and multiple such devices can be easily mounted for the required current rating. The cells are arranged evenly and rotated symmetrically to promote balanced current flow through the device, avoiding a single point of failure.

Assuming that the side length of small hexagonal cell is set as $30\mu m$. The effective gate path for one cell is approximately $4*30=120 \mu m$ because on each Drain/Source electrode is shared by four cells. 1A PSJ devices need at least 167 source/drain cells. Considering the electrodes on the sides of

the large hexagon only share two cells, therefore, in the 3D model of the Hexagonal-Shaped Layout, it employs 198 Drain/Source electrodes to achieve a 1A current rating, as shown in Table 6.8.

	width	Electrode Number
Source Electrode	a=30	198
Drain Electrode	a=30	198
Source/Drain/Gate Path	4/8/8	-

Table 6.8 Parameter of Hexagonal-Shaped layout for 1A PSJ HFET

Figure 6.4.14 shows the top view of the 3D model for the Hexagonal-Shaped Layout with Gate/Source/Drain conductive path in ANSYS. In this simulation, the gate path is designed as a buried gate path, although there is no overlap region between the gate path and source conductive path, which reduces the crosstalk when the isolation layer is not perfect. Table 6.9 shows extracted parasitic resistance and inductance of Drain /Source at 100kHz. It has very low parasitic impedance for the Source and drain compared with other layout designs because the drain/source has a lot of parallel branches.



Figure 6.4.14: (a)Top view and (b) the view of the simulated Hexagonal-Shaped Layout after flipping.with Gate/Source/Drain conductive path. Dimension in μm.

Hexagonal-shape	Resistance (mΩ)	Inductance(pH)@100Khz	Active Region(mm ²)
Drain	1.3	1	~0.88
Source	0.51	0.3	(a=580mm)

Table 6.9: Extracted parasitic resistance and inductance for Hexagonal-Shaped layout.

Due to the narrow gate width and the long conductive path, the parasitic gate impedance is larger when it is far from the gate pad at the centre. The non-uniform distribution of gate impedance can not be ignored, which causes propagation delays of input and non-uniform current distribution. Gate impedance extracted in different 4 points on the conductive gate path is shown in Figure 6.4.15(b).



Figure 6.4.15: (a) Extracted points on the gate path and (b) gate impedance distribution.

6.5 Active area calculation

Multi-finger layout:

The active area(A) of the multi-finger layout containing the minimum number of cells for desired current rating can be estimated by Equation(6.5):

$$A = L \times [(N_{MT} + 1)W + N_{MT} \times L_{ds}] - \dots - (6.5)$$

Where *L* stands for effective finger length, *W* is Drain/Source finger width. L_{ds} is the distance between Drain and Source which keeps the constant for different layouts. N_{MT} stands for cell number equals to $\frac{L_{total}}{L}$.

Therefore, the active area can be expressed by the formula for L:

$$A = L \times \left[\left(\frac{L_{total}}{L} + 1 \right) W + \frac{L_{total}}{L} \times L_{ds} \right] = (L_{total} + L) W + L_{total} \times L_{ds}^{----(6.6)}$$

Where L_{total} stands for the total effective gate length.



Figure 6.5.1: Schematic diagram of (a) multi-finger layout, (b)checkerboard and (c) hexagonal-shaped layout to calculate the active area

Checkboard layout:

The active area(A) of checkboard layout can be deduced by Equation(6.7):

$$A = [(a - 1)L_{ds} + a \times W] \times [(a - 1)L_{ds} + a \times W] - \dots - (6.7)$$

where a stands for the electrode number in one row/column and W is the electrode width.

For high current ratings, multiple such PSJ cells are mounted. Therefore, the formation of the active area from Equation(6.8) can be simplified by:

A
$$\approx [a(L_{ds} + W)]^2$$
-----(6.8)

The total effective gate length Equation(6.4) can be simplified by:

$$L_{total} = 2(a-1)[(a-1)L_{ds} + a \times W] \approx 2a^2(L_{ds} + W) - \dots - (6.9)$$

The active area can be expressed by the formula for electrode width (W)

A
$$\approx [a(L_{ds} + W)]^2 = \frac{L_{total}}{2(L_{ds} + W)} \times (L_{ds} + W)^2 = \frac{1}{2}L_{total}(L_{ds} + W)$$
-----(6.10)

Hexagonal-Shaped Layout:

As shown in Figure 6.5.1(c), the active area A for Hexagonal-Shaped Layout can be seen as the total area of small Hexagons. Considering the distance between Drain and Source electrodes (L_{ds}), the area for one Hexagonal cell can be expressed by:

Area of small Hexagon
$$= \frac{3\sqrt{3}}{2} \left(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} L_{ds} + W \right)^2$$
-----(6.11)

According to the number of the small Hexagon at least $\frac{L_{total}}{4W}$

The theoretical minimum active area is

$$A = \frac{3\sqrt{3}}{2} \left(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{2} L_{ds} + W\right)^2 \times \frac{L_{total}}{4W} - \dots - (6.12)$$

Table 6.10 compares the active area of simulated layouts for 1A PSJ HFETs measured in ANSYS Q3D.

Tanan tan barran	Electrode Width(W)	Lds	Calculation Area	Simulated Area
Layout schemes	(μm)	(µm)	(mm ²)	(mm ²)
DS layout			1.05	1.14
DSD layout			1.05	1.12
SDS layout			1.05	1.12
Checkboard Layout	30	21.5	0.515	0.53
Hexagonal-shape Layout			0.86	0.88

Table 6.10: The active area of simulated layouts for 1A PSJ HFETs

Compared with multi-finger layouts, the checkboard designs and Hexagonal-shape Layout has a smaller active area for 1A PSJ HFETs in both the simulation and calculation. It should be noted that the electrode number of the Checkboard Layout and Hexagonal-shape Layout increases to form the square and hexagonal-shaped active area.

Table 6.11: A calculated active area for different layouts designed for 10A PSJ HFETs.

Lpsj	Lds	W	Calculation Area (mm ²)			
(µm)	(µm)	(µm)	Mulitfinger layouts	Checkboard Layout	Hexagonal-shape Layout	
5	16.5		9.38	4.65	7.51	
10	21.5		10.38	5.15	8.84	
15	26.5	30	11.38	5.65	10.28	
20	31.5		12.38	6.15	11.83	
40	51.5		16.38	8.15	19.1	

The calculated active area for different layouts designed for 10A PSJ HFETs is shown in Table 6.11. Multi-finger layouts include the D-S, D-S-D and S-D-S layouts with 2800µm finger length. The
active region is calculated with at least the cell number to achieve 10A current rating. For Checkboard Layout and Hexagonal-shape Layout, to form the square and hexagonal-shape active area, it needs additional cells, and which active region is larger than the calculation. It is obvious that the Checkboard Layout has the smallest region, almost half of that for Multi-finger layouts. When the distance between Source and Dani electrode(Lds) increases and over electrode width, the advantages of the Hexagonal-shape Layout gradually weaken. For $L_{PSJ}=40\mu m$, the active region of the Hexagonal-shape Layout becomes the largest.

6.6 Summary

In this chapter, it discusses the influence of parasitic impedance from large-area devices with paralleling cells on the device performance. Following that, it introduces five metalization layout schemes for large-area PSJ devices, such as Multi-finger Drain-Source(DS) Layout, Multi-finger Drain-Source-Drain(D-S-D) Layout, Multi-finger Source-Drain-Source Layout (S-D-S) layout, Checkerboard and the hexagonal-shaped layout.

The 3D layout models for metallization interconnect are built in ANSYS Q3D and relative parasitic drain/source impedances are extracted, shown in Table 6.12. These simulated metalization layouts for 1A PSJ HFETs have the same parameters in the thickness of all metal tracks, the gate/drain/source path width, the distance between the Srouce and Drain and the electrode width. The advantages and disadvantages are discussed for layout schemes based on the extracted impedance distribution and value.

Compared with a typical D-S layout, S-D-S Layout and D-S-D layout have smaller impedance due to the shorter finger length. However, the additional Drain/Source track leads to the unbalance Drain/Source inductance when only employing only one Drain/Source pad on the side, which should be avoided. A Checkerboard layout covered by densely packed electrodes can reduce the active region effectively. The high impedance from the Source and non-uniform gate impedance distribution issues. The hexagonal-Shaped Layout benefits on much low Drain/Source parasitics impedance. Due to the narrow gate width and the long conductive path, the parasitic gate impedance is large and non-uniform distributed in the area.

Table 6.12: Parasitic Drain/Source impedance in simulated layouts for 1A PSJ OG HFETS with 10µm.

Layouts	Resistance (mΩ)	Inductance(pH)@100Khz

DS Multi-finger layout	Drain	2.36	23.23
	Source	2.6	41.8
DSD Multi-finger	Drain	1	8.74
layout		(Employing Drain Pad1 and	(Employing Drain Pad1 and
		Pad2)	Pad2)
		1.88	24.6
		(Employing Drain Pad1)	(Employing Drain Pad1)
	Source	1.11	15.42
SDS Multi-finger layout	Drain	1.02	7.85
	Source	0.96	9.24
		(Employing Source Pad1 and	(Employing Source Pad1 and
		Pad2)	Pad2)
		1.82	26.31
		(Employing Source Pad1)	(Employing Source Pad1)
Checkboard Layout	Drain	1.61	5.21
	Source	12.43	56.38
Hexagonal-shape Layout	Drain	1.3	1
	Source	0.41	0.3

Chapter 7: Conclusions and Future work

7.1 Conclusions

As one of the wideband gap materials, GaN is a popular candidate for next-generation power devices due to its superphysical properties. The structure of this article covers the basics of GaN HEMT technology and PSJ technology for power-switching applications. This work focuses on the development and research of GaN-based PSJ devices. This chapter summarizes the key findings and contributions of this work.

7.1.1 Compact Monolithic Bidirectional PSJ HFETs

It first proposes compact bidirectional HFETs with Schottky Gate(Bi PSJ SG HFET) and Ohmic gate(Bi PSJ OG HFET), which share the same drift region in operation when it works in the first and third quadrants. Therefore, it can be one of the most compact bidirectional switches reported to date. It is the first time to design and fabricate large-area Bi PSJ HFETs in wafer level on the 6' Sapphire substrate. The simulated and measured electrical characteristics successfully validates the Bi PSJ HFETS concept and functionality with different gate polarity control. Under different bias conditions, Bi PSJ HFETs can be operated as Bidirectional devices, unidirectional HFETs with/without Hybrid Drain-embedded Gate Injection Transistor (HD-GIT) mode and diodes in both directions.

The average measured area-specific on-state resistance Ron.A versus PSJ length and temperature is calculated. The linear increase in the Ron.A as a function of the temperature of Bi PSJ HFETs as well as the on-state resistance versus L_{PSJ} show that the device can be scaled easily scaled in both voltage and currents.

Accurate analytical models of the on-state resistance of Bi PSJ SG HFETs and Bi PSJ OG HFETs are built to calculate and analyze their components. Analytical models will promote an understanding of the mechanism of Bi PSJ HFETs. They can also effectively assist in predicting and improving the on-state performance of PSJ devices precisely

7.1.2 On-state PSJ device performance as the function of Temperature

This thesis also evaluates temperature-dependent on-state characteristics of PSJ samples such as PSJ Merged Schottky Barrier diodes(PSJ MSBD) and PSJ HFETs, as well as ohmic contact resistivity as the function of temperature. The contact resistivity of ohmic contact on AlGaN for PSJ structure decreases while sheet resistance increases when the temperature from room temperature to 200°C. Compared with ohmic contact in conventional PSJ structure, it has lower contact resistivity but a higher sheet resistance. The experimental results of PSJ MSBD present that the knee voltage goes down from 0.82V to 0.67V when the temperature increases from 25 °C to 200 °C due to the reduction in effective Schottky Barrier Height calculated in this thesis. The linear increase in the Ron.A of PSJ HFETs as a function of the temperature of Bi PSJ HFETs as well as the on-state resistance versus L_{PSJ} are presented. These results are critical for thermal analytical models of Ron.A and further improvement of on-state performance for PSJ devices.

7.1.3 Layout designs for large-area PSJ device

It provides a brief of parasitic impedance influence on the performance of large-area devices with paralleling cells. The parasitic impedance from different metalization inter-connect layouts is investigated in this thesis. Besides the typical multi-finger layout for lateral field-effect transistors, it introduces four layout schemes, such as Multi-finger Drain-Source-Drain(D-S-D) Layout, Multi-finger Source-Drain-Source Layout (S-D-S), Checkerboard layout and Hexagonal-shaped layout. The 3D models of layouts designed for 1A PSJ device with 15µm L_{PSJ} are built by ANSYS Q3D and the parasitic impedance of the metal interconnect is extracted. The advantages and disadvantages are discussed for layout schemes based on the extracted impedance distribution and value.

One issue with the typical D-S layout is that it adds parasitic impedance losses when the finger's size/number increases to achieve the high current rating. S-D-S Layout and D-S-D Layout have smaller impedances than a standard D-S configuration because their fingers are shorter. However, when just using one Drain/Source pad on the side, the additional Drain/Source track results in the unbalanced Drain/Source inductance, which should be avoided. A Checkerboard configuration covered in closely spaced electrodes can effectively reduce the active region. It features a low drain parasitic impedance but a high source impedance and an uneven distribution of gate impedance. Moreover, the active area is smaller, and the drain/source parasitic impedance is substantially lower in the hexagonal-shaped layout. The area's parasitic gate impedance is high and not evenly distributed because of the narrow gate width and long conducting channel.

7.2 Future work

Further research and opportunities can be described as follows:

For Bi PSJ HFETs

- The purpose of this project is to validate the device concept and functionality with different gate polarity control. Future work is needed with the optimum epitaxial structure for demonstrating high-voltage breakdown devices. It is necessary to evaluate temperature-dependent off-state characteristics of Bi PSJ HFETs.
- It is necessary to measure the Capacitance-Voltage (C-V) characteristics of Bi PSJ HFETs. In this project, Bi PSJ HFETs are in the wafer level on the 6' sapphire wafer. Therefore, it is hard to connect the external circuit to Capacitance-Voltage (C-V) characteristics. In the future, Capacitance-Voltage (C-V) characteristics is essential to measure for the evaluation of the switching behaviour of Bi PSJ HFETs
- Dynamic performance through switching measurements will be done. The main applications of GaN-based devices are in high-frequency switching. Hence, extensive evaluation of resistive and inductive switching performance will be necessary.
- According to the analysis of the specific on-state resistance for fabricated Bi PSJ HFETs, the resistance from channel and gap resistance contribute to the additional resistance due to the long channel gap length. It will need to optimize the basic structure of Bi PSJ HFETs cells. In addition, the thermal analytical models can be built to predict and improve the on-state performance of PSJ devices precisely
- The fabricated large-area devices can not achieve the desired current rating. Future work focuses on improving the current density and large-area layout designs.

For Layout designs for large-area devices

- The parasitic impedances of five layouts were extracted and compared. Different layout designs show advantages in different aspects. With extracted parasitic impedance, it can simulate parallel PSJ HFETs to investigate its effect on the static and dynamic performance of PSJ HFETs in the future.
- Thermal distribution and current distribution are necessary to simulate and analyze.
- The layout design of PSJ devices will be optimized by simulation. In the future, it needs to evaluate and compare the performance of large-area PSJ devices with optimized layouts.

Reference

- Office for National Statistics, "Energy Consumption in the UK (ECUK) 1970 to 2020 million tonnes of oil equivalent Industry Transport Services Domestic," 2022.
- [2] British Petroleum, "Statistical Review of World Energy 2021," *BP Energy Outlook 2021*, vol. 70, pp. 8–20, 2021.
- [3] IEA, "World Energy Outlook 2021 : Part of the World Energy Outlook," *Int. Energy Agency*, p. 386, 2021, [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2021
- [4] "Global Compound Semiconductor Market by Type (GaN,GaAs,SiC,InP), Product (LED,Optoelectronics, RF Devices,Power Electronics), Application & Region -Forecast to 2027," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.researchandmarkets.com/reports/5134347/global-compound-semiconductor-market-by-type
- [5] "Power Semiconductor Market-Growth,trends,COVID-19 Impact, and Forecast(2022 2027),"
 2022.
- [6] M. Verma and A. Nandi, "DC analysis of GaN-capped AlGaN/GaN HEMT for different gatedrain spacing," in *Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Inventive Systems and Control, ICISC 2018*, 2018. doi: 10.1109/ICISC.2018.8399025.
- [7] "Power Semiconductor Market: Information by Component (Discrete, Module, Power Integrated Circuits), End-user Industry (Consumer Electronics, Telecommunication), and Region - Forecast till 2030," 2022. [Online]. Available: https://straitsresearch.com/report/power-semiconductor-market
- [8] N. Kaminski and O. Hilt, "SiC and GaN devices wide bandgap is not all the same," IET Comput. Digit. Tech., vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 227–236, 2014, doi: 10.1049/iet-cds.2013.0223.
- [9] R. S. Pengelly, S. M. Wood, J. W. Milligan, S. T. Sheppard, and W. L. Pribble, "A review of GaN on SiC high electron-mobility power transistors and MMICs," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 60, no. 6 PART 2. 2012. doi: 10.1109/TMTT.2012.2187535.
- [10] M. Meneghini, G. Meneghesso, and E. Zanoni, *Power GaN Devices*. 2017. [Online]. Available:

http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-43199-4

- [11] L. F. S. Alves *et al.*, "SIC power devices in power electronics: An overview," *14th Brazilian Power Electron. Conf. COBEP* 2017, vol. 2018-Janua, pp. 1–8, 2017, doi: 10.1109/COBEP.2017.8257396.
- [12] D. Garrido-DIez and I. Baraia, "Review of wide bandgap materials and their impact in new power devices," *Proc. 2017 IEEE Int. Work. Electron. Control. Meas. Signals their Appl. to Mechatronics, ECMSM 2017*, pp. 1–6, 2017, doi: 10.1109/ECMSM.2017.7945876.
- [13] A. Q. Huang, "New unipolar switching power device figures of merit," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 298–301, 2004, doi: 10.1109/LED.2004.826533.
- [14] M. Asif Khan, A. Bhattarai, J. N. Kuznia, and D. T. Olson, "High electron mobility transistor based on a GaN-AlxGa 1-xN heterojunction," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 63, no. 9, 1993, doi: 10.1063/1.109775.
- [15] "Compound Semiconductors:What Are 'SiC'and'GaN'?," Sanken Electric. https://www.semicon.sanken-ele.co.jp/en/guide/GaNSiC.html
- "GaN Semiconductor Devices Market- Global Industry Analysis, Size, Share, Growth, Trends, and Forecast, 2022-2031 Global Industry Analysis, Size, Share, Growth, Trends, and For," 2022.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.transparencymarketresearch.com/gan-semiconductor-devices-market.html
- [17] Z. Liu, "Characterization and Application of Wide-Band- Gap Devices for High Frequency Power Conversion," 2017.
- [18] S. Xiong and S. C. Tan, "Cascaded high-voltage-gain bidirectional switched-capacitor DC-DC converters for distributed energy resources applications," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 32, no. 2, 2017, doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2552380.
- [19] I. T. Ag, "Safe and reliable MOSFET operation in bidirectional power switch (BDPS) applications," pp. 1–16, 2021.
- [20] G. M. B. Switch and U. Normally-off, "650V 3.1mΩcm2 GaN-based monolithic bidirectional switch using normally-off gate injection transistor," pp. 7–10, 2007.
- [21] Innoscience, "Innoscience's BiGaN technology leads the way toward breakthrough GaN applications for smartphones," 2022. https://www.innoscience.com/site/details/403

- [22] G. Gupta *et al.*, "Innovations in GaN Four Quadrant Switch technology," 2023 IEEE 10th Work.
 Wide Bandgap Power Devices Appl. WiPDA 2023, pp. 1–4, 2023, doi: 10.1109/WiPDA58524.2023.10382202.
- [23] H. Umeda *et al.*, "High power 3-phase to 3-phase matrix converter using dual-gate GaN bidirectional switches," *Conf. Proc. IEEE Appl. Power Electron. Conf. Expo. APEC*, vol. 2018-March, pp. 894–897, 2018, doi: 10.1109/APEC.2018.8341119.
- [24] A. Hesener, "Bi-Directional GaN Power ICs open up new possibilities in off-grid applications," no. April, pp. 1–13, 2024.
- [25] S. Nagai et al., "A GaN 3×3 matrix converter chipset with Drive-by-Microwave technologies," in Digest of Technical Papers - IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference, 2014. doi: 10.1109/ISSCC.2014.6757527.
- [26] Y. Kinoshita, T. Ichiryu, A. Suzuki, and H. Ishida, "100 A Solid State Circuit Breaker Using Monolithic GaN Bidirectional Switch with Two-Step Gate-Discharging Technique," *Conf. Proc.* - *IEEE Appl. Power Electron. Conf. Expo. - APEC*, vol. 2020-March, pp. 652–657, 2020, doi: 10.1109/APEC39645.2020.9124391.
- [27] T. J. J. Maruska H P, "The preparation and properties of vapor-deposited single-crystal-line GaN," 1969. doi: 10.1039/jr9270002477.
- [28] A. P. Letters, "Novel metalorganic chemical vapor deposition system for GaN growth," 1991.
- [29] S. Nakamura, "Gan growth using gan buffer layer," Jpn. J. Appl. Phys., vol. 30, no. 10A, pp. L1705–L1707, 1991, doi: 10.1143/JJAP.30.L1705.
- [30] T. Hanada, Oxide and Nitride Semiconductors. 2009.
- [31] Power GaN Devices: Materials, Applications and Reliability. 2016.
- [32] M. Sumiya and S. Fuke, "Review of polarity determination and control of GaN," MRS Internet Journal of Nitride Semiconductor Research, vol. 9. Materials Research Society, 2004. doi: 10.1557/s1092578300000363.
- [33] O. Ambacher *et al.*, "Pyroelectric properties of Al(In)GaN/GaN hetero- and quantum well structures," J. Phys. Condens. Matter, vol. 14, no. 13, 2002, doi: 10.1088/0953-8984/14/13/302.
- [34] O. Ambacher *et al.*, "Two-dimensional electron gases induced by spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization charges in N- And Ga-face AIGaN/GaN heterostructures," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 85,

no. 6, pp. 3222–3233, Mar. 1999, doi: 10.1063/1.369664.

- [35] F. Bernardini, V. Fiorentini, and D. Vanderbilt, "Spontaneous polarization and piezoelectric constants of III-V nitrides," *Phys. Rev. B - Condens. Matter Mater. Phys.*, vol. 56, no. 16, 1997, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.56.R10024.
- [36] F. Bernardini and V. Fiorentini, "Spontaneous versus piezoelectric polarization in III-V nitrides: Conceptual aspects and practical consequences," *Phys. Status Solidi Basic Res.*, vol. 216, no. 1, 1999, doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-3951(199911)216:1<391::AID-PSSB391>3.0.CO;2-K.
- [37] H. Morkoc and J. Leach, "Polarization in GaN based heterostructures and heterojunction field effect transistors (HFETs)," in *Polarization Effects in Semiconductors: From Ab InitioTheory* to Device Applications, 2008. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-68319-5_8.
- [38] O. Ambacher *et al.*, "Two dimensional electron gases induced by spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization in undoped and doped AlGaN/GaN heterostructures," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 87, no. 1, 2000, doi: 10.1063/1.371866.
- [39] N. Islam, M. F. P. Mohamed, M. F. A. J. Khan, S. Falina, H. Kawarada, and M. Syamsul, "Reliability, Applications and Challenges of GaN HEMT Technology for Modern Power Devices: A Review," *Crystals*, vol. 12, no. 11. 2022. doi: 10.3390/cryst12111581.
- [40] M. A. Khan, J. N. Kuznia, J. M. Van Hove, N. Pan, and J. Carter, "Observation of a twodimensional electron gas in low pressure metalorganic chemical vapor deposited GaN-AlxGa1xN heterojunctions," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 60, no. 24, 1992, doi: 10.1063/1.106798.
- [41] I. P. Smorchkova *et al.*, "Polarization-induced charge and electron mobility in AlGaN/GaN heterostructures grown by plasma-assisted molecular-beam epitaxy," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 86, no. 8, 1999, doi: 10.1063/1.371396.
- [42] A. Laposa, J. Jakovenko, and M. Husak, "Temperature dependence of the pyroelectric behaviour in GaN/AlGaN," in Conference Proceedings - The 8th International Conference on Advanced Semiconductor Devices and Microsystems, ASDAM 2010, 2010. doi: 10.1109/ASDAM.2010.5666340.
- [43] V. Volcheck and V. Stempitsky, "Mobility of a two-dimensional electron gas in the AlGaN/GaN heterostructure: Simulation and analysis," J. Phys. Conf. Ser., vol. 1410, no. 1, 2019, doi: 10.1088/1742-6596/1410/1/012200.
- [44] E. Ahmadi, S. Keller, and U. K. Mishra, "Model to explain the behavior of 2DEG mobility with

respect to charge density in N-polar and Ga-polar AlGaN-GaN heterostructures," *J. Appl. Phys.*, vol. 120, no. 11, 2016, doi: 10.1063/1.4962321.

- [45] K. Lee, M. S. Shur, T. J. Drummond, and H. Morkoç, "Low field mobility of 2-d electron gas in modulation doped Al xGa1-xAs/GaAs layers," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 54, no. 11, 1983, doi: 10.1063/1.331922.
- [46] B. L. Gelmont, M. Shur, and M. Stroscio, "Polar optical-phonon scattering in three- and twodimensional electron gases," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 77, no. 2, 1995, doi: 10.1063/1.359051.
- [47] O. Ambacher and V. Cimalla, "Polarization induced effects in GaN-based heterostructures and novel Sensors," in *Polarization Effects in Semiconductors: From Ab InitioTheory to Device Applications*, 2008. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-68319-5_2.
- [48] M. Asif Khan, J. N. Kuznia, A. R. Bhattarai, and D. T. Olson, "Metal semiconductor field effect transistor based on single crystal GaN," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 62, no. 15, 1993, doi: 10.1063/1.109549.
- [49] B. J. Godejohann *et al.*, "AlN/GaN HEMTs grown by MBE and MOCVD: Impact of Al distribution," *Phys. Status Solidi Basic Res.*, vol. 254, no. 8, 2017, doi: 10.1002/pssb.201600715.
- [50] M. Mishra, T. C. Shibin Krishna, N. Aggarwal, S. Vihari, A. K. S. Chauhan, and G. Gupta, "A comparative photoelectron spectroscopic analysis of MBE and MOCVD grown epitaxial GaN films," *Sci. Adv. Mater.*, vol. 7, no. 3, 2015, doi: 10.1166/sam.2015.2138.
- [51] S. Bouzid-Driad *et al.*, "Optimization of AlGaN/GaN HEMT Schottky contact for microwave applications," in *European Microwave Week 2012: "Space for Microwaves", EuMW 2012, Conference Proceedings - 7th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference, EuMIC* 2012, 2012.
- [52] B. Van Daele, G. Van Tendeloo, W. Ruythooren, J. Derluyn, M. R. Leys, and M. Germain,
 "The role of Al on Ohmic contact formation on n -type GaN and AlGaNGaN," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*,
 vol. 87, no. 6, 2005, doi: 10.1063/1.2008361.
- [53] B. Jacobs, M. C. J. C. M. Kramer, E. J. Geluk, and F. Karouta, "Optimisation of the Ti/Al/Ni/Au ohmic contact on AlGaN/GaN FET structures," *J. Cryst. Growth*, vol. 241, no. 1–2, 2002, doi: 10.1016/S0022-0248(02)00920-X.
- [54] H. Morkoc and J. Leach, Polarization in GaN Based Heterostructures and Heterojunction Field Effect Transistiors (HFETs) (Polarization Effects in Semiconductors). New York: Springer,

2008.

- [55] H. Morkoç, Handbook of Nitride Semiconductors and Devices, vol. 1. 2009. doi: 10.1002/9783527628438.
- [56] B. J. Baliga, Fundamentals of power semiconductor devices. 2008. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-47314-7.
- [57] J. P. Ibbetson, P. T. Fini, K. D. Ness, S. P. DenBaars, J. S. Speck, and U. K. Mishra, "Polarization effects, surface states, and the source of electrons in AlGaN/GaN heterostructure field effect transistors," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 77, no. 2, 2000, doi: 10.1063/1.126940.
- [58] G. Dhanaraj, K. Byrappa, V. Prasad, M. Dudley, and K. Schmetzer, "Springer Handbook of Crystal Growth," *Japanese Mag. Mineral. Petrol. Sci.*, vol. 39, no. 5, 2010, doi: 10.2465/gkk.39.193a.
- [59] N. Ikeda et al., "GaN power transistors on si substrates for switching applications," in Proceedings of the IEEE, 2010. doi: 10.1109/JPROC.2009.2034397.
- [60] K. Doek Kyu and P. Choon Bae, "Growth of crack-free GaN films on Si(111) substrates with AlN buffer layers," J. Korean Phys. Soc., vol. 49, no. 4, 2006.
- [61] "Diamonds are a GaN PA's best friend," *Microwaves RF*, vol. 54, no. 5, 2015.
- [62] S. Nakamura and M. R. Krames, "History of gallium-nitride-based light-emitting diodes for illumination," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 101, no. 10, 2013, doi: 10.1109/JPROC.2013.2274929.
- [63] V. V. Voronenkov, Y. S. Lelikov, A. S. Zubrilov, Y. G. Shreter, and A. A. Leonidov, "Thick GaN film stress-induced self-separation," in *Proceedings of the 2019 IEEE Conference of Russian Young Researchers in Electrical and Electronic Engineering, ElConRus 2019*, 2019. doi: 10.1109/EIConRus.2019.8657271.
- [64] M. Tapajna et al., "Influence of threading dislocation density on early degradation in AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors," Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 99, no. 22, 2011, doi: 10.1063/1.3663573.
- [65] Y. C. Chou *et al.*, "Degradation of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs under elevated temperature lifetesting," in *Microelectronics Reliability*, 2004. doi: 10.1016/j.microrel.2004.03.008.
- [66] S. A. Kukushkin, A. V. Osipov, V. N. Bessolov, B. K. Medvedev, V. K. Nevolin, and K. A. Tcarik, "Substrates for epitaxy of gallium nitride: New materials and techniques," *Reviews on*

Advanced Materials Science, vol. 17, no. 1–2. 2008.

- [67] A. Krost and A. Dadgar, "GaN-based devices on Si," *Phys. Status Solidi Appl. Res.*, vol. 194, no. 2 SPEC., 2002, doi: 10.1002/1521-396X(200212)194:2<361::AID-PSSA361>3.0.CO;2-R.
- [68] C. De Santi *et al.*, "Review on the degradation of GaN-based lateral power transistors," *e-Prime*, 2021, doi: 10.1016/j.prime.2021.100018.
- [69] H. Hasegawa, T. Inagaki, S. Ootomo, and T. Hashizume, "Mechanisms of current collapse and gate leakage currents in AlGaN/GaN heterostructure field effect transistors," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B Microelectron. Nanom. Struct., vol. 21, no. 4, 2003, doi: 10.1116/1.1589520.
- [70] Panasonic, "Novel GIT Structure Solves Current Collapse In GaN Power HEMTs," *How2Power*, no. September, pp. 1–5, 2015.
- [71] G. Hemts *et al.*, "Trapping Effects and Microwave Power Performance in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs," vol. 48, no. 3, pp. 465–471, 2001.
- [72] R. Vetury, N. Q. Zhang, S. Keller, and U. K. Misha, "The impact of surface states on the DC and RF characteristics of AlGaN/GaN HFETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 48, no. 3, 2001, doi: 10.1109/16.906451.
- [73] S. Y. Ho, C. H. Lee, A. J. Tzou, H. C. Kuo, Y. R. Wu, and J. J. Huang, "Suppression of Current Collapse in Enhancement Mode GaN-Based HEMTs Using an AlGaN/GaN/AlGaN Double Heterostructure," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 64, no. 4, 2017, doi: 10.1109/TED.2017.2657683.
- [74] Y. T. Chen and J. J. Huang, "Current collapse suppression in algan/gan hemts using silicon substrate removal technique," in WiPDA Asia 2019 - IEEE Workshop on Wide Bandgap Power Devices and Applications in Asia, 2019. doi: 10.1109/WiPDAAsia.2019.8760325.
- [75] Y. Ando, Y. Okamoto, H. Miyamoto, T. Nakayama, T. Inoue, and M. Kuzuhara, "10-W/mm AlGaN-GaN HFET with a field modulating plate," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 24, no. 5, 2003, doi: 10.1109/LED.2003.812532.
- [76] W. Saito *et al.*, "Field-plate structure dependence of current collapse phenomena in high-voltage GaN-HEMTs," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 31, no. 7, 2010, doi: 10.1109/LED.2010.2048741.
- [77] A. Brannick, N. A. Zakhleniuk, B. K. Ridley, J. R. Shealy, W. J. Schaff, and L. F. Eastman,

"Influence of field plate on the transient operation of the AlGaN/GaN HEMT," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 30, no. 5, 2009, doi: 10.1109/LED.2009.2016680.

- [78] H. Xing, Y. Dora, A. Chini, S. Heikman, S. Keller, and U. K. Mishra, "High breakdown voltage AlGaN-GaN HEMTs achieved by multiple field plates," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 25, no. 4. 2004. doi: 10.1109/LED.2004.824845.
- [79] M. T. Hasan, T. Asano, H. Tokuda, and M. Kuzuhara, "Current collapse suppression by gate field-plate in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 34, no. 11, 2013, doi: 10.1109/LED.2013.2280712.
- [80] W. Saito, Y. Takada, M. Kuraguchi, K. Tsuda, I. Omura, and T. Ogura, "Design and demonstration of high breakdown voltage GaN high electron mobility transistor (HEMT) using field plate structure for power electronics applications," in *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, *Part 1: Regular Papers and Short Notes and Review Papers*, 2004. doi: 10.1143/JJAP.43.2239.
- [81] V. Kumar, G. Chen, S. Guo, and I. Adesida, "Field-plated 0.25-µm gate-length AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with varying field-plate length," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 53, no. 6, 2006, doi: 10.1109/TED.2006.874090.
- [82] Y. Uemoto *et al.*, "Gate injection transistor (GIT) A normally-off AlGaN/GaN power transistor using conductivity modulation," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 54, no. 12, 2007, doi: 10.1109/TED.2007.908601.
- [83] A. Nakajima, K. Adachi, M. Shimizu, and H. Okumura, "Improvement of unipolar power device performance using a polarization junction," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 89, no. 19, pp. 10–13, 2006, doi: 10.1063/1.2372758.
- [84] A. Nakajima, Y. Sumida, M. H. Dhyani, H. Kawai, and E. M. Narayanan, "GaN-based super heterojunction field effect transistors using the polarization junction concept," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 542–544, 2011, doi: 10.1109/LED.2011.2105242.
- [85] H. Kawai *et al.*, "Low cost high voltage GaN polarization superjunction field effect transistors," *Phys. Status Solidi Appl. Mater. Sci.*, vol. 214, no. 8, 2017, doi: 10.1002/pssa.201600834.
- [86] and E. M. A. Nakajima, Y. Sumida, M. H. Dhyani, H. Kawai and 121004–1 (2010) S. Narayanan, Express. 3, "No Title."
- [87] A. Nakajima, Y. Sumida, M. H. Dhyani, H. Kawai, and E. M. S. Narayanan, "High density twodimensional hole gas induced by negative polarization at GaN/AlGaN heterointerface," *Appl.*

Phys. Express, vol. 3, no. 12, 2010, doi: 10.1143/APEX.3.121004.

- [88] H. Yan, Y. Du, P. Luo, X. Tan, and E. M. S. Narayanan, "Analytical Modeling of Sheet Carrier Density and on-Resistance in Polarization Super-Junction HFETs," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 68, no. 11, pp. 5714–5719, 2021, doi: 10.1109/TED.2021.3115091.
- [89] A. Nakajima, M. H. Dhyani, E. M. S. Narayanan, Y. Sumida, and H. Kawai, "GaN based Super HFETs over 700V using the polarization junction concept," *Proc. Int. Symp. Power Semicond. Devices ICs*, no. d, pp. 280–283, 2011, doi: 10.1109/ISPSD.2011.5890845.
- [90] V. Unni, H. Y. Long, H. Yan, A. Nakajima, H. Kawai, and E. M. S. Narayanan, "Analysis of drain current saturation behaviour in GaN polarisation super junction HFETs," *IET Power Electron.*, vol. 11, no. 14, 2018, doi: 10.1049/iet-pel.2018.5583.
- [91] H. Yan, "Investigation of Gallium Nitride Based on Power Semiconductor Devices in Polarization Super Junction Technology Department of Electronic and Electrical Engineering A thesis submitted to the University of Sheffield for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy," Sheffield University, 2022.
- [92] H. Yan, "Investigation of Gallium Nitride Based on Power Semiconductor Devices in Polarization Super Junction Technology," 2022.
- [93] N. Kaminski, "State of the Art and the Future of Wide Band-Gap Devices UNIVERSITY of BREMEN Institute for electrical Drives, Power Electronics, and Devices, Otto-Hahn-Allee, NW1 Keywords Why Wide Band-Gap Semiconductors? Table I: Wide Band-gap Material Properties".
- [94] M. Venturini, "NEW SINE WAVE IN, SINE WAVE OUT CONVERSION TECHNIQUE ELIMINATES REACTIVE ELEMENTS.," 1980.
- [95] M. Takei, Y. Harada, and K. Ueno, "600V-IGBT with reverse blocking capability," in *IEEE International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs (ISPSD)*, 2001. doi: 10.1109/ispsd.2001.934641.
- [96] A. Ammar, H. Y. Kanaan, N. Moubayed, and K. Al-Haddad, "The 4Q-switch commutation issues in matrix conversion systems," in 2016 IEEE International Multidisciplinary Conference on Engineering Technology, IMCET 2016, 2016. doi: 10.1109/IMCET.2016.7777438.
- [97] A. Kanale, T. H. Cheng, K. Han, B. J. Baliga, S. Bhattacharya, and D. Hopkins, "1.2 kV, 10 A,
 4H-SiC Bi-Directional Field Effect Transistor (BiDFET) with Low On-State Voltage Drop," in

Materials Science Forum, 2020. doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/MSF.1004.872.

- [98] F. Heinke and R. Sittig, "The monolithic bidirectional switch (MBS)," in IEEE International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs (ISPSD), 2000. doi: 10.1109/ispsd.2000.856815.
- [99] K. Han et al., "Monolithic 4-Terminal 1.2 kV/20 A 4H-SiC Bi-Directional Field Effect Transistor (BiDFET) with Integrated JBS Diodes," in Proceedings of the International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, 2020. doi: 10.1109/ISPSD46842.2020.9170064.
- [100] B. R. Park, S. W. Han, and H. Y. Cha, "Diode Bridge Embedded AlGaN/GaN Bidirectional Switch," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 36, no. 4, pp. 324–326, 2015, doi: 10.1109/LED.2015.2398459.
- [101] E. Bahat-Treidel *et al.*, "Fast-switching GaN-based lateral power schottky barrier diodes with low onset voltage and strong reverse blocking," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 33, no. 3, 2012, doi: 10.1109/LED.2011.2179281.
- [102] J. G. Lee, B. R. Park, C. H. Cho, K. S. Seo, and H. Y. Cha, "Low turn-on voltage AlGaN/GaNon-si rectifier with gated ohmic anode," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 34, no. 2, 2013, doi: 10.1109/LED.2012.2235403.
- [103] A. Nakajima *et al.*, "GaN-based bidirectional super HFETs using polarization junction concept on insulator substrate," *Proc. Int. Symp. Power Semicond. Devices ICs*, no. June, pp. 265–268, 2012, doi: 10.1109/ISPSD.2012.6229074.
- [104] "Contact resistance and TLM measurements," pp. 1–11.
- [105] I. Silvaco, "ATLAS User's Manual," 1998. www.silvaco.com%0A
- [106] S. Kilgore, C. Gaw, H. Henry, D. Hill, and D. Schroder, "Electromigration of electroplated gold interconnects," in *Materials Research Society Symposium Proceedings*, 2005. doi: 10.1557/proc-863-b8.30.
- [107] R. J. Miller and A. Gangulee, "Electromigration in gold and copper thin film conductors," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 69, no. 3, 1980, doi: 10.1016/0040-6090(80)90590-8.
- [108] J. R. Black, "CURRENT LIMITATIONS OF THIN FILM CONDUCTORS.," in Annual Proceedings - Reliability Physics (Symposium), 1982. doi: 10.1109/irps.1982.361949.

- [109] Micro Electronic and Mechanical Systems. 2012. doi: 10.5772/121.
- [110] V. Unni, H. Long, M. Sweet, and A. Balachandran, "2 . 4kV GaN Polarization Superjunction Schottky Barrier Diodes on Semi-Insulating 6H-SiC Substrate," 2014 IEEE 26th Int. Symp. Power Semicond. Devices IC's, pp. 245–248, 2014, doi: 10.1109/ISPSD.2014.6856022.
- [111]T. Maeda et al., "Temperature dependence of barrier height in Ni/n-GaN Schottky barrier diode," Appl. Phys. Express, vol. 10, no. 5, 2017, doi: 10.7567/APEX.10.051002.
- [112] Graham Philip Bruce;Sankara Narayanan Ekkanath Madathil;Hong Yao Long;Mark Sweet,"Distributed semiconductor device," 2014
- [113] L. S. Kim and R. W. Dutton, "Modeling of the Distributed Gate RC Effect in MOSFET's," IEEE Trans. Comput. Des. Integr. Circuits Syst., 1989, doi: 10.1109/43.44517.
- [114] A. B. Kahng and S. Muddu, "Efficient gate delay modeling for large interconnect loads," in Multi-Chip Module Conference, 1996. MCMC-96, Proceedings., 1996 IEEE, 1996. doi: 10.1109/mcmc.1996.510795.
- [115] H. Qin, C. Ma, Z. Zhu, and Y. Yan, "Influence of parasitic parameters on switching characteristics and layout design considerations of SiC MOSFETs," J. Power Electron., vol. 18, no. 4, 2018, doi: 10.6113/JPE.2018.18.4.1255.
- [116] D. Han and B. Sarlioglu, "Comprehensive Study of the Performance of SiC MOSFET-Based Automotive DC-DC Converter under the Influence of Parasitic Inductance," *IEEE Trans. Ind. Appl.*, vol. 52, no. 6, 2016, doi: 10.1109/TIA.2016.2586463.
- [117] K. Wang, L. Wang, X. Yang, X. Zeng, W. Chen, and H. Li, "A Multiloop Method for Minimization of Parasitic Inductance in GaN-Based High-Frequency DC-DC Converter," *IEEE Trans. Power Electron.*, vol. 32, no. 6, 2017, doi: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2597183.
- [118] A. Gaito, R. Scollo, G. Panebianco, and A. Raciti, "Impact of the source-path parasitic inductance on the MOSFET commutations," in 2012 IEEE Energy Conversion Congress and Exposition, ECCE 2012, 2012. doi: 10.1109/ECCE.2012.6342656.
- [119] S. Liang, Z. Zhao, P. Sun, and Y. Cai, "Study on the Influence of Gate Parasitic Inductance on the SiC MOSFET Switching Performance," in *PEAS 2021 - 2021 IEEE 1st International Power Electronics and Application Symposium, Conference Proceedings*, 2021. doi: 10.1109/PEAS53589.2021.9628869.

[120] Priyanka DE SOUZA, "LATERAL FIELD EFFECT TRANSISTORDEVICE," US 20160118461 A1, 2016

Appendix-1

List of Acronyms

2DEG	Two-Dimensional Electron Gas
2DHG	Two-Dimensional Hole Gas
Al	Aluminium
AlGaAs	Aluminium Gallium Arsenide
AlGaN	Aluminium Gallium Nitride
AlInN	Aluminium Indium Nitride
AlN	Aluminium Nitride
Au	Gold
BFOM	Baliga'S Figure Of Merit
BHFOM	Baliga'S High Frequency Figure Of Merit
Bi-GaN	Bidirectional GaN switch
Bi PSJ HFETs	Bidirectional PSJ HFETS
BPS	Bidirectional Power Switch
BV	Breakdown Voltage
С	Carbon
CC	Common Collector
CE	Common Emitter
CSI	Common Source Inductance
CTE	Co-Efficient Of Thermal Expansion
CV	Capacitance Voltage
CVD	Chemical Vapor Deposition
DS	Drain-Source
D-S-D	Drain-Source-Drain
E-H Pair	Electron-Hole Pair
Epi	Epitaxy
FM	Floating Metal
FOM	Figure Of Merit
FP	Field Plate

FQS	Four-Quadrant Switch	
FR	Forward Region	
FRD	Fast Recovery Diodes	
Ga	Gallium	
GaAs	Gallium Arsenide	
GaN	Gallium Nitride	
GIT	Gate Injection Transistor	
HCl	Hydrochloric Acid	
НСР	Hexagonal Close Packed	
HD-GIT	Hybrid-Drain-Embedded Git	
HEMT	High Electron Mobility Transistor	
HF	Hydrofluoric Acid	
HFET	Heterostructure Field Effect Transistor	
HVPE	Hydride Vapor Phase Epitaxy	
IC	Integrated Circuit	
IGBT	Insulated Gate Bipolar Transistor	
InN	Indium Nitride	
JFOM	Johnson'S Figure Of Merit	
LFOM	Lateral Device Figure Of Merit	
MBE	Molecular Beam Epitaxy	
MES	Metal Semiconductor	
MESFET	Metal Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor	
MOCVD	Metal Organic Chemical Vapor Deposition	
MOSFET	Metal Oxide Semiconductor Field Effect	
WIOSIEI	Transistor	
MSBD	Merged Schottky Barrier Diodes	
Ν	Nitride	
OG	Ohmic Gate	
OVP	Overvoltage Protection	
РСМ	Process Control Monitor	
PDFOM	Power Device Figure Of Merit	
PECVD	Plasma Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition	
PSJ	Polarisation Super Junction	

RB-IGBTs	Reverse Blocking Igbts
RESURF	Reduced Surface Field
RIE	Reactive Ion Etching
RTA	Rapid Thermal Annealing
SBD	Schottky Barrier Diode
SBH	Schottky Barrier Height
S-D-S	Source-Drain-Source Layout
SG	Schottky Gate
Si	Silicon
SiC	Silicon Carbide
SiO2	Silicon Oxide
SJ	Super Junction
SSCB	Solid state circuit breaker
TEG	Test Element Group
Ti	Titanium
TLM	Transmission Line Method/Model
WBG	Wide Band gap